SYNTHESIS OF STRAINED SYSTEMS VIA VINYL CARBOCATION INTERMEDIATES

Thesis by Zhenqi (Steven) Zhao

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

CALIFORNIA INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY Pasadena, California

2025 (Defended July 12, 2024)

© 2025

Zhenqi (Steven) Zhao

ORCID: 0000-0002-6848-2689

All Rights Reserved

To my family, whose unwavering support and love have been my foundation throughout this journey.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Firstly, I am deeply grateful to my parents for their love. Their kindness, integrity, and perseverance are constant inspirations in my life. I especially appreciate that they supported me in pursuing graduate studies in the United States, despite knowing they would miss me and wanting me to stay closer to them in China. Throughout my PhD journey, which coincided with the challenges of COVID lockdowns, we haven't been able to meet in person over the last five years. Despite the distance, my mother has been a pillar of emotional support, always a comforting voice on the phone that made me feel at home during the tough times of my PhD. While I spoke less frequently with my father, he was always the person I turned to for pivotal decisions, and his wisdom has been invaluable to me. I am excited about their upcoming visit to Los Angeles next month and look forward to the joyous reunion and the precious moments we will share after five years of separation.

Next, I would like to express my gratitude to my PhD advisor, Professor Hosea Nelson. Six years ago, Hosea was the first professor to give me an opportunity when I was seeking research positions in the United States. As a mentor, he taught me invaluable lessons on creativity and thinking expansively as a scientist. I am thankful for his support in my research endeavors, and I wish him all the best in the future.

Professor Brian Stoltz, as my thesis committee chair, consistently upheld high academic standards while also prioritizing my best interests. I cannot count how many times I sought his counsel in his office, whether facing scientific challenges or personal struggles, and he always provided invaluable advice that motivated me to persevere and succeed in my PhD studies. I hope I will have more opportunities to interact with him in the future. Professor Greg Fu and Professor Theodor Agapie, my thesis committee members, have been incredibly kind and supportive. Greg's challenging questions during committee meetings pushed me to think more deeply about my research and propositions. Theo, as an expert in inorganic chemistry, often offered valuable and unique perspectives, enriching our discussions. I have learned a great deal from both of them.

In addition, I would like to thank Dr. Scott Virgil for his invaluable analytical support. I am grateful I could always seek his help whenever I encountered issues with the TOF instrument, and he was always patient in tuning it for me. His guidance on various instruments has been immensely helpful.

I would also like to thank Professor Xing Chen, my undergraduate research advisor at Peking University. Despite leaving his lab five years ago, I am grateful that he has continued to support me throughout my graduate school journey.

Professor Patrick Harran served as my original committee member at UCLA. He is a highly knowledgeable total synthesis chemist, and I greatly enjoyed attending his organic synthesis class and learning many new reactions during my first year. I am grateful for the time he spent carefully reading my research progress reports and providing valuable advice in my early years of graduate school.

Next, I would like to thank all the members of the Nelson lab I have worked with during my PhD. I am especially grateful to Stasik Popov for being a fantastic mentor. When I first joined the Nelson lab, I was unsure where to start. Stasik was the first to help me, providing project ideas and teaching me organic synthesis techniques. He also took the time to create organic synthesis questions for younger students and helped me practice multiple talks. He exemplifies what it means to be a great mentor as a senior graduate student.

Although Woojin Lee was a joint student of the Nelson and Houk labs, he became one of my closest friends in graduate school. His computational work provided invaluable insights into my reaction mechanisms. Outside the lab, we bonded over tennis and had Asian food together. I cherish our friendship and hope it lasts a lifetime.

Ben Wigman was my 'roommate' in the lab during the first three years of my PhD (only two people could be in the same room due to COVID restrictions). He was very knowledgeable in mechanics, and it was fun learning how to build my own echem equipment, such as soldering my own platinum electrodes. I missed him after he graduated and left the group (especially when I struggled with mechanical issues...).

Sydnee Green was one of the first graduate students I worked with in the lab. She is not only a strong chemist and biologist but also a fun person. She would drive us to West Hollywood to have fun until midnight. It was never boring being around her. I was fortunate to have the opportunity to work with Lee-Joon Kim, Jessica Burch, and David Delgadillo to use MicroED and solve structures of my compounds. I spent four years in the lab with Sepand Nistanaki and Chloe Williams. Chloe was hard-working and very encouraging to be around. Sepand was knowledgeable and often shared good ideas with me. Vincent Wang and Jake Rothbaum are postdocs with an inorganic chemistry background, and I enjoyed discussing science with them as they often gave me different perspectives from another field. I would like to thank all of them for being great lab mates over the years. To younger students, I would like to thank Tiffany Hung, one of my best friends during graduate school. We spent a significant amount of time working together in the last year. Tiffany is exceptionally hard-working, and her help during my proposition exam and thesis writing was invaluable. I wish her a bright and successful future.

Ziguang Yang was a rotation student in our lab. Although we worked on different projects at that time, we bonded quickly by going out for sushi together every Friday. I especially appreciate all the job resources he shared with me over the past year, and I believe he will excel in Professor Lu Wei's group.

I would also like to thank Nils Rendel. Nils was not only my project partner during his six-month stay as a visiting student but also my hiking buddy. We visited many national parks in California, Utah, Arizona, and Nevada, sharing a tent in the middle of nowhere for many days. Although he is now back home in Germany, I hope we will have opportunities for more trips in the future.

There are also many people I interacted with in the Nelson lab, including Alex Bagdasarian, Brian Shao, Chris Jones, Matt Asay, Sam Johnson, Alex Solivan, Martin Riu, Lygia Silva de Moraes, Noah Sims, Doris Mai, Rui Guo, Yan Liu, Jianhua Wei, Kunal Jha, Kevin Martin, Conner Wells, Krista Dong, Jocelyn Zhang, Isabel Rodriguez, Josh Signore, and others. I would like to thank all of them for being great co-workers.

ABSTRACT

Vinyl carbocations are a class of dicoordinated carbocations. Due to their challenging generation, they have been less studied compared to tricoordinated carbocations. This thesis reports multiple novel reactivities involving vinyl carbocation intermediates.

The first chapter reviews methods for generating vinyl carbocations and past reports of vinyl carbocation C–H insertion. It then introduces a field guide to assist researchers in using vinyl carbocation C–H insertion in their synthesis, providing detailed information and optimal reaction conditions developed in our laboratory.

The second chapter describes a catalytic method for forming medium-sized rings via intramolecular Friedel-Crafts reactions of vinyl carbocation intermediates. These reactive species are catalytically generated through the ionization of vinyl toluenesulfonates by a Lewis acidic lithium cation/weakly coordinating anion salt.

The third chapter details selective [2+2] cycloadditions between vinyl carbocations and terminal alkenes, using a LiHMDS-mediated approach. This method allows for the efficient synthesis of strained cyclobutene-containing bicycles under mild conditions, demonstrating the versatile application of vinyl carbocations in constructing complex strained organic structures.

PUBLISHED CONTENT AND CONTRIBUTIONS

Portions of the work described herein were disclosed in the following publications:

1. Riu, M.-L. Y.; Popov, S.; Wigman, B.; **Zhao, Z.**; Wong, J.; Houk, K. N.; Nelson, H. M. Carbon–Carbon Bond Forming Reactions of Vinyl Cations: A Field Guide. *Under review for Eur. J. Org. Chem.*

Z. Z. participated in execution of experiments and data analysis.

 Zhao, Z.; Popov, S.; Lee, W.; Burch, J. E.; Delgadillo, D. A.; Kim, L.-J.; Shahgholi, M.; Lebrón-Acosta, N.; Houk, K. N.; Nelson, H. M. Accessing Medium-Sized Rings via Vinyl Carbocation Intermediates. *Org. Lett.* 2024, *26*, 1000-1005.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.orglett.3c04014

Z. Z. participated in project design, execution of experiments, data analysis, and preparation of manuscript.

3. **Zhao, Z.**; Rendel, N. H.; Nelson, H. M. Lithium-mediated Selective [2+2] Cycloadditions via Vinyl Carbocations. *Under preparation*.

Z. Z. participated in project design, execution of experiments, data analysis, and preparation of manuscript.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Dedication	iii
Acknowledgements	iv
Abstract	viii
Published Content and Contributions	ix
Table of Contents	x
List of Abbreviations	xiv

CHAPTER 1

Introduction to Vinyl Carbocations and Their C-H Insertion Reactions

1.1 INTRODUCTION1
1.2 GENERATION OF VINYL CARBOCATIONS2
1.3 C–H INSERTION OF VINYL CARBOCATIONS5
1.4 THE FIELD GUIDE OF VINYL CARBOCATION C–H INSERTION13
1.4.1 Reaction conditions14
1.4.2 C–H insertion substrate study15
1.5 CONCLUSION17
1.6 CONTRIBUTION AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT19
1.7 EXPERIMENTAL SECTION19
1.7.1 Materials and methods19
1.7.2 Preparation of vinyl triflate precursors20

1

1.7.3 Intramolecular C–H insertion reactions with cyclohexane under S mediated conditions A2	i- 23
1.7.4 Intermolecular C–H insertion reactions with cyclohexane under L mediated conditions B2	i- 25
1.7.5 Intramolecular C–H insertion reactions under Si-mediated conditions A2	26
1.7.6 Intramolecular C–H insertion reactions under Li-mediated conditions B2	28
1.8 REFERENCES2	28

APPENDIX 1

33

43

Spectra Relevant to Chapter 1

CHAPTER 2

Accessing Medium-sized Rings via Vinyl Carbocation Intermediates

2.1 INTRODUCTION	44
2.2 MODEL SUBSTRATE STUDY	45
2.3 SUBSTRATE STUDY	48
2.4 MECHANISTIC STUDY	50
2.5 CONCLUSION	55
2.6 CONTRIBUTION AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	55
2.7 EXPERIMENTAL SECTION	55
2.7.1 Materials and methods	55
2.7.2 Preparation of vinyl tosylate substrates	57
2.7.3 Friedel-Crafts reactions	102

APPENDIX 2

155

Spectra	Relevant to	Chapter	2
---------	-------------	---------	---

CHAPTER 3	254

Lithium-mediated Selective [2+2] Cycloadditions via Vinyl Carbocations

3.1 INTRODUCTION	254
3.2 MODEL SUBSTRATE STUDY	257
3.3 SUBSTRATE STUDY	259
3.4 MECHANISTIC STUDY	260
3.5 CONCLUSION	261
3.6 CONTRIBUTION AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	262
3.7 EXPERIMENTAL SECTION	262
3.7.1 Materials and methods	262
3.7.2 Preparation of vinyl triflate substrates	263
3.7.3 [2+2] cycloaddition	271
3.7.4 Reaction optimization	278
3.8 REFERENCES	279

APPENDIX 3	283
Spectra Relevant to Chapter 3	

ABOUT THE AUTHOR

329

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

Ac	acetyl
ACN	acetonitrile
An	para-anisyl
Ar	generic aryl group
BARF	tetrakis(3,5-bis(trifluoromethyl)phenyl)borate
BINOL	1,1'-Bi-2-naphthol
Bn	benzyl
°C	degree Celsius
Calc'd	calculated
CI	chemical ionization
cm	centimeter(s)
cm ⁻¹	wavenumber(s)
conc.	concentrated
CPA	chiral phosphoric acid
Су	cyclohexyl
D	deuterium
dba	dibenzylideneacetone
DCE	1,2-dichloroethane
DCM	dichloromethane
DEAD	diethyl azodicarboxylate

DFT	density functional theory
DMAP	4-methylaminopyridine
DMEA	dimethylethylamine
DMF	N,N-dimethylformamide
DMSO	dimethylsulfoxide
dr	diastereomeric ratio
DTBP	di-tert-butyl peroxide
Δ	difference
δ	chemical shift
Е	alkene Entgegen isomer
EDC	1-ethyl-3-(3-dimethylaminopropyl)carbodiimide
ee	enantiomeric excess
EI	electron impact ionization
EIC	extracted ion chromatogram
equiv	equivalent(s)
ESI	electrospray ionization
Et	ethyl
FD	field desorption
FG	functional group
FT	Fourier transform
G	Gibbs free energy
g	gram(s)

GC	gas chromatography
HIV	human immunodeficiency virus
HPLC	high-performance liquid chromatography
HR	high resolution
HTIB	[hydroxy(tosyloxy)iodo]benzene
Hz	hertz(s)
IDPi	imidodiphosphorimidate
in situ	in the reaction mixture
in vacuo	in a vacuum
IPr	1,3-bis(2,6-diisopropylphenyl)imidazole-2-ylidene)
IR	infrared
ⁱ Pr	isopropyl
J	coupling constant
К	Kelvin(s)
kcal	kilocalorie(s)
KHMDS	potassium bis(trimethylsilyl)amide
KIE	kinetic isotope effect
L	liter(s)
LC	liquid chromatography

LDA	lithium diisopropylamide
LiF ₂₀	lithium tetrakis(pentafluorophenyl)borate
LiHMDS	lithium bis(trimethylsilyl)amide
М	molar (mole(s) per liter); molecular ion
m	meter(s)
mCPBA	meta-chloroperoxybenzoic acid
Me	methyl
mg	milligram(s)
MHz	megahertz
MicroED	microcrystal electron diffraction
MicroED min	microcrystal electron diffraction minute(s)
MicroED min mL	microcrystal electron diffraction minute(s) milliliter(s)
MicroED min mL mm	microcrystal electron diffraction minute(s) milliliter(s) millimeter(s)
MicroED min mL mm mmol	microcrystal electron diffraction minute(s) milliliter(s) millimeter(s) millimole(s)
MicroED min mL mm mmol mol	<pre>microcrystal electron diffraction minute(s) milliliter(s) millimeter(s) millimole(s) mole(s)</pre>
MicroED min mL mm mmol mol	<pre>microcrystal electron diffraction minute(s) milliliter(s) millimeter(s) millimole(s) mole(s) mass spectrometry</pre>
MicroED min mL mm mmol mol MS	<pre>microcrystal electron diffraction minute(s) milliliter(s) millimeter(s) mole(s) mole(s) mass spectrometry molecular weight</pre>

n.d.	not detected
NaHMDS	sodium bis(trimethylsilyl)amide
NBS	N-bromosuccinimide
ⁿ Bu	butyl
NIS	N-iodosuccinimide
NMR	nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy
ⁿ Pr	propyl
<i>o</i> -DCB/1,2-DCB	1,2-dichlorobenzene
o-DFB/1,2-DFB	1,2-difluorobenzene
Ph	phenyl
ppm	parts per million
R	generic for any atom or functional group
TBS	tert-butyldimethylsilyl
^t Bu	<i>tert</i> -butyl
TES	triethylsilyl
THF	tetrahydrofuran
TIC	total ion chromatogram
TLC	thin layer chromatography
TMS	trimethylsilyl
Tf	trifluoromethanesulfonyl group
Tf Ts	trifluoromethanesulfonyl group toluenesulfonyl group

V	volume
W	weight
WCA	weakly coordinating anion
Х	heteroatom or functional group
Z	alkene Zusammen isomer

CHAPTER 1

Introduction to Vinyl Carbocations and Their C–H Insertion Reactions

1.1 INTRODUCTION

As a class of highly reactive intermediates, carbocations engage in a broad range of transformations and thus play a crucial role in the synthetic pathways of many complex molecules.¹ Due to the influence of electronic and steric effects as well as hybridization states, the stabilities of different classes of carbocations vary significantly.

Historically, more stabilized carbocations have been more well-studied as they are easy to access. In 1901, the highly π -stabilized triphenylmethyl (trityl) cation was the first carbocation discovered.² Since then, other resonance-stabilized tricoordinated sp²-hybridized

[†] Portions of this chapter are based on research performed in collaboration with Martin-Louis Y. Riu, Stasik Popov, and Benjamin Wigman. Portions of this chapter have been adapted from the manuscript currently under review for *Eur. J. Org. Chem.*: Riu, M.-L. Y.; Popov, S.; Wigman, B.; Zhao, Z.; Wong, J.; Houk, K. N.; Nelson, H. M. Carbon–Carbon Bond Forming Reactions of Vinyl Cations: A Field Guide.

carbocations, such as iminium cations³ and oxocarbenium cations⁴, have also been widely used in organic synthesis.

In contrast, dicoordinated sp-hybridized vinyl carbocations have been less studied and have had limited applications in synthetic chemistry. It was initially thought that the energy of vinyl carbocations was too high for their generation and existence as intermediates. However, it later became evident that they were necessary to explain certain reactivities. In 1944, Searles and coworkers first proposed an oxygen-stabilized vinyl carbocation intermediate in a hydrolysis reaction of acetylenic ethers to esters under acidic conditions.⁵ Twenty years later, Grob and coworkers provided more solid evidence for vinyl carbocation intermediacy while studying the kinetics of hydrolysis reactions of a series of 1bromostyrenes with functional groups of varying electron richness on the aryl group.⁶ Since then, novel vinyl carbocation reactivity has continued to be explored.

In this chapter, we will first review the general approaches used to generate vinyl carbocations. Following that, we will discuss a key reactivity that distinguishes vinyl carbocations from tricoordinated carbocations — the C–H insertion reaction.

1.2 GENERATION OF VINYL CARBOCATIONS

There are three primary approaches for accessing vinyl carbocation intermediates: (1) electrophilic addition to alkynes/allenes, (2) heterolysis of vinyl (pseudo)halides, and (3) decomposition of β -diazo alcohols.

The first method involves the addition of electrophiles to alkynes and allenes. Protons, as simple electrophiles, can induce this ionization. For instance, Melloni and coworkers demonstrated that a catalytic amount of methanesulfonic acid, a proton source, was sufficiently acidic to ionize the alkyne precursor 1 into an allylic vinyl carbocation 2 (Scheme 1.1A). This carbocation then underwent a Friedel-Crafts reaction, resulting in Z/E isomers of cyclization product 3.⁷

Scheme 1.1 Generation of vinyl carbocations from electrophilic addition to alkynes/allenes.



A carbocation can also induce the generation of vinyl carbocation intermediates through addition to alkynes. Modena and coworkers reported that when benzyl chloride **5** was activated by aluminum chloride, an electrophilic attack on alkyne **4** formed vinyl carbocation intermediate **6** (Scheme 1.1B). This intermediate then underwent a Friedel– Crafts reaction, yielding the final product **7**.⁸ Furthermore, vinyl cations can be accessed by addition to allenes. For example, Puckett and coworkers reported that when allyl alcohol **8** was activated, a cyclization occurred to form vinyl carbocation intermediate **10**, which was subsequently quenched by water to yield ketone **11** (Scheme 1.1B).⁹

Other electrophilic heteroatoms such as phosphorus¹⁰, sulfur¹¹, and halogens can also potentially induce the generation of vinyl carbocations through electrophilic addition to alkynes. For instance, McNeils and coworkers reported that when bromoalkyne **12** was treated with iodine (I₂), an iodonium-stabilized vinyl carbocation **13** was first generated, leading to a Pinacol-type rearrangement on the vicinal alcohol to forge the rearrangement product **14** (Scheme 1.1C).¹²

The second approach for generating vinyl carbocations involves the heterolysis of vinyl (pseudo)halides through solvolysis in polar solvents or activation by Lewis acids. Grob and coworkers reported that benzylic vinyl bromide **15** could undergo solvolysis in aqueous ethanol to yield ketone **17** (Scheme 1.2A). Further Hammett studies supported the intermediacy of vinyl carbocation **16**.⁶

Scheme 1.2 Generation of vinyl carbocations from heterolysis of vinyl (pseudo)halides.

A. Solvolysis of vinyl (pseudo)halides



Additionally, Lewis acids can facilitate the heterolysis of vinyl (pseudo)halides in non-polar solvents. Nelson and coworkers reported that vinyl carbocation intermediate **19**

could be generated from vinyl tosylate precursor **18** under the catalysis of the Lewis acid lithium tetrakis(pentafluorophenyl)borate (Li[B(C₆F₅)₄]). The cationic intermediate was subsequently trapped by a nucleophilic silyl ketene acetal **20** to yield the coupling product **21** (Scheme 1.2B).¹³

Lastly, vinyl carbocations can be accessed through the decomposition of β -diazo alcohols. Brewer and coworkers reported that when β -hydroxy- α -diazo ketone **22** was treated with the Lewis acidic tris(pentafluorophenyl)borane, loss of the hydroxy group formed vinyl diazonium intermediate **23** (Scheme 1.3). This intermediate then rapidly eliminated N₂ to yield a vinyl carbocation **24**. Due to the destabilizing influence of the adjacent carbonyl group, **24** underwent a Wagner-Meerwein rearrangement to form a new vinyl carbocation **25**, which subsequently underwent a Friedel-Crafts reaction with a nucleophilic aryl group to forge the 5-membered ring in product **26**.¹⁴





1.3 C-H INSERTION OF VINYL CARBOCATIONS

Similar to most carbocation intermediates, vinyl carbocations can facilitate the cleavage and formation of carbon–carbon (C–C) bonds through reactions, such as cationic

rearrangements¹⁴ and Friedel-Crafts reactions with nucleophilic aromatic compounds^{7,8}. Unlike tricoordinated carbocations, vinyl carbocation can induce carbon–hydrogen (C–H) activation at an sp³ carbon. While C–H functionalization is typically achieved under transition metal catalysis¹⁵, the use of vinyl carbocations offers a potential alternative metal-free approach.

One early example demonstrating the capability of vinyl carbocations to activate C– H bonds was reported by Kucherov and coworkers in 1974 (Scheme 1.4). They observed that when acylium cation **27** reacted with alkyne **28**, 2-cyclopentenone **30** was formed. An initial electrophilic addition from the acylium cation to the alkyne occurred to generate vinyl carbocation intermediate **29**. Subsequently, this intermediate underwent either a 1,5-hydride shift followed by cyclization via cationic intermediate **31** or a concerted C–H activation to furnish product **30**.¹⁶

Scheme 1.4 Kucherov: C–H activation in the acylium-alkyne reaction.



In 2006, Metzger and coworkers conducted further studies on the C–H insertion reactivity of vinyl carbocation intermediates with a similar system (Scheme 1.5). Initially, it was proposed that the activation of chloroformate **33** by an aluminum-based Lewis acid

induced electrophilic addition to alkyne **34**, leading to the ionization of vinyl carbocation **35**. This intermediate could then undergo trapping either by a chloride anion from ethyl aluminum chloride to form vinyl chloride **36**, or by a hydride transfer from triethylsilane to form alkene **37**. However, **36** and **37** were found to be minor side products (< 5% yield), while the major product was the cyclopentane-containing compound **39**. Building on previous findings, it was suggested that vinyl carbocation **35** participated in a C–H activation reaction with pendant alkyl groups to generate the 5-membered ring observed in product **39**. Quantum-mechanical calculations further supported the proposal of a concerted C–H insertion mechanism for this reaction.¹⁷





In 2010, Yamamoto and coworkers reported one of the first examples demonstrating catalytic vinyl carbocation C–H insertion reactivity (Scheme 1.6). Using a catalytic amount of trifluoromethanesulfonic acid, the alkene in precursor **40** was protonated to form tertiary

carbocation intermediate **41**. This was followed by an intramolecular electrophilic addition to the alkyne, generating vinyl carbocation intermediate **42**. Subsequently, C–H insertion occurred, resulting in the formation of a 5-membered ring, and product **43** was obtained upon deprotonation.¹⁸





In 2014, Gaunt and coworkers developed a copper-catalyzed system to harness vinyl carbocation C–H insertion reactivity using diaryliodonium salts and an alkyne precursor (Scheme 1.7). It was proposed that the diaryliodonium salt **45** was the source of electrophilic aryl groups to attack alkyne **44**, resulting in the generation of a vinyl carbocation intermediate **46**. This intermediate then underwent a C–H insertion reaction, ultimately forming cyclopentene product **47**.¹⁹ Notably, when enantioenriched alkyne **48** was employed, the stereochemical information from the precursor was largely preserved in the product **49** (95% ee). This finding suggested that this vinyl carbocation C–H insertion followed by a concerted mechanism as opposed to a stepwise 1,5-hydride shift and cyclization process.



Scheme 1.7 Gaunt: Copper-catalyzed vinyl carbocation generation and C–H insertion.

C–H insertion reactivity has also been observed in cases where vinyl carbocation intermediates are generated from β -diazo alcohol precursors, as described in the third approach in section *1.2*. In 2017, Brewer and coworkers reported that when β -hydroxy- α diazo ketone **50** was treated with the Lewis acidic tris(pentafluorophenyl)borane, the generation of vinyl carbocation **52** was proposed (Scheme 1.8). This intermediate then rearranged to form new vinyl carbocation **53**, which subsequently underwent C–H insertion to yield the final [5.3.0] bicyclic product **54**.²⁰

Scheme 1.8 Brewer: Vinyl carbocation C–H insertion from β-diazo alcohol.



In 2018, Nelson and coworkers developed a system for generating vinyl carbocation intermediates and utilizing them in intermolecular C–H insertion reactions through silylium-weakly coordinating anion (WCA) catalysis (Scheme 1.9). In their proposed catalytic cycle, a silylium cation was paired with the WCA in complex **61**. The lack of coordination from the counterion enhanced the Lewis acidity of the silylium cation, facilitating the abstraction of the triflate group from vinyl triflate **55** to generate vinyl carbocation **58**. Subsequently, cation **58** underwent C–H insertion, leading to the formation of a secondary carbocation **59** *Scheme 1.9 Nelson: Vinyl carbocation C–H insertion through silylium-WCA catalysis.*



Intramolecular vinyl carbocation C-H insertion



and the concurrent formation of a new C–C bond. A 1,2-hydride shift followed to generate the more stable tertiary carbocation **60**. In the final step, triethylsilane was employed to deliver a hydride to the carbocation, yielding the cross-coupling product **57** and regenerating the silylium carborane complex 61.²¹

This catalytic system was also applicable to intramolecular C–H insertions. For instance, vinyl triflate **62** could be transformed into the [3.3.0] bicyclic product **63** under these catalytic conditions.

In 2019, Nelson and coworkers developed a milder catalytic system using lithium-WCA to address the limitations of silvlium-WCA catalysis, which had poor substrate compatibility due to the high Lewis acidity and reactivity of the silvlium species (Scheme 1.10). Commercially available trityl tetrakis(pentafluorophenyl)borate ($[Ph_3C]^+[B(C_6F_5)_4]^-$) was employed as the precatalyst, and upon introduction of LiHMDS, a metathesis reaction was proposed to generate the lithium catalyst $[Li]^+[B(C_6F_5)_4]^-$. The lithium cation in this complex exhibited greater Lewis acidity compared to conventional lithium salts due to the lack of coordination by WCA $[B(C_6F_5)_4]^-$. Upon formation of a catalytically active lithium species, vinyl triflate 64 underwent ionization to forge vinyl carbocation intermediate 65. Subsequently, an intramolecular C-H insertion occurred, leading to the formation of a 5membered ring and tertiary carbocation 66. Finally, LiHMDS facilitated deprotonation to yield product 67 containing a tetrasubstituted olefin.²² The milder Lewis acidity of the lithium cation allowed the scope of the reaction to be expanded to tolerate a broader range of functional groups, including ethers, sulfonamides, and aryl halides, which were previously incompatible with silvlium-WCA catalysis.



Scheme 1.10 Nelson: Vinyl carbocation C–H insertion through lithium-WCA catalysis.

In 2022, Nelson and coworkers reported a catalytic asymmetric C–H insertion reaction of vinyl carbocation intermediates utilizing a chiral strong Brønsted acid imidodiphosphorimidate (IDPi) catalyst **72** with a pKa of 2–4 in MeCN,²³ in conjunction with allyl silane **71** (Scheme 1.11). This combination generated a Lewis acidic silylated IDPi **76**, which was found to ionize the vinyl tosylate **68** to form vinyl carbocation intermediate **74**. Subsequently, cation **74** selectively inserted into one of the enantiotopic C–H bonds on the pendant piperidine ring, generating the chiral bicyclic intermediate **75** with high enantioselectivity and diastereoselectivity. In the final step of the catalytic cycle, the IDPi anion reacted as the Brønsted base to induce the β -deprotonation of the tertiary carbocation, resulting in the formation of the nitrogen-containing polycyclic compound **70**. The product contained three contiguous chiral centers with up to 93% ee and >20:1 diastereomeric ratio (dr).²⁴



Scheme 1.11 Nelson: Asymmetric vinyl carbocation C–H insertion.

1.4 THE FIELD GUIDE OF VINYL CARBOCATION C-H INSERTION

Nelson and coworkers have been at the forefront of developing both silylium- and lithium-WCA systems to access vinyl carbocation intermediates and incorporate them into C–H activation reaction to explore vinyl carbocation reactivity. While the highly Lewis acidic silylium conditions were particularly effective for generating challenging vinyl carbocations, such as strained ones or those lacking π -stabilization.²¹ However, the system had poor compatibility with substrates containing heteroatoms. On the other hand, the lithium

conditions showed improved compatibility with heteroatom-containing substrates as lithium is a weaker Lewis acid compared to silylium.²² However, this approach faced limitations in achieving challenging ionizations that require strong Lewis acidity. The importance and potential of vinyl carbocation C–H insertion have prompted the creation of a field guide aimed at synthetic chemists interested in constructing C–C bonds through Lewis acid-WCA catalytic methods. This guide focuses on silylium- and lithium-initiated reactions that form C–C bonds using vinyl carbocations generated from vinyl triflates. The goal is to provide researchers with valuable context and expedite their selection of optimal reaction conditions and starting materials.

1.4.1 Reaction conditions

Ionization of vinyl triflates was achieved with either silylium-initiated (conditions A) or lithium-initiated (conditions B) condition where the generated Lewis acid is paired with WCA [HCB₁₁C₁₁]⁻ or [B(C₆F₅)₄]⁻. Under conditions A, the silylium-carborane initiator is formed *in situ* through a Bartlett-Condon-Schneider silicon-to-carbon hydride transfer²⁵, where [Ph₃C]⁺ [HCB₁₁C₁₁]⁻ is combined with Et₃SiH to form [Et₃Si]⁺ [HCB₁₁C₁₁]⁻ and Ph₃CH.²⁶ Stoichiometric Et₃SiH functions as the terminal reductant, regenerating triethylsilylium that is paired with the catalytic [HCB₁₁C₁₁]⁻ following hydride transfer. Similarly, under conditions B, [Ph₃C]⁺[B(C₆F₅)₄]⁻. The remaining equivalents of LiHMDS functions as a base, regenerating the catalytically active Li-WCA species after deprotonation of the carbocation intermediate. While LiHMDS is generally suitable for these reactions, it is susceptible to enamine formation through nucleophilic trapping of the vinyl carbocation. In some cases, LiHMDS may be replaced by LiH to circumvent this issue.

1.4.2 C–H insertion substrate study

Under silylium conditions A, clean alkylation of cyclohexenyl triflate 77 was achieved, yielding bicyclohexyl **81** in 87% yield after 1.5 hours at 30 °C (Scheme 1.12).²¹ However, under lithium-initiated basic conditions B, the desired product **82** was not obtained, indicating some other undesired pathway was outcompeting C–H insertion.

Products derived from cyclopentenyl triflate **78**, specifically cyclohexylation products **83** and **84**, were not observed under either conditions A or B. This is consistent with the significant geometric strain associated with the corresponding 5-membered vinyl carbocation intermediate. Similarly, treatment of tetralone-derived triflate **80a** with cyclohexane did not yield products **87** or **88** under conditions A or B, even after heating the triflates to >120 °C for an extended period of time.

In the case of 4-bromoacetophenone-derived vinyl triflate **79**, no desired products (**85** and **86**) were obtained under either conditions A or B. Conditions B resulted only in the formation of 4-bromoacetylene, while conditions A yielded an intractable mixture of products.

Interestingly, cyclohexylation of benzosuberonyl triflate **80b** under conditions A led to the formation of isomers **89** and **90** in 22% and 29% yield, respectively. Under conditions B, the cyclohexane adduct **91** was obtained as a single isomer but in a lower yield of 21%. The lower yield under conditions B may be attributed to the formation of an enamine via the undesired addition of LiHMDS to the vinyl carbocation. **Scheme 1.12** Investigation of vinyl carbocation intermolecular C–H insertion with cyclohexane.



Intramolecular C–H insertion followed a similar trend where C–H insertion of propylbenzosuberonyl triflate **92** was observed under both silylium and lithium conditions leading to products **93** and **94** (Scheme 1.13).²² In contrast, smaller ring-sized tetralonyl triflate **95** only underwent C–H insertion under silylium-initiated conditions, yielding product **96** in 37% yield. Vinyligous acyl triflate **98**, under silylium conditions A, did not produce the desired product **99**. However, under conditions B, which involved the use of LiH instead of LiHMDS at 70°C for 36 hours, cyclopentene product **100** was obtained in 53% yield. This result highlights the enhanced functional group tolerance of conditions B,²⁷ as LiH prevented ester decomposition that may occur via nucleophilic attack by LiHMDS.

Overall, these examples underscore the distinct reactivity observed between silylium and lithium-initiated conditions in inter- and intramolecular C–H insertion reactions, emphasizing the importance of selecting appropriate reaction conditions based on the substrate's structural and electronic properties.

Scheme 1.13 Investigation of vinyl carbocation intramolecular C–H insertion.



1.5 CONCLUSION

Vinyl carbocations, characterized by their highly energetic nature, have historically received less attention compared to the more stable sp²-hybridized tricoordinated carbocations. Nevertheless, organic chemists have explored various methods to access and utilize these intermediates in selective chemical transformations.

This chapter initially discusses three primary strategies to generate vinyl carbocations: electrophilic addition to alkynes/allenes, heterolysis of vinyl (pseudo)halides, and decomposition of β -diazo alcohols. Next, the evolution of research on the unique C–H
insertion reactivity of vinyl carbocations, beginning with Kucherov's early observations and culminating in recent advancements by Nelson and coworkers is disclosed. These developments include novel catalytic systems designed to induce ionization of challenging vinyl carbocations, expand substrate scope, and enhance stereoselectivity. To promote exploration and broader application of vinyl carbocations as versatile synthetic building blocks in organic chemistry, the final part of the chapter discusses the successes and limitations in silylium and lithium-WCA catalysis pioneered by Nelson and coworkers for synthetic chemists with limited experience in vinyl carbocation generation and reactivity.

Although vinyl carbocations possess significant potential for creating C–C bonds through the activation of otherwise inert C–H bonds, their application in generating complex structures remains somewhat constrained. In intramolecular vinyl carbocation C–H activation reactions, the formation of 5-membered rings is commonly observed, with occasional formation of 6-membered rings.²² This limitation underscores ongoing challenges in expanding the scope of reactions that utilize vinyl carbocations for synthesizing more intricate molecular architectures.

Utilizing vinyl carbocation intermediates to construct complex and strained structures is a compelling endeavor; thus, my PhD studies have predominantly focused on exploring their reactivity through Li-WCA catalysis and via an IDPi organocatalytic platform. Firstly, I explored the formation of strained medium-sized rings through intramolecular Friedel–Crafts reactions mediated by vinyl carbocation intermediates. Secondly, I expanded the reactivity of vinyl carbocations to produce strained cyclobutene motifs via [2+2] cycloaddition mechanisms. Lastly, I disclose progress towards a catalytic enantioselective formation of allenes using IDPi catalysis via vinyl carbocation intermediates. The following chapters will delve into detailed discussions of these reactions.

1.6 CONTRIBUTION AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The chemical syntheses in section **1.4** were completed in collaboration with Dr. Martin Riu, Dr. Stasik Popov, and Dr. Ben Wigman.

1.7 EXPERIMENTAL SECTION

1.7.1 Materials and methods

Unless otherwise stated, all reactions were performed in an MBraun glovebox under nitrogen atmosphere with ≤ 0.5 ppm O₂ levels. All glassware and stir-bars were dried in a 160 °C oven for at least 12 hours and dried under reduced pressure before use. All liquid substrates were either dried over CaH₂ or filtered through dry neutral aluminum oxide. Solid substrates were dried overnight under high vacuum over P₂O₅. All solvents were rigorously dried prior to use. Benzene, trifluorotoluene, dichloromethane, *o*-dichlorobenzene, acetonitrile, and tetrahydrofuran were degassed and dried in a JC Meyer solvent system and stored inside a glovebox. Cyclohexane was distilled over potassium. *o*-Difluorobenzene was distilled over CaH₂. Triethylsilane and triisopropylsilane were dried over sodium and stored inside a glovebox. [Ph₃C][CHB₁₁Cl₁₁] was prepared according to a literature procedure.³¹ All other reagents were purchased from commercial suppliers and used as received. Preparatory thin layer chromatography (TLC) was performed using Millipore silica gel 60 F254 precoated plates (0.25 mm) and visualized by UV fluorescence quenching. SiliaFlash P60 silica gel (230-400 mesh) was used for flash chromatography. AgNO₃-Impregnated silica gel was

prepared by mixing with a solution of AgNO₃ (150% v/w of 10% w/v solution in acetonitrile), removing solvent under reduced pressure, and drying at 120 °C. NMR spectra were recorded on a Bruker AV-300 (¹H, ¹⁹F), Bruker AV-400 (¹H, ¹³C, ¹⁹F), Bruker DRX-500 (¹H), and Bruker AV-500 (¹H, ¹³C). ¹H NMR spectra are reported relative to CDCl₃ (7.26 ppm) unless noted otherwise. Data for ¹H NMR spectra are as follows: chemical shift (ppm), multiplicity, coupling constant (Hz), integration. Multiplicities are as follows: s = singlet, d = doublet, t = triplet, dd = doublet of doublet, dt = doublet of triplet, ddd = doublet of doublet of doublet, td = triplet of doublet, m = multiplet. ¹³C NMR spectra are reported relative to CDCl₃ (77.0 ppm) unless noted otherwise. GC spectra were recorded on an Agilent 6850 series GC using an Agilent HP-1 (50 m, 0.32 mm ID, 0.25 µm DF) column. GCMS spectra were recorded on a Shimadzu GCMS-QP2010 using a Restek XTI-5 (50 m, 0.25 mm ID, 0.25 µm DF) column interface at room temperature. IR Spectra were record on a Perkin Elmer 100 spectrometer and are reported in terms of frequency absorption (cm⁻¹). High resolution mass spectra (HR-MS) were recorded on a Waters (Micromass) GCT Premier spectrometer, a Waters (Micromass) LCT Premier, or an Agilent GC EI-MS, and are reported as follows: m/z (% relative intensity). Purification by preparative HPLC was done on an Agilent 1200 series instrument with a reverse phase Alltima C18 (5μ , 25 cm length, 1 cm internal diameter) column.

1.7.2 Preparation of vinyl triflate precursors

Triflates **77**,²¹ **78**,²¹ **79**,²¹ **80a**,²¹ **80b**,²⁹ **92**,²² and **98**²⁷ were prepared according to literature procedures.



2-propyl-3,4-dihydronaphthalen-1(2H)-one (S1)

In a three-neck flask equipped with a Dean-Stark apparatus was added 3,4dihydronaphthalen-1(2H)-one (3.00 g, 20.5 mmol, 1 equiv), 1,1-dimethylhydrazine (3.70 g, 61.6 mmol, 3 equiv), toluene (20 mL), and 4-methylbenzenesulfonic acid (0.35 g, 2.1 mmol, 0.1 equiv). The reaction was refluxed at 130 °C overnight. Then it was diluted with diethyl ether and saturated NaHCO₃ solution. After the separation of the organic phase and the aqueous phase, the aqueous phase was extracted with diethyl ether two more times. The combined organic phase was washed with brine, dried with mageniusm sulfate, filtered and concentrated *in vacuo* to give the hydrazone intermediate, which was used without further purification.

In a flamed-dried flask was added diisopropylamine (2.53 g, 25.0 mmol, 1.15 equiv) and THF (108 mL). The solution was cooled down to -78 °C and *n*-butyllithium solution (2.53 M, 9.45 mL, 1.1 equiv) was added dropwise. After 1 min, the hydrazone intermediate (4.09 g, 21.7 mmol, 1 equiv) in THF (21 mL) was added dropwise. The reaction was then warmed up to 0 °C and kept for 30 min, then cooled back to -78 °C. *n*-Propyl iodide (4.06 g, 23.9 mmol, 1.1 equiv) was added slowly into the reaction. The reaction was then warmed up to room temperature and stirred overnight. The reaction was quenched by cooling down to 0 °C followed by the addition of 2.5 M HCl (63 mL). This mixture was heated at 50 °C for 1 h. Then the solution was diluted with water and diethyl ether. After the separation of the organic phase and the aqueous phase, the aqueous phase was extracted with diethyl ether two more times. The combined organic phase was washed with saturated NaHCO₃ solution

and brine, dried with magnesium sulfate, filtered, and concentrated under reduced pressure to give the crude product. This product was purified by silica flash column chromatography (5% diethyl ether in hexanes) to give ketone **S1** as a yellow solid (2.1 g, 51% yield over 2 steps). The NMR spectra of **S1** matches previously reported data.³⁰

¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 8.07 (d, *J* = 7.9 Hz, 1H), 7.49 (t, *J* = 7.5 Hz, 1H), 7.34 (t, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 1H), 7.27 (d, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 1H), 3.04 (dt, *J* = 9.1, 5.0 Hz, 2H), 2.58 – 2.49 (m, 1H), 2.28 (dq, *J* = 13.3, 4.8 Hz, 1H), 1.95 (tddd, *J* = 14.5, 10.7, 7.9, 5.2 Hz, 2H), 1.59 – 1.37 (m, 3H), 1.01 (t, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 3H).

2-propyl-3,4-dihydronaphthalen-1-yl trifluoromethanesulfonates (95)

In a flame dried 100 mL round bottom flask was suspended sodium carbonate (0.84 g, 8.0 mmol, 3 equiv) in anhydrous methylene chloride (27 mL). To this suspension was added ketone **S1** (0.50 g, 2.7 mmol, 1.0 equiv) and the reaction was cooled to 0 °C. Triflic anhydride (0.82 g, 2.9 mmol, 1.1 equiv) was added dropwise at 0 °C and the reaction was allowed to warm up to room temperature. Upon completion of the reaction, as assessed by thin layer chromatography (TLC) analysis, the reaction was quenched with water (15 mL). The layers were separated, and the product was extracted with diethyl ether (3 x 20 mL). The combined organics were dried over magnesium sulfate, filtered, and concentrated to give the crude material as brown oil. The crude product was purified by silica flash column chromatography (25% dichloromethane in hexanes) to give pure vinyl triflate **95** as a colorless oil (0.33 g, 39% yield).

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.33 (d, *J* = 7.5 Hz, 1H), 7.25 – 7.18 (m, 2H), 7.15 (d, *J* = 7.0 Hz, 1H), 2.83 (t, *J* = 6.9 Hz, 2H), 2.42 (t, *J* = 8.4 Hz, 2H), 2.36 (t, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 2H), 1.55 (h, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 2H), 0.96 (t, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 3H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 140.4, 135.5, 133.6, 129.8, 128.1, 127.3, 126.7, 121.2, 118.6 (q, ¹*J*_{C-F} = 321.1 Hz), 33.0, 27.5, 27.3, 20.2, 13.9.

¹⁹F NMR (376 MHz, CDCl₃) δ –73.7.

HR-MS (FD-MS): C₁₄H₁₅F₃O₃S calculated 320.0694; Found 320.0693.

1.7.3 Intermolecular C-H insertion reactions with cyclohexane under Si-

mediated conditions A

General Procedure

In a well-kept glovebox, (H₂O, O₂ < 0.5 ppm), a dram vial was charged with $[Ph_3C][HCB_{11}Cl_{11}]$ (0.05 equiv) and this material was suspended in cyclohexane (enough to make a 0.1 M solution of vinyl triflate). Triethylsilane (1.5 equiv) along with a magnetic stirring bar were added to the mixture, and the mixture was shaken until it turned colorless. At this point, vinyl triflate (1.0 equiv) was added to the reaction mixture and was stirred at 30–75 °C (see substrates for specific details). Upon completion, the reaction mixture was passed through a short plug of silica gel inside the glovebox and the plug was washed with hexanes. The combined filtrates were removed from the glovebox and volatile materials were removed under reduced pressure. Some substrates required further purification by silica column chromatography (see below) or preparative high pressure liquid chromatography (HPLC).

Cyclohexane Addition Reactions Previously Reported by our Group

Cyclohexane addition product **81** was prepared from triflate **77**, and the synthesis has been described.²¹



5-cyclohexyl-6,7,8,9-tetrahydro-5*H*-benzo[7]annulene (89) and 6-cyclohexyl-6,7,8,9tetrahydro-5*H*-benzo[7]annulene (90)

A dram vial was charged with [Ph₃C][CHB₁₁Cl₁₁] (3.8 mg, 0.005 mmol), and this material was dissolved in benzene (0.5 mL). Triethylsilane (17.4 mg, 0.150 mmol) and a magnetic stirring bar were added and the mixture stirred for 10 minutes. Vinyl triflate **80b** (29.2 mg, 0.10 mmol, 1 equiv) was added to the reaction and stirred for 0.5 hours at 30 °C. The reaction mixture was removed from the glovebox and passed through plugged pipette containing a column of silica with ether. Volatile materials were removed under reduced pressure to give products **89** and **90** in 29% and 22% NMR yield, respectively. The crude product was purified by silica flash column chromatography (hexanes) to give a mixture of isomers **89** and **90**. Separation of regioisomers was performed using semi-preparative HPLC (95:5 MeCN:water) to give pure **89** and **90** as colorless oils.

Characterization for 89

¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.13 – 6.96 (m, 4H), 3.03 – 2.93 (t, *J* = 13.0 Hz, 1H), 2.66 (dd, *J* = 14.5, 6.4 Hz, 1H), 2.45 (td, *J* = 6.9, 6.5, 3.4 Hz, 1H), 2.07 – 1.96 (m, 2H), 1.96 – 1.86 (m, 2H), 1.83 – 1.70 (m, 3H), 1.66 – 1.52 (m, 3H), 1.48 – 1.36 (m, 1H), 1.25 (ddd, *J* = 29.6, 14.7, 8.1 Hz, 2H), 1.17 – 1.06 (m, 2H), 0.96 – 0.84 (m, 1H), 0.79 (dd, *J* = 12.0, 3.3 Hz, 1H).

¹³C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 145.1, 141.9, 130.8, 130.1, 125.7, 125.4, 53.1, 36.5, 32.8, 31.1, 29.1, 28.4, 26.6, 26.5, 26.1.

FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 3059, 3014, 2920, 2850, 2669, 1490, 1447, 1368, 1318, 1266, 1211,

1188, 1159, 1106, 1080, 1033, 977, 939, 756, 746, 549.

HR-MS (ESI-MS) m/z: [M]⁺ Calc'd for C₁₇H₂₄ 228.1878; Found 228.1876.

Characterization for 90

¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.16 – 7.12 (m, 4H), 2.91 – 2.75 (m, 3H), 2.70 (d, *J* = 14.1 Hz, 1H), 2.01 – 1.95 (m, 1H), 1.94 – 1.88 (m, 1H), 1.85 – 1.62 (m, 6H), 1.51 – 1.41 (m, 1H), 1.40 – 1.18 (m, 6H), 1.16 – 1.07 (m, 1H).

¹³C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 143.2, 142.4, 129.1, 128.7, 125.9, 125.8, 43.8, 40.2, 36.4, 35.5, 29.7, 27.4, 26.85, 26.83, 26.80.

FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 3062, 3016, 2919, 2849, 1603, 1493, 1449, 1351, 1050, 927, 909, 894, 749, 734, 726.

HR-MS (EI-MS) m/z: [M]+ Calc'd for C₁₇H₂₄ 228.1878; Found 228.1873.

1.7.4 Intermolecular C–H insertion reactions with cyclohexane under Li-mediated conditions B

General Procedure

In a well-kept glovebox, (H₂O, O₂ < 0.5 ppm), a dram vial was charged with $[Ph_3C][B(C_6F_5)_4]$ (0.05 equiv, 0.0025 mmol). Cyclohexane (0.5 mL) was added followed by LiHMDS (12.5 mg, 0.075 mmol, 1.5 equiv). Vinyl triflate (0.050 mmol, 1.0 equiv) was added and the reaction mixture was stirred at 30–120 °C. The reaction progress was closely monitored by TLC and/or GC. Upon completion of reaction, the mixture was diluted with ether and passed through a plug of silica gel in a pipette. The filtrate was concentrated to give

the crude material. The crude material was purified by silica flash chromatography to give the pure product.



9-cyclohexyl-6,7-dihydro-5*H*-benzo[7]annulene (91)

In a well-kept glovebox, (H₂O, O₂ < 0.5 ppm), a dram vial was charged with $[Ph_3C][B(C_6F_5)_4]$ (2.3 mg, 0.05 equiv, 0.0025 mmol). Cyclohexane (2.0 mL) was added followed by LiHMDS (12.5 mg, 0.075 mmol, 1.5 equiv). Triflate **80b** (14.6 mg, 0.050 mmol, 1.0 equiv) was added and the reaction mixture stirred at 70 °C for 1 hour. At this point, the mixture was diluted with ether and passed through a plug of silica gel in a pipette. The filtrate was concentrated to give the crude material in 21% NMR yield. The crude material was purified by silica flash chromatography (hexanes) to give product **91**.

¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.25 – 7.21 (m, 2H), 7.19 – 7.12 (m, 2H), 5.84 (td, *J* = 7.3, 1.4 Hz, 1H), 2.50 (t, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 2.37 (t, *J* = 11.5 Hz, 1H), 2.02 (p, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.81 – 1.71 (m, 5H), 1.69 (d, *J* = 13.1 Hz, 1H), 1.37 – 1.09 (m, 6H). ¹³C NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 147.1, 141.9, 141.4, 128.4, 126.2, 125.9, 125.8, 122.1, 43.5,

34.5, 33.0, 32.0, 26.9, 26.6, 24.2.

HR-MS (EI-MS) m/z: [M]⁺ Calc'd for C₁₇H₂₂ 226.1721; Found 226.1711.

1.7.5 Intramolecular C-H insertion reactions under Si-mediated

conditions A

General Procedure and Comments

In a well-kept glovebox, (H₂O, O₂ < 0.5 ppm), a dram vial was charged with $[Ph_3C]^+[HCB_{11}C_{11}]^-$ (0.02 equiv) and this material was suspended in cyclohexane to form a 0.033 M solution. Triethylsilane (1.5-4.5 equiv) along with a magnetic stirring bar were added to the mixture, and the mixture was shaken until it turned colorless. At this point, vinyl triflate (1.0 equiv) was added to the reaction mixture and was stirred at 30 °C. Upon completion, the reaction mixture was passed through a short plug of silica gel inside the glovebox and the plug was washed with hexanes. The combined filtrates were removed from the glovebox and volatile materials were removed under reduced pressure. Some substrates required further purification by silica column chromatography (see below). Compound **93** was prepared from vinyl triflate **92**, and the synthesis is described.²²



2,3,3a,4,5,9b-hexahydro-1*H*-cyclopenta[*a*]naphthalene (93)

In a well-kept glovebox, (H₂O, O₂ < 0.5 ppm), a dram vial was charged with $[Ph_3C]^+[HCB_{11}C_{11}]^-$ (0.92 mg, 0.0010 mmol, 0.02 equiv.) and this was suspended in cyclohexane (1.5 mL). Triethylsilane (36 µL, 0.225 mmol, 4.5 equiv) was added along with a magnetic stirring bar to the suspension. The suspension was stirred for 5 minutes at 30 °C. Vinyl triflate **92** (16 mg, 0.050 mmol, 1 equiv) was added to the reaction and it was stirred at 30 °C for 15 minutes. The reaction mixture was passed through a plug of silica with hexanes. The resulting solution was brought outside of the glovebox and concentrated to give crude tricyclic compound **93** in 37% NMR yield using nitromethane as an internal standard. Attempts to further purify **93** by column chromatography were unsuccessful. NMR data matches previously reported spectra.³¹

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.15 – 6.98 (m, 4H), 3.36 (td, *J* = 8.0, 2.7 Hz, 1H), 2.86 (ddd, *J* = 15.9, 8.8, 3.8 Hz, 1H), 2.73 (dt, *J* = 16.2, 8.4 Hz, 1H), 2.18 (dtd, *J* = 12.1, 8.0, 3.8 Hz, 1H), 1.67 (dq, *J* = 12.5, 8.7 Hz, 1H), 1.45 – 1.12 (m, 7H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 146.68, 142.94, 124.88, 124.60, 123.27, 122.81, 44.48, 30.83, 30.77, 30.46, 26.10, 21.63, 13.23.

HR-MS (FD-MS): C13H16 calculated 172.1252; Found 172.1266.

1.7.6 Intramolecular C–H insertion reactions under Li-mediated conditions B

General Procedure and Comments

In a well-kept glovebox, (H₂O, O₂ < 0.5 ppm), a dram vial was charged with [Ph₃C][B(C₆F₅)₄] (0.05 equiv). Dichloromethane or 1,2-difluorobenzene was added followed by LiHMDS (1.5 equiv). Vinyl triflate (1.0 equiv) was added, and the mixture stirred with heat (30 °C or 70 °C, depending on the substrate). Upon completion of the reaction, the mixture was removed from the glovebox, where it was diluted with diethyl ether and passed through a short plug of silica. Volatile materials were removed from the filtrate and the resulting crude material was further purified by column chromatography. C–H insertion product **94** was prepared from vinyl triflate **92** in dichloromethane at 30 °C, and the synthesis is described in detail in ref.²² C–H insertion product **100** was prepared from vinyl triflate **98** in 1,2-difluorobenzene at 70 °C using LiH (3 equiv) in place of LiHMDS, and the synthesis is described in detail in ref.²⁷

1.8 REFERENCES

[1] Naredla, R. R.; Klumpp, D. A. Contemporary carbocation chemistry: applications in organic synthesis. *Chem. Rev.* **2013**, *113*, 6905-6948.

[2] Kehrmann, F.; Wentzel, F. Ueber die basischen Eigenschaften des Kohlenstoffs und die Constitution des sogenannten Triphenylmethyls. *Chem. Ber.* **1901**, *34*, 3815-3819.

[3] Erkkilä, A.; Majander, I.; Pihko, P. M. Iminium catalysis. *Chem. Rev.* 2007, 107, 5416-5470.

[4] Sammakia, T.; Smith, R. S. Evidence for an oxocarbenium ion intermediate in Lewis acid mediated reactions of acyclic acetals. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1994**, *116*, 7915-7916.

[5] Jacobs, T. L.; Searles Jr, S. Acetylenic Ethers. IV. 1 Hydration. J. Am. Chem. Soc.1944, 66, 686-689.

[6] Grob, C. A.; Cseh, G. Die Solvolyse von α-Bromstyrolen Substitution am ungesättigten trigonalen Kohlenstoffatom. *Helv. Chim. Acta* **1964**, *47*, 194-203.

[7] Marcuzzi, F.; Azzena, U.; Melloni, G. Vinyl cations in organic synthesis. Part 2. A novel synthesis of methylene-1H-indenes (benzofulvenes) by cyclisation of phenyl-substituted but-1-en-3-ynes. *J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1* **1993**, 2957-2960.

[8] Maroni, R.; Melloni, G.; Modena, G. Electrophilic additions to acetylenes. Part II.
 Addition of alkyl chlorides to diphenylacetylene. *J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1* 1974, 353-356.

[9] Harding, K. E.; Cooper, J. L.; Puckett, P. M. Cationic cyclization of allenes. Preferential cyclization via vinyl cations. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1978**, *100*, 993-994.

[10] Breslow, R.; Deuring, L. A. Concerning phosphirenium cations. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1984, 25, 1345-1348.

[11] Kitamura, T.; Takachi, T.; Kawasato, H.; Taniguchi, H. Electrophile-induced intramolecular cyclization of ortho-(aryloxy) phenylalkynes to dibenz [b, f] oxepines. *J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1* **1992**, 1969-1973.

[12] Angara, G. J.; Bovonsombat, P.; McNeils, E. Formation of β , β -dihaloenones from halogenated tertiary alkynols. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1992**, *33*, 2285-2288.

[13] Williams, C. G.; Nistanaki, S. K.; Wells, C. W.; Nelson, H. M. α-Vinylation of Ester Equivalents via Main Group Catalysis for the Construction of Quaternary Centers. *Org. Lett.* **2023**, *25*, 3591-3595.

[14] Fang, J.; Brewer, M. Intramolecular vinylation of aryl rings by vinyl cations. *Org. Lett.***2018**, *20*, 7384-7387.

[15] He, J.; Wasa, M.; Chan, K. S.; Shao, Q.; Yu, J. Q. Palladium-catalyzed transformations of alkyl C–H bonds. *Chem. Rev.* 2017, *117*, 8754-8786.

[16] Schegolev, A. A.; Smit, W. A.; Roitburd, G. V.; Kucherov, V. F. Acylation of alkynes by cationoid reagents with the formation of cyclopent-2-enone derivatives. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1974, *15*, 3373-3376.

[17] Biermann, U.; Koch, R.; Metzger, J. O. Intramolecular Concerted Insertion of Vinyl Cations into C–H Bonds: Hydroalkylating Cyclization of Alkynes with Alkyl Chloroformates to Give Cyclopentanes. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2006**, *45*, 3076-3079.

[18] Jin, T.; Himuro, M.; Yamamoto, Y. Brønsted Acid-Catalyzed Cascade Cycloisomerization of Enynes via Acetylene Cations and sp3-Hybridized C–H Bond Activation. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2010**, *132*, 5590-5591.

31

[19] Zhang, F.; Das, S.; Walkinshaw, A. J.; Casitas, A.; Taylor, M.; Suero, M. G.; Gaunt, M.

J. Cu-catalyzed cascades to carbocycles: union of diaryliodonium salts with alkenes or alkynes exploiting remote carbocations. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2014, 136, 8851-8854.

[20] Cleary, S. E.; Hensinger, M. J.; Brewer, M. Remote C-H insertion of vinyl cations leading to cyclopentenones. *Chem. Sci.* **2017**, *8*, 6810-6814.

[21] Popov, S.; Shao, B.; Bagdasarian, A. L.; Benton, T. R.; Zou, L.; Yang, Z.; Houk, K. N.; Nelson, H. M. Teaching an old carbocation new tricks: Intermolecular C–H insertion reactions of vinyl cations. *Science* **2018**, *361*, 381-387.

[22] Wigman, B.; Popov, S.; Bagdasarian, A. L.; Shao, B.; Benton, T. R.; Williams, C. G.;
Fisher, S. P.; Lavallo, V.; Houk, K. N.; Nelson, H. M. Vinyl carbocations generated under basic conditions and their intramolecular C–H insertion reactions. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2019**, *141*, 9140-9144.

[23] Schreyer, L.; Properzi, R.; List, B. IDPi catalysis. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2019, 58, 12761-12777.

[24] Nistanaki, S. K.; Williams, C. G.; Wigman, B.; Wong, J. J.; Haas, B. C.; Popov, S.; Werth, J.; Sigman, M. S.; Houk, K. N.; Nelson, H. M. Catalytic asymmetric C–H insertion reactions of vinyl carbocations. *Science* **2022**, *378*, 1085-1091.

[25] Corey, J. Y. Generation of a silicenium ion in solution. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1975, 97, 3237-3238.

[26] Douvris, C.; Ozerov, O. V. Hydrodefluorination of perfluoroalkyl groups using silylium-carborane catalysts. *Science* **2008**, *321*, 1188-1190.

[27] Bagdasarian, A. L.; Popov, S.; Wigman, B.; Wei, W.; Lee, W.; Nelson, H. M. Urea-Catalyzed Vinyl Carbocation Formation Enables Mild Functionalization of Unactivated C–H Bonds. *Org. Lett.* 2020, *22*, 7775-7779.

[28] Reed, C. A. H⁺, CH₃⁺, and R₃Si⁺ Carborane reagents: When triflates fail. *Acc. Chem. Res.* 2010, 43, 121-128.

[29] Herrera, A.; Martínez-Álvarez, R.; Chioua, R.; Benabdelouahab, F.; Chioua, M. Two simple and different approaches to the synthesis of new 2,4-dialkylamino substituted 6, 7-dihydro-5H-benzocyclohepta [1,2-d] pyrimidines. *Tetrahedron* **2004**, *60*, 5475-5479.

[30] Kalutharage, N.; Yi, C. S. Deaminative and decarboxylative catalytic alkylation of amino acids with ketones. *Angew. Chem.* **2013**, *125*, 13896-13900.

[31] Nicolaou, K. C.; Barnette, W. E.; Ma, P. A remarkably simple, highly efficient, and stereoselective synthesis of steroids and other polycyclic systems. Total synthesis of estra-1,
3, 5 (10)-trien-17-one via intramolecular capture of o-quinodimethanes generated by cheletropic elimination of sulfur dioxide. *J. Org. Chem.* **1980**, *45*, 1463-1470.

APPENDIX 1

Spectra Relevant to Chapter 1: Introduction to Vinyl Carbocations and Their C–H Insertion Reactions









 20	
40	
- 90	
 80	.06 punodu
100 100	Cl ₃) of con
 120 pp	6 MHz, CD
140	C NMR (12
160	13
180	
200	

220





40.1912 26.7966 25.8198 25.8198 25.8198 25.8198 25.8198 25.8159 25.859 2 0

7261.1		-	0	
9041.1		-		
2091.1		-		
9911		-		
658111	{	'		
006111				
7806 1		F-56.5	• •	
97101-		5.434		
00001		0, 0		
7672.1		1.33.₫		
140701		₽.72		
6992.1		₽ 10. 2	\sim	
24/2.1		-		
9082 L		. 1 .00 ∫		
966Z.1		₽- 63.1		
6815.1		-		
1.3258			- ന	
7270.1				:
1.6821	-			6
6869.1				pu
9167.14		Ī		m
E7E7.1				ğ
7137.1			4	Ц
7787.1-		-		Ŭ
1192.11		-		of
6992 11		-		l_3
9082 11		-		ğ
0166.11			ЪС	Н
600.2		-	u c	С
2020.2	4	-	d	Ĥ
72.0344				Z
8840.2				$\underline{0}$
-5 ⁻³²⁰⁶		⊢68 [.] 0	10	્ટ્ર
2.3733				Ř
23967				Σ
74847		-		Z
7864.5		-		Η
2129.2		-		
5.8202		-06.1		
1528 2-		∑-06.1		
8758 9		90 1		
C640.C		-		
42C0.C		-		
1001.1-			- 00	
1241.7		-		
1671.7				
7.1524				
6891 Z				
St91.7		Ē	~	
7781.5				
2671.7		-		
6181.7	\frown \parallel \land	F		
P22.69	1 M /	-		
8052.7		-	<u> </u>	
6556 Z	- (/)>	-	10	
8796 T		-		
5076 Z		-		







¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) of compound **95**.

	- 0
	20
9120,232	40
	60
	80
	100 ppm
-121.257 -126.6995 -120.6905 -120.9840 -113.8050	120
1714.041 8882.551 8887.551 8877.551 8777.5551 8777.5551 8777.5551 87777.5551 8777.5551 8777.5551 8777.	140
	160
¹ ¹ ¹	180
	200

95.
compound
of
CDCl ₃)
(376 MHz,
^{19}F NMR (

	-22
	-200
	-180
	-160
	-140
	-120
	– 100 ppm
	 - 80
	- 09-
	- 40
ě.	-20
ē	- 0
	0

CHAPTER 2

Accessing Medium-sized Rings via Vinyl Carbocation Intermediates

[‡] This chapter is adapted from the published work: Zhao, Z.; Popov, S.; Lee, W.; Burch, J. E.; Delgadillo, D. A.; Kim, L.-J.; Shahgholi, M.; Lebrón-Acosta, N.; Houk, K. N.; Nelson, H. M. Accessing Medium-sized Rings via Vinyl Carbocation Intermediates. *Org. Lett.* **2024**, *26*, 1000-1005.

2.1 INTRODUCTION

Cyclic structural motifs are ubiquitous in natural products, pharmaceuticals, and other industrially relevant compositions of matter.^{1,2} Amongst them, 5- and 6-membered rings are the most common cyclic structures due to their ease of preparation.^{3,4} In contrast, medium-sized rings (8–11 membered rings) are often more difficult to access, where methods commonly utilized to forge 6- or 5-membered rings fail. Unlike macrocycles (\geq 12-membered rings), medium-sized rings suffer from torsional and transannular strain; therefore, their annulation reactions can be less favorable and sluggish.^{3–7} As a result, medium-sized rings appear less in synthetic molecules, hindering their utility across a broad swath of applications.

Despite their challenging formation, compounds with medium-sized rings are abundant in natural products.^{8,9} For some bioactive compounds bearing medium-sized cyclic motifs, it has been proposed that the unique balance of structural rigidity and broad conformational space enables higher binding affinities to biological targets relative to small ring analogs.¹⁰ Despite these facts, the number of methods for medium-sized ring formation remains limited in organic synthesis. Ring expansion from smaller rings is widely used to generate medium-sized rings; however, these reactions need careful design depending on the structure of the medium-sized ring desired and usually require several synthetic steps towards well-poised, smaller ring precursors.¹¹ For direct annulation methods, catalytic ring-closing metatheses and cross-coupling reactions are the most common, but precious noble metals such as palladium and ruthenium are required as catalysts.^{12,13} Medium-sized ring formation through radical intermediates has also been reported, although stoichiometric radical sources are commonly used.^{12,13} As a result, it is still of great interest to develop catalytic and metal-free annulation reactions to access medium-sized rings.

2.2 MODEL SUBSTRATE STUDY

Vinyl tosylate **101** was selected as our model substrate (Scheme 2.1). A sulfonamide was introduced into the aniline-derived scaffold to protect the Lewis basic amine moiety, a common functional group in many bioactive molecules.^{14,15} We proposed that vinyl tosylate **101** would transform to tetrahydroazocine **103** under lithium-WCA catalysis. Medium-sized ring **103** features an *exo*-alkene on the 8-membered ring, which is reminiscent of commercial drugs pizotifen,¹⁶ amitriptyline,¹⁷ and cyproheptadine,¹⁸ albeit these comprise more readily prepared 7-membered rings (Scheme 2.2). The established route to these drugs features a key intramolecular Friedel–Crafts acylation of a carboxylic acid to forge their core 7-membered ring. As there are few reports to build larger medium-sized rings via Friedel–Crafts acylation,^{19,20} our complementary method provides access to underexplored chemical space via vinyl carbocation intermediates.

Recognizing that electron-deficient arenes are sluggish nucleophiles, we questioned if electrophilic vinyl carbocation species could engage them in Friedel–Crafts reactions. Therefore, we began optimization with vinyl tosylate **101** to study the Friedel–Crafts reactions with electrophilic vinyl cation species (Table 2.1). When vinyl tosylate **101** was subjected to 10 mol% of lithium tetrakis(pentafluorophenyl)borate ($[Li]^+[B(C_6F_5)_4]^-$) (**104**) in 1,2-dichlorobenzene (*o*-DCB) at 140 °C, tetrahydroazocine **103** was formed in 40% yield



Scheme 2.1 Medium-sized ring formation via vinyl carbocation intermediates.

Scheme 2.2 Commercial drugs with exo-alkene on a 7-membered ring.



(entry 1). The structure of product **103** was confirmed using microcrystal electron diffraction (microED).²¹ Since a significant amount of starting material remained after long reaction times (entry 1), we hypothesized that adding a lithium base could help regenerate the lithium catalyst and improve the reaction yield. Indeed, adding an excess of LiH increased the yield to 74% (entry 2). In contrast, the presence of lithium bis(trimethylsilyl)amide (LiHMDS), which was used in previous reports,^{22,23} was detrimental to the reaction, forming the product in 21% yield (entry 3). Performing the reaction without $[Li]^+[B(C_6F_5)_4]^-$ did not provide any tetrahydroazocine **103** (entry 4). Lower loadings of $[Li]^+[B(C_6F_5)_4]^-$ gave lower yields of the

product (entries 5, 6), highlighting the essential role of $[Li]^+[B(C_6F_5)_4]^-$ in this catalytic cyclization. Solvents other than *o*-DCB were also examined but were found inferior (entries 7–9). Hydrogen bonding catalyst **105**, which our group had previously applied in the ionization of vinyl triflates, gave diminished yields (entries 10,11).²³

Table 2.1 Optimization of the reaction conditions to build medium-sized rings.



entry	catalyst	base	solvent	temperature	yield
	(1110176)	(equiv)		(1)	(70)
1	104 (10)	none	o-DCB	140	40
2	104 (10)	LiH (5)	o-DCB	140	74
3	104 (10)	LiHMDS (1.5)	o-DCB	140	21
4	none	LiH (5)	o-DCB	140	n.d.
5	104 (5)	LiH (5)	o-DCB	140	49
6	104 (1)	LiH (5)	o-DCB	140	24
7	104 (10)	LiH (5)	o-DFB	92	n.d.
8	104 (10)	LiH (5)	mesitylene	140	50
9	104 (10)	LiH (5)	DMF	140	n.d.
10	105 (10)	LiH (5)	o-DCB	140	19
11	105 (10)	LiHMDS (1.5)	o-DCB	140	n.d.

* Yields determined by using 1,4-dioxane as an internal standard.



2.3 SUBSTRATE STUDY

With the optimized conditions, we set out to explore the substrate scope. First, we tested various ring sizes. Similar to vinyl tosylate 101, the substrate with a non-substituted aryl nucleophile also gave the 8-membered ring product **106** in moderate yield (Scheme 2.3). A 9-membered ring was also formed under this system giving tetrahydroazonine 107 with a yield of 82%. However, 10-membered ring formation proved difficult, as hexahydroazecine 108 was not observed under the reaction conditions. We also found that the sulfonamide could be replaced with other functional groups. For example, thioether 109 was obtained with a moderate yield of 46%, and medium-sized carbocycle 110 could be synthesized in 81% yield. The 9-membered ring ether 111 could be produced in 65% yield with an electronrich arene as the nucleophile. Substitution effects on the aryl nucleophile were also studied. Phenyl groups with the dimethylamino and methoxy groups could give the 8-membered ring products with good yields (112 and 113). Notably, tert-butyldimethylsilyl (TBS) protected phenol was also tolerated under the reaction conditions as 79% yield of 114 was obtained. Unfortunately, when the strong electron-withdrawing group trifluoromethyl was present on the aryl group, product 115 was not formed. With a weak electron-withdrawing group, such as bromine, the medium-sized ring product 116 could be obtained smoothly in 79% yield. The electronic effect of the aryl ring vicinal to the vinyl tosylate in the starting material was also examined. With an electron-donating methoxy group, product 117 was formed with 78% yield. Conversely, product 118 was not obtained because the respective vinyl tosylate with an electron-withdrawing trifluoromethyl group had no reactivity, which could be due to the challenging ionization to the vinyl cation intermediate. Furthermore, heterocycles could also



Scheme 2.3 Scope of Li-WCA catalyzed medium-sized ring formation.

be used in the reaction. Thiophene was tolerated, yielding the 8-membered ring product **119** and **120** in 73% and 85% yield, respectively. The two aryl groups fused with the medium-sized ring in the product were important to this cyclization. Product **121** could not be formed

when only one fused aryl ring was on the 8-membered ring. Reducing sp^2 carbon in the medium-sized ring in **121** (4 sp^2 carbon atoms instead of 5) might introduce more transannular strain and make the cyclization more challenging.⁷ To show the reaction is scalable, tetrahydroazocine **106** was synthesized with 66% yield on the scale of 1 mmol (0.4 g).

2.4 MECHANISTIC STUDY

Scheme 2.4 Possible mechanistic pathways of the medium-sized ring formation.



Because forming medium-sized rings through direct cyclization is challenging, we decided to study the reaction mechanism further. Lithium-WCA catalysis systems employing $[\text{Li}]^+[B(C_6F_5)_4]^-$ have been demonstrated to ionize vinyl sulfonates to vinyl carbocations.²² Here, we proposed three possible pathways in forming 8-membered ring **127** from the vinyl carbocation **122** (Scheme 2.4). **Path 1** is a conventional Friedel–Crafts reaction of the vinyl carbocation where the medium-sized ring intermediate **123** is formed in one step. In **Path 2**, the vinyl carbocation reacts with the aromatic π -system at the *ipso* carbon to form a 7-membered ring in **124**, which often harbors less ring strain than the corresponding 8-membered ring. A 1,2-shift of the alkyl group then occurs to expand the ring to give intermediate **123**. Alternatively, in **Path 3**, a concerted insertion of the vinyl carbocation into an aryl C–H bond is operative, mechanistically analogous to the insertion of vinyl carbocations into alkyl C–H bonds.^{22–24}

In order to differentiate the potential mechanisms of **Path 1** and **Path 2**, these proposed pathways were evaluated by density functional theory (DFT) calculations (Scheme 2.5). **INT1** can undergo the hypothetical Friedel–Crafts reaction via **TS-m** (16.3 kcal/mol) to form 8-membered ring **INT2-m** (**Path 1**). For the other putative mechanism shown in **Path 2**, **INT1** goes through 7-membered ring formation via **TS-p** (15.7 kcal/mol) and subsequent 1,2-alkyl shift **TS-R** (9.4 kcal/mol). Potentially owing to ring strain and stabilization from oxonium resonance, arenium **INT2-p** is thermodynamically more stable than **INT2-m**. The alkyl shift of **INT2-p** is energetically feasible, given that the deprotonation step is not attainable from **INT2-p**. These calculations support the anisyl substituent (**113**, Scheme 2.3) proceeding through either **Path 1** or **Path 2** since $\Delta\Delta G^{\ddagger}$ is only 0.6 kcal/mol. Because of the small energy difference between **Path 1** and **Path 2**, we carried out further computations to probe the influence of electronic effects (Scheme 2.6). Here, we found that the formation of 8-membered ring INT2-p' originating from the electron-rich carbon *para* to methoxy group was considerably favorable relative to both Path 1 and Path 2 from INT1, suggesting a strong electronic bias in INT1.

Scheme 2.5 Computational investigation of the medium-sized ring formation via vinyl carbocations.



Reaction coordinate

Scheme 2.6 Computational investigation of methoxy group position influence on the medium-sized ring formation.



Therefore, vinyl tosylate **128** was designed to experimentally probe the influence of electronic effects on mechanism. Tosylate **128** has two aromatic nucleophiles (green balls highlight the most nucleophilic positions). If **Path 1** were operative, ring A would incorporate into the product (**129**, Scheme 2.7). Conversely, if 7-membered ring formation occurred first, as in **Path 2**, ring B would incorporate into the cyclic scaffold (**130**). Interestingly, tosylate **128** favored the formation of **129** in 25% yield, although the reaction led to a complex mixture. Various analytical techniques including NMR and LC-MS suggested this was the major cyclization product.
Scheme 2.7 Experimental mechanistic study with branched vinyl tosylate precursors.



From these calculations and experiments, direct C–H insertion (**Path 3**) could not be excluded. Thus, we prepared vinyl tosylate **131** to probe the feasibility of **Path 3**. Under the standard reaction condition, a mixture of **132-d5** and **132-d4** was obtained with a distribution of roughly 1:1. This result was inconsistent with **Path 3**, where a primary KIE in the putative product-determining step would provide a larger ratio between **132-d5** and **132-d4**. Overall, the reactions of vinyl tosylates **128** and **131** both support **Path 1** as a potential reaction mechanism, consistent with canonical Friedel–Crafts reactivity.

2.5 CONCLUSION

In conclusion, we have discovered a method to access medium-sized rings via vinyl carbocation intermediates. Vinyl tosylates are used as the precursor and ionized into vinyl carbocations under the Li-WCA catalysis system. It is followed by an intramolecular Friedel–Crafts reaction with aryl nucleophiles to form medium-sized rings. These discoveries further demonstrate the application of vinyl cations in chemical synthesis.

2.6 CONTRIBUTION AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The MicroED structure analyses in sections **2.2** and **2.3** were completed in collaboration with Dr. Jessica E. Burch, Dr. David A. Delgadillo, and Dr. Lee-Joon Kim. The substrate study in section **2.3** was completed in collaboration with Dr. Stasik Popov. The computational analysis (DFT) in section **2.4** was completed in collaboration with Dr. Woojin Lee.

2.7 EXPERIMENTAL SECTION

2.7.1 Materials and methods

Unless otherwise stated, all reactions were performed in a VAC glovebox under nitrogen atmosphere with ≤ 3.0 ppm O₂ levels. All glassware and stir-bars were dried in a 160 °C oven for at least 12 hours and dried *in vacuo* before use. All liquid substrates were rigorously dried (over CaH₂ or filtered through dry neutral aluminum oxide) before use. Ethyl

ether, tetrahydrofuran, dichloromethane, dimethylformamide, toluene, and hexanes were degassed and dried in a JC Meyer solvent system. Acetonitrile, triethylamine, and pyridine were distilled over CaH₂. 1,2-dichlorobenzene was degassed and dried in a JC Meyer solvent system and stored inside the glovebox for benchtop Friedel-Crafts reactions. Solid substrates were dried over P₂O₅. $[Li]^+[B(C_6F_5)_4]^-$ salts were synthesized according to literature procedure.⁴⁵ Thin layer chromatography (TLC) was performed using Millipore silica gel 60 F_{254} pre-coated plates (0.25 mm) and visualized by UV fluorescence quenching. SiliaFlash P60 silica gel (230-400 mesh) was used for flash chromatography. NMR spectra were recorded on a Bruker AV-400 (¹H, ¹³C), Bruker DRX-500 (¹H, ¹³C), and Bruker AV-500 (¹H, ¹³C). ¹H NMR spectra are reported relative to CDCl₃ (7.26 ppm) unless noted otherwise. Data for ¹H NMR spectra are as follows: chemical shift (ppm), multiplicity, coupling constant (Hz), and integration. Multiplicities are as follows: s = singlet, d = doublet, t = doublettriplet, dd = doublet of doublet, dt = doublet of triplet, ddd = doublet of doublet, td = triplet of doublet, tt = triplet of triplet, quint = quintet, sept = septet, and m = multiplet.¹³C NMR spectra are reported relative to CDCl₃ (77.0 ppm) unless noted otherwise. IR Spectra were record on a Perkin Elmer 100 spectrometer and are reported in terms of frequency absorption (cm⁻¹). High resolution mass spectra (HR-MS) were recorded on a Waters (Micromass) GCT Premier spectrometer, a Waters (Micromass) LCT Premier, an Agilent GC EI-MS, and are reported as follows: m/z (% relative intensity). Purification by preparative HPLC was done on an Agilent 1200 series instrument with a reverse phase Alltima C₁₈ (5m, 25 cm length, 1 cm internal diameter) column. Unless noted otherwise, aluminum dry bath heating blocks were used as the heating source for the reactions that require heating.

2.7.2 Preparation of vinyl tosylate substrates



Representative scheme for the reaction between Grignard reagent and aryl nitrile.

General procedure 1: Magnesium (3.0 equiv) was put into a flame-dried three-neck flask equipped with a condenser. THF (12.3 equiv) was then added into the flask. Alkyl bromide (1.0 equiv) was added slowly into the flask to keep the solution under gentle reflux. After the formation of the Grignard reagent, cooled the solution down to 0 °C and 2-aminobenzonitrile (3.0 equiv) in THF (36.9 equiv) was added dropwise. The reaction was run overnight. After this the reaction was quenched with water and concentrated hydrochloric acid to make the pH down to 1. Then it was extracted with ethyl ether three times. The combined organic phase was washed with saturated sodium bicarbonate solution and brine. It was dried with magnesium sulfate, filtered, and concentrated to give the crude product. The crude product was purified via flash column chromatography to give the product.



(2-aminophenyl)(cyclohexyl)methanone (S2).

Synthesized according to general procedure 1 starting from 2-aminobenzonitrile (3.00 g, 0.0254 mol). Crude product was purified *via* flash column chromatography using 20% ethyl ether in hexanes to give the product as a yellow solid (2.51 g, 48.6% yield).

¹H NMR data matches previous report.²⁵



1-(2-aminophenyl)-2-methylpropan-1-one (S3).

Synthesized according to general procedure 1 starting from 2-aminobenzonitrile (4.00 g, 0.0423 mol). Crude product was purified *via* flash column chromatography using 10% ethyl ether in hexanes to give the product as a yellow solid (5.45 g, 78.9% yield).

¹H NMR data matches previous report.²⁶



(2-aminophenyl)(cyclopentyl)methanone (S4).

Synthesized according to general procedure 1 starting from 2-aminobenzonitrile (9.24 g, 0.0783 mol). Crude product was purified *via* flash column chromatography using 10% ethyl ether in hexanes to give the product as a white solid (13.32 g, 88.8% yield).

¹H NMR data matches previous report.²⁷



Representative scheme for N-tosylation of anilines.

General Procedure 2: To a round bottom flask was added aniline (1.0 equiv) followed by DCM (13.0 equiv) and pyridine (7.0 equiv). This was cooled to 0 °C and then tosyl chloride (1.42 equiv) was added. The reaction was warmed up to room temperature and stirred for 12 hours. The reaction was diluted with additional DCM (15 equiv) and water. The layers were separated and the aqueous later was extracted twice more with DCM. The combined organics were washed 1M aqueous HCl, water, and brine in that order and the dried over magnesium

sulfate, filtered, and concentrated. The crude product was purified by flash column chromatography to give pure material as a white solid.



N-(2-(cyclohexanecarbonyl)phenyl)-4-methylbenzenesulfonamide (S5).

Synthesized according to general procedure 2 starting from the corresponding aniline **S2** (14.9 g, 0.0733 mol). Crude product was purified *via* flash column chromatography using 20% ethyl acetate in hexanes to give sulfonamide **S5** as a white solid (26.2 g, 80% yield). ¹H NMR data matches previous report.²⁸



N-(2-isobutyrylphenyl)-4-methylbenzenesulfonamide (S6).

Synthesized according to general procedure 2 starting from the corresponding aniline **S3** (4.00 g, 0.0245 mol). Crude product was purified *via* flash column chromatography using 30% ethyl acetate in hexanes to give sulfonamide **S6** as a white solid (5.15 g, 66% yield). ¹H NMR data matches previous report.²⁸



N-(2-(cyclopentanecarbonyl)phenyl)-4-methylbenzenesulfonamide (S7).

Synthesized according to general procedure 2 starting from the corresponding aniline **S4** (11.8 g, 0.0625 mol). Crude product was purified *via* flash column chromatography using 20% ethyl acetate in hexanes to give sulfonamide **S7** as a white solid (10.43 g, 48.59% yield).

¹H NMR data matches previous report.²⁹



Representative scheme for N-alkylation of sulfonamides.

General Procedure 3: To an oven dried 20 mL scintillation vial was added sulfonamide (1.0 equiv) followed by DMF (13.0 equiv). To the solution was added and potassium carbonate (2.0 equiv) and alkyl iodide/bromide (2.0 equiv unless noted) under a stream of N_2 . The vial was sealed and heated to 100 °C for 24 h. The reaction mixture was cooled to rt, diluted with water and ether. The layers were separated, and the aqueous layer was extracted with ether (3x). The combined organics were washed with water (3x) and brine (1x) then dried over MgSO₄, filtered, and concentrated to give crude product. The crude product was purified by flash column chromatography.



Representative scheme for N-alkylation of sulfonamides.

General Procedure 4 (KOtBu): The corresponding ketone (1 equiv) was dissolved in THF (36.9 equiv) and cooled to 0 °C. To this was added a solution of potassium *tert*-butoxide (1.5 equiv) in THF (18.4 equiv). This was stirred 1.5 hours and then tosic anhydride (1.5 equiv) was added and the reaction was warmed up to rt. After 4 hours, the reaction mixture (generally a thick slurry) was diluted with ethyl acetate. This was washed with water (x1) and brine (x1) then dried over MgSO₄, filtered, and concentrated to give crude vinyl tosylate. This was purified by flash column chromatography to give pure vinyl tosylate.

General Procedure 5 (LiHMDS/DMEA): Followed established literature procedure¹⁶. Inside a glovebox, LiHMDS (2.0 equiv) was dissolved in dry toluene (20.8 equiv) inside a round bottom flask which was then removed from the glovebox. To this was added distilled *N*,*N*-dimethylethylamine (DMEA, 2.0 equiv) and ketone (1.0 equiv) in dry toluene (9.4 equiv). After stirring for 20 minutes, tosic anhydride (2.0 equiv) in DCM (39.0 equiv) was added and this was stirred for one hour at room temperature. The reaction was then diluted with diethyl ether and 0.25 M aqueous NaOH. The layers were separated and the aqueous was extracted with diethyl ether (x3). The combined organics were washed with brine, dried over MgSO₄, filtered, and concentrated to give crude vinyl tosylate. This was purified by flash column chromatography to give pure vinyl tosylate.



1-(2-bromoethyl)-2-chlorobenzene (S8).

1-chloro-2-vinylbenzene (3.45 g, 3.15 mL, 25.0 mmol) in hexanes (112.5 mL) was stirred at 0 °C and the air was bubbled through the solution for 1h. Hydrobromic acid in acetic acid (9.19 mL, 52.5 mmol, 33% w/V) was then added, and the reaction went in the closed flask for 20 min. The reaction solution was washed with saturated sodium bicarbonate solution and brine. Then it was dried with sodium sulfate and concentrated to give the crude product. The product was purified via flash column chromatography using hexanes to give the product as a colorless liquid (3.85 g, 70.2% yield).

¹H NMR data matches previous report.³⁰



N-(2-chlorophenethyl)-N-(2-(cyclohexanecarbonyl)phenyl)-4-

methylbenzenesulfonamide (S9).

Synthesized according to general procedure 3 starting from the corresponding sulfonamide **S5** (0.54 g, 0.0015 mol) and 1-(2-bromoethyl)-2-chlorobenzene **S8** (1.31 g, 0.00600 mol). Crude product was purified via flash column chromatography using 25% ethyl ether in hexanes to give sulfonamide **S9** as a white powder (0.50 g, 67% yield).

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.59 (dd, *J* = 7.6, 1.8 Hz, 1H), 7.48 (d, *J* = 8.3 Hz, 2H), 7.39 (ddd, *J* = 7.5, 7.5, 1.3 Hz, 1H), 7.33 (ddd, *J* = 7.8, 7.8, 1.8 Hz, 1H), 7.29 (m, 1H), 7.23 (d, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 7.17 (m, 3H), 6.78 (dd, *J* = 7.9, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 3.95 (m, 1H), 3.49 (m, 1H), 3.42 (tt, *J* = 10.8, 3.4 Hz, 1H), 3.10 (m, 1H), 2.94 (m, 1H), 2.41 (s, 3H), 2.11 (m, 1H), 1.94-1.56 (m, 5H), 1.46-1.22 (m, 4H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 206.8, 143.6, 141.8, 136.8, 136.0, 135.5, 134.2, 131.0, 130.6,
129.5, 129.4, 129.3, 128.2, 128.1, 128.0, 127.0, 51.3, 49.3, 32.8, 29.2, 26.0, 25.9, 21.4.
FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 3065, 2928, 2853, 1690, 1596, 1444, 1351, 1159, 1092, 580
HR-MS (ESI-MS) m/z: [M+Na]+ Calc'd for C₂₈H₃₀ClNO₃SNa 518.1533; Found 518.1528.



(2-((N-(2-chlorophenethyl)-4-

methylphenyl)sulfonamido)phenyl)(cyclohexylidene)methyl-4-

methylbenzenesulfonate (101).

Synthesized according to general procedure 4 starting from the corresponding ketone **S9** (1.47 g, 2.96 mmol). Crude product was purified via flash column chromatography using benzene to give vinyl tosylate **101** as a white solid (0.66 g, 34% yield).

*¹H NMR had poor resolution at room temperature, so ¹H NMRs are reported below at 70 °C.

¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃, 70 °C) δ 7.71 (d, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 2H), 7.57 (d, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 2H), 7.44 (br s, 1H), 7.31 (m, 2H), 7.25 (m, 3H), 7.09 (m, 2H), 7.04 (d, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 3H), 6.97 (m, 1H), 3.60 (m, 1H), 3.44 (m, 1H), 2.79 (m, 1H), 2.59 (m, 1H), 2.49 (m, 1H), 2.43 (s, 3H), 2.32 (m, 1H), 2.26 (s, 3H), 2.10 (m, 2H), 1.68 (br s, 2H), 1.59 (br s, 2H), 1.51 (br s, 2H). ¹³C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 144.4, 143.4, 139.0, 136.8, 136.39, 136.36, 135.6, 134.5,

134.1, 133.6, 130.9, 129.4, 129.3, 128.4, 128.0, 127.79, 127.76, 126.8, 50.8, 32.3, 30.6, 28.7, 27.0, 26.7, 26.2, 21.4, 21.3.

FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 3066, 2973, 2928, 2855, 1597, 1475, 1444, 1356, 1176, 1160, 656, 571, 552.

HR-MS (ESI-MS) m/z: [M+Na]+ Calc'd for C₃₅H₃₆ClNO₅S₂Na 672.1621; Found 672.1607.

N-(2-isobutyrylphenyl)-4-methyl-*N*-(3-phenylpropyl)benzenesulfonamide (S10).

Synthesized according to general procedure 3 starting from the corresponding sulfonamide **S6** (2.00 g, 0.00630 mol) and (3-iodopropyl)benzene (2.32 g, 0.00945 mol). Crude product

*NMR had poor resolution at room temperature, so NMRs are reported below at 70 °C.

¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃, 70 °C) δ 7.55 (d, *J* = 7.5 Hz, 1H), 7.49 (s, 2H), 7.35 (t, *J* = 7.5 Hz, 1H), 7.30 (t, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 1H), 7.23 (d, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 4H), 7.15 (t, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 1H), 7.09 (d, *J* = 7.3 Hz, 2H), 6.79 (s, 1H), 3.64 – 3.55 (m, 3H), 2.59 (t, *J* = 7.5 Hz, 2H), 2.41 (s, 3H), 1.98 – 1.85 (m, 2H), 1.24 (s, 3H), 1.23 (s, 3H).

¹³C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl₃, 70 °C) δ 207.4, 143.5, 141.7, 141.0, 137.2, 135.8, 130.5, 129.3, 129.2, 128.3, 128.2, 128.0, 127.9, 125.9, 51.6, 39.3, 33.1, 29.5, 21.3, 18.8.

FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 3063, 3027, 2971, 2932, 2871, 1694, 1596, 1348, 1161, 980, 700, 658, 576.

HR-MS (CI-MS) m/z: [M+H]+ Calc'd for C₂₆H₃₀NO₃S 436.1946; Found 436.1946.



2-methyl-1-(2-((4-methyl-*N*-(3-phenylpropyl)phenyl)sulfonamido)phenyl)prop-1-en-1yl-4-methylbenzenesulfonate (S11).

Synthesized according to general procedure 4 starting from the corresponding ketone **S10** (2.60 g, 0.00597 mol). Crude product was purified *via* flash column chromatography using 25% diethyl ether in hexanes to give vinyl tosylate **S11** as a yellow solid (1.10 g, 31% yield). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.53 (app d, *J* = 8.2 Hz, 4H), 7.40 (s, 1H), 7.31 – 7.21 (m, 6H), 7.20 – 7.15 (m, 1H), 7.12 (d, *J* = 8.1 Hz, 2H), 7.03 (d, *J* = 6.9 Hz, 2H), 6.92 (s, 1H), 3.41 – 3.18 (m, 2H), 2.42 (s, 3H), 2.36 (t, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 2H), 2.33 (s, 3H), 1.80 (s, 3H), 1.76 – 1.65 (m, 2H), 1.60 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 144. 5, 143.3, 140.9, 138.9, 138.0, 136.4, 134.1, 133.6, 129.9, 129.6, 129.3, 129.28, 129.26, 128.23, 128.21, 127.96, 127.91, 127.7, 125.8, 51.0, 32.9, 29.1, 21.5, 21.4, 20.3, 18.6.

FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 3063, 3027, 2971, 2932, 2871, 1694, 1596, 1495, 1348, 1161, 980, 700, 658, 576.

HR-MS (ESI-MS) m/z: [M+H]+ Calc'd for C₃₃H₃₆NO₅S₂ 590.2035; Found 590.2061.





1-(2-fluorophenyl)-2-methylpropan-1-one (S12).

Magnesium (0.602 g, 24.8 mmol) was put into a flame-dried three-neck flask equipped with a condenser. THF (24 mL) was then added into the flask. 2-bromopropane (3.02 g, 2.33 mL, 24.8 mmol) was added slowly into the flask to keep the solution under gentle reflux. After the formation of the Grignard reagent, cooled the solution down to 0 °C and 2-fluorobenzonitrile (2.21 g, 20.6 mmol) in THF (20 mL) was added dropwise. The reaction was run overnight. After this the reaction was quenched with water and concentrated hydrochloric acid to make the pH down to 1. Then it was extracted with ethyl ether three times. The combined organic phase was washed with saturated sodium bicarbonate solution and brine. It was dried with magnesium sulfate, filtered, and concentrated to give the crude product. The crude product was purified via flash column chromatography using 2% ethyl acetate in hexanes to give the product as an oil (1.35 g, 39.3% yield).

¹H NMR data matches previous report.³¹



2-methyl-1-(2-(phenethylthio)phenyl)propan-1-one (S13).

2-phenylethane-1-thiol (1.96 g, 1.91 mL, 14.2 mmol), 1-(2-fluorophenyl)-2-methylpropan-1-one (**S12**) (1.18 g, 7.10 mmol), sodium carbonate (3.01 g, 28.4 mmol), and DMF (7 mL) was added to a flask. The solution was heated at 100 °C in the silicone oil bath overnight. After this, ethyl acetate and water was added into the solution. After the separation, the organic phase was washed with water three times and then washed with brine. The organic phase was dried with sodium sulfate and concentrated to give the crude product. The crude product was purified with flash column chromatography with 2% ethyl acetate in hexanes to give the product **S13** as a pale-yellow oil (0.53 g, 26% yield).

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.61 (d, *J* = 7.7 Hz, 1H), 7.41 (m, 2H), 7.30 (m, 2H), 7.22 (m, 4H), 3.44 (sept, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 1H), 3.15 (m, 2H), 2.94 (m, 2H), 1.20 (d, *J* = 6.9 Hz, 6H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 207.3, 140.3, 138.3, 137.9, 131.2, 128.9, 128.6, 128.5, 128.1, 126.5, 124.8, 38.2, 35.0, 34.9, 18.8.

FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 3061, 3027, 2969, 2930, 2870, 1691, 1585, 1454, 1431, 1214, 1075, 974, 738, 697.

HR-MS (CI-MS) m/z: [M+H]+ Calc'd for C₁₈H₂₁OS 285.1313; Found 285.1323.



2-methyl-1-(2-(phenethylthio)phenyl)prop-1-en-1-yl 4-methylbenzenesulfonate (S14).

Synthesized according to general procedure 5 starting from the corresponding ketone **S13** (0.34 g, 0.0012 mol). Crude product was purified via flash column chromatography using 40% ether in hexanes to give vinyl tosylate **S14** as a pale yellow oil (0.29 g, 55% yield).

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.46 (d, *J* = 8.4 Hz, 2H), 7.29 (m, 2H), 7.23 (m, 2H), 7.16 (m, 3H), 7.07 (m, 2H), 7.02 (d, *J* = 7.7 Hz, 2H), 2.97 (m, 2H), 2.79 (m, 2H), 2.29 (s, 3H), 1.92 (s, 3H), 1.60 (s, 3H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 143.9, 140.3, 139.6, 137.7, 134.4, 133.5, 132.6, 129.1, 129.0, 128.6, 128.4, 128.2, 127.8, 127.3, 126.5, 124.8, 35.4, 34.2, 21.5, 19.9, 18.4.

FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 3062, 3032, 2918, 2856, 1598, 1496, 1454, 1364, 1176, 1086, 1071, 990, 823, 809, 792.

HR-MS (ESI-MS) m/z: [M+Na]+ Calc'd for C₂₅H₂₆O₃S₂Na 461.1221; Found 461.1209.



N-(2-isobutyrylphenyl)-4-methyl-*N*-phenethylbenzenesulfonamide (S15).

Synthesized according to general procedure 3 starting from the corresponding sulfonamide **S6** (2.00 g, 0.0063 mol) and (2-iodoethyl)benzene (2.19 g. 0.00945 mol). Crude product was purified via flash column chromatography using 30% ether in hexanes to give sulfonamide **S15** as a white solid (1.70 g, 64% yield).

*NMR had poor resolution at room temperature, so NMRs are reported below at 70 °C.

¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃, 70 °C) δ 7.58 (d, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 1H), 7.53 (d, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 2H), 7.37 (t, *J* = 7.5 Hz, 1H), 7.33 (t, *J* = 7.7 Hz, 1H), 7.23 (d, *J* = 7.3 Hz, 4H), 7.17 (d, *J* = 7.3 Hz, 1H), 7.09 (d, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 2H), 6.85 (d, *J* = 7.7 Hz, 1H), 3.82 (s, 2H), 3.58 (sept, *J* = 6.9 Hz, 1H), 2.90 (s, 2H), 2.40 (s, 3H), 1.24 (s, 3H), 1.23 (s, 3H).

¹³C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl₃, 70 °C) δ 207.2, 143.6, 141.6, 138.2, 137.0, 135.7, 130.6, 129.3, 129.2, 128.5, 128.4, 128.0, 127.9, 126.4, 53.3, 39.2, 34.8, 31.4, 18.8.
FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 2924, 1693, 1596, 1455, 1349, 1163, 1093, 1056, 1033, 1017, 815, 688, 579.

HR-MS (CI-MS) m/z: [M+H]+ Calc'd for C₂₅H₂₈NO₃S 422.1790; Found 422.1790.



2-methyl-1-(2-((4-methyl-*N*-phenethylphenyl)sulfonamido)phenyl)prop-1-en-1-yl-4methylbenzenesulfonate (S16).

Synthesized according to general procedure 4 starting from the corresponding ketone **S15** (1.70 g, 0.00403 mol). Crude product was purified *via* flash column chromatography using 25% diethyl ether in hexanes to give vinyl tosylate **S16** as a yellow solid (0.76 g, 33% yield). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.65 – 7.59 (m, 2H), 7.56 (d, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 7.51 – 7.44 (m, 1H), 7.38 – 7.29 (m, 2H), 7.29 – 7.23 (m, 2H), 7.23 – 7.14 (m, 3H), 7.07 (d, *J* = 8.1 Hz, 2H), 6.93 (d, *J* = 6.5 Hz, 3H), 3.60 (d, *J* = 10.9 Hz, 1H), 3.36 (td, *J* = 13.0, 4.9 Hz, 1H), 2.73 (td, *J* = 12.7, 5.3 Hz, 1H), 2.48 (td, *J* = 12.7, 4.8 Hz, 1H), 2.42 (s, 3H), 2.29 (s, 3H), 1.81 (s, 3H), 1.65 (s, 3H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 144.5, 143.5, 139.0, 138.5, 137.9, 136.1, 134.1, 133.8, 130.2, 129.5, 129.4, 129.1, 128.6, 128.3, 128.2, 127.9, 126.3, 53.1, 34.5, 21.6, 21.5, 20.4, 18.69.
FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 3064, 3028, 2921, 1598, 1487, 1446, 1352, 1305, 1190, 1177, 1161, 1093, 1083, 814.

HR-MS (ESI-MS) m/z: [M+Na]+ Calc'd for C₃₂H₃₃NO₅S₂Na 598.1698; Found 598.1689.





2-isobutyrylphenyl trifluoromethanesulfonate (S17).

1-(2-Hydroxyphenyl)-2-methylpropan-1-one (9.60 g, 58.5 mmol, 1.0 equiv) was dissolved in pyridine (56.9 g, 58.0 mL, 720 mmol, 12.0 equiv) and cooled to 0 °C. Triflic anhydride (19.8 g, 70.2 mmol, 1.2 equiv) was added dropwise. The reaction was warmed up to rt and stirred for 12h. Ethyl acetate (150 mL) was added to the reaction it was washed with aqueous 1M CuSO₄ (50 mL x 4) and brine (100 mL x 1). The organic layer was dried over MgSO₄, filtered and concentrated to give crude aryl triflate. Crude material was purified by silica flash column chromatography using 5% ethyl acetate in hexanes to give pure aryl triflate as yellow oil **S17** (12.9 g, 75% yield). Spectral data match those reported in the literature.³²



2-methyl-1-(2-(3-phenylprop-1-yn-1-yl)phenyl)propan-1-one (S18).

 $Ph(PPh_3)_2Cl_2$ (237 mg, 0.337 mmol) and CuI (64.2 mg, 0.337 mmol) were added into a flame-dried Schlenk flask. Triethylamine (46 mL) and 2-isobutyrylphenyl trifluoromethanesulfonates (S17) (2.00 g, 6.74 mmol) were then added under nitrogen

atmosphere. And at last prop-2-yn-1-ylbenzene (2.34 g, 2.52 mL, 20.2 mmol) was added and the reaction was heated at 70 °C in the silicone oil bath overnight. The reaction was cooled down to room temperature and quenched with saturated ammonium chloride solution. The mixture was extracted with ethyl acetate three times, and the combined organic phase was washed with water two times and brine. It was dried with magnesium sulfate, filtered, and concentrated to give the crude product. The crude product was purified via flash column chromatography using 10% ethyl ether in hexanes to give the product **S18** as an oil (0.62 g, 35% yield).

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.51 (dd, J = 7.5, 1.4 Hz, 1H), 7.46 (dd, J = 7.5, 1.4 Hz, 1H), 7.37 (m, 6H), 7.26 (tt, J = 7.8, 1.6 Hz, 1H), 3.85 (s, 2H), 3.62 (sept, J = 6.9 Hz, 1H), 1.12 (d, J = 6.8 Hz, 6H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 208.9, 142.2, 136.3, 133.5, 130.2, 128.6, 128.0, 127.8, 127.6, 126.8, 121.2, 92.7, 81.0, 39.1, 26.0, 18.5.

FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 3386, 3063, 3030, 2972, 2932, 2873, 2199, 1768, 1690, 1593, 1454, 1214, 980, 757, 698.

HR-MS (ESI-MS) m/z: [M+Na]+ Calc'd for C₁₉H₁₈ONa 285.1255; Found 285.1243.



2-methyl-1-(2-(3-phenylpropyl)phenyl)propan-1-one (S19).

Alkyne **S18** (0.750 g, 2.86 mmol) was dissolved in ethanol (50 mL). Pd/C (0.103 g, 0.0972 mmol, 10% Pd) was then added. Hydrogen gas was blown into the solution for a while and the reaction was run under hydrogen atmosphere (1 atm) overnight. The reaction solution was filtered through celite and concentrated to give the crude product. The crude product

was purified by flash chromatography with 4% ether in hexanes to give the product **S19** (0.63 g, 83% yield).

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.48 (d, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 1H), 7.36 (t, *J* = 7.0 Hz, 1H), 7.31-7.21 (m, 4H), 7.21-7.14 (m, 3H), 3.30 (sept, *J* = 6.9 Hz, 1H), 2.76 (m, 2H), 2.68 (t, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 2H), 1.93 (m, 2H), 1.16 (d, *J* = 6.9 Hz, 6H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 209.6, 142.3, 141.7, 138.8, 130.7, 130.5, 128.5, 128.3, 127.4, 125.8, 125.7, 39.1, 35.9, 33.5, 33.4, 18.7.

FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 3062, 3026, 2969, 2931, 2869, 1686, 1454, 1221, 976, 745, 633. HR-MS (ESI-MS) m/z: [M+H]+ Calc'd for C₁₉H₂₃O 267.1749; Found 267.1750.



2-methyl-1-(2-(3-phenylpropyl)phenyl)prop-1-en-1-yl 4-methylbenzenesulfonate (S20). Synthesized according to general procedure 5 starting from the corresponding ketone **S19** (0.64 g, 0.0024 mol). Crude product was purified via flash column chromatography using 20% ethyl acetate in hexanes to give vinyl tosylate **S20** as a white solid (0.32 g, 32% yield). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.33 (d, *J* = 8.4 Hz, 2H), 7.27 (t, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 2H), 7.19 (m, 2H), 7.15 (m, 1H), 7.11 (d, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 2H), 7.07 (t, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 1H), 6.98 (d, *J* = 8.2 Hz, 2H), 6.97 (t, *J* = 6.2 Hz, 1H), 2.57 (m, 1H), 2.53 (t, *J* = 7.7 Hz, 2H), 2.34 (m, 1H), 2.29 (s, 3H), 1.93 (s, 3H), 1.68 (quint, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 1.57 (s, 3H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 143.9, 142.3, 142.0, 140.9, 134.5, 132.6, 132.3, 129.1, 128.8, 128.4, 128.3, 127.6, 127.0, 125.7, 125.2, 35.7, 32.6, 32.0, 21.5, 19.9, 18.4.

FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 3065, 3026, 2922, 2859, 1599, 1496, 1453, 1367, 1081, 990, 823, 810.

HR-MS (ESI-MS) m/z: [M+Na]+ Calc'd for C₂₆H₂₈O₃SNa 443.1657; Found 443.1649.



2-(4-(dimethylamino)phenyl)ethan-1-ol (S21).

2-(4-aminophenyl)ethan-1-ol (2.06 g, 15.0 mmol) in acetonitrile (150 mL) was added formaldehyde (37% in water, 11.2 mL, 150 mmol), sodium cyanoborohydride (2.83 g, 45.0 mmol), and acetic acid (0.987 mL, 17.2 mmol). After 3 h, the reaction was basified to pH 7-8 with saturated sodium bicarbonate solution. The mixture was extracted with ethyl acetate three times. The combined organic phase was washed with brine, dried with magnesium sulfate, and concentrated to give the crude product. The crude product was purified *via* flash column chromatography using 20% methanol in ethyl ether with 5% triethylamine to give the product **S21** as yellow oil (2.43 g, 98.0% yield).

¹H NMR data matches previous report.³³



2-(4-(dimethylamino)phenyl)ethan-1-ol **S21** (1.65 g, 10.0 mmol) and carbon tetrabromide (4.97 g, 15.0 mmmol) were dissolved in DCM (30 mL). It was cooled to 0 °C, and a solution of triphenylphosphine (2.62 g, 10.0 mmol) in DCM (20 mL) was added into it. The reaction was warmed to room temperature and run overnight. It was washed with water, and after separation the aqueous phase was extracted with DCM two times. The combined organic phase was dried with magnesium sulfate and then filtered. It was concentrated to give the crude product. The crude product was purified *via* flash column chromatography using 11%

ethyl ether in hexanes with 5% triethylamine to give bromide **S22** as white solid (1.10 g, 48.2% yield).

¹H NMR data matches previous report.³⁴



N-(2-(cyclohexanecarbonyl)phenyl)-N-(4-(dimethylamino)phenethyl)-4-

methylbenzene sulfonamide (S23).

Synthesized according to general procedure 3 starting from the corresponding sulfonamide **S5** (0.86 g, 0.0024 mol) and 4-(2-bromoethyl)-N,N-dimethylaniline **S22** (1.09 g, 0.00482 mol). Crude product was purified via flash column chromatography using 20% ethyl acetate in hexanes to give sulfonamide **S23** as a white powder (0.50 g, 41% yield).

*NMR had poor resolution at room temperature, so ¹H NMR is reported below at 60 °C. ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃, 60 °C) δ 7.56 (d, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 1H), 7.52 (d, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 7.36 (dd, *J* = 7.4, 7.4 Hz, 1H), 7.32 (dd, *J* = 7.8, 7.8 Hz, 1H), 7.23 (d, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 6.96 (d, *J* = 8.2 Hz, 2H), 6.80 (d, *J* = 7.9 Hz, 1H), 6.66 (d, *J* = 8.1 Hz, 2H), 3.73 (br s, 2H), 3.40 (tt, *J* = 11.2, 3.4 Hz, 1H), 2.90 (s, 6H), 2.77 (m, 2H), 2.41 (s, 3H), 2.01 (br s, 2H), 1.83 (d, *J* = 12.6 Hz, 2H), 1.70 (d, *J* = 12.5 Hz, 1H), 1.46 (br s, 2H), 1.37 (m, 2H), 1.28 (m, 1H). ¹³C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 207.4, 149.4, 143.7, 141.9, 136.8, 134.7, 130.7, 129.7, 129.4, 129.4, 128.5, 128.1, 128.1, 127.1, 113.0, 53.4, 49.2, 40.8, 33.8, 29.7, 28.6, 26.0, 21.6. FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 2925, 2854, 1691, 1522, 1350, 1163, 1033, 577. HR-MS (ESI-MS) m/z: [M+Na]+ Calc'd for C₃₀H₃₆N₂O₃SNa 527.2344; Found 527.2333.



cyclohexylidene(2-((N-(4-(dimethylamino)phenethyl)-4-

methylphenyl)sulfonamido)phenyl) methyl 4-methylbenzenesulfonate (S24).

Synthesized according to general procedure 5 starting from the corresponding ketone **S23** (0.34 g, 0.00067 mol). Crude product was purified via flash column chromatography using 50% ether in hexanes with 5% triethylamine to give vinyl tosylate **S24** as a white solid (0.18 g, 41% yield).

*NMR had poor resolution at room temperature, so ¹H NMR is reported below at 70 °C. ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃, 70 °C) δ 7.69 (d, *J* = 7.7 Hz, 2H), 7.57 (d, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 2H), 7.43 (br s, 1H), 7.29 (m, 2H), 7.26 (d, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 2H), 7.08 (d, *J* = 7.9 Hz, 2H), 6.98 (d, *J* = 6.6 Hz, 1H), 6.79 (d, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 6.62 (d, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 3.56 (m, 1H), 3.39 (m, 1H), 2.90 (s, 6H), 2.61 (m, 1H), 2.49 (m, 1H), 2.43 (s, 3H), 2.40 (m, 1H), 2.31 (s, 3H), 2.28 (m, 1H), 2.11 (m, 1H), 2.04 (m, 1H), 1.69 (br s, 2H), 1.59 (br s, 2H), 1.50 (m, 2H). ¹³C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 149.3, 144.2, 143.4, 139.2, 136.7, 136.2, 135.5, 134.2, 133.6, 129.4, 129.4, 129.4, 129.3, 128.7, 128.3, 128.1, 127.8, 126.4, 125.5, 112.8, 53.2, 40.8, 33.4, 30.6, 28.7, 27.0, 26.7, 26.2, 21.6, 21.6.

FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 3032, 2929, 2857, 1616, 1597, 1522, 1445, 1352, 1188, 1176, 1161, 1093, 807, 789, 572, 555.

HR-MS (ESI-MS) m/z: [M+H]+ Calc'd for C₃₇H₄₃N₂O₅S₂ 659.2614; Found 659.2619.



1-(2-iodoethyl)-4-methoxybenzene (S25).

Iodine (3.96 g, 15.6 mmol) and triphenylphosphine (4.09g, 15.6 mmol) was added to DCM (24 mL). To the solution was added imidazole (1.15 g, 16.9 mmol) in DCM (10 mL) and stirred together for 15 min. Then the alcohol (1.98 g, 13.0 mmol) in DCM (5 mL) was added and it was stirred overnight. The reaction was washed with sodium thiosulfate solution, and the organic phase was dried with magnesium sulfate and filtered. The solution was then concentrated to give the crude product. The crude product was purified by flash column chromatography using 5% ethyl ether in hexanes to give the product as a white solid (3.15 g, 92.5% yield).

¹H NMR data matches previous report.³⁵



N-(2-(cyclohexanecarbonyl)phenyl)-N-(4-methoxyphenethyl)-4-

methylbenzenesulfonamide (S26).

Synthesized according to general procedure 3 starting from the corresponding sulfonamide **S5** (1.02 g, 0.00286 mol) and 1-(2-iodoethyl)-4-methoxybenzene **S25** (1.50 g, 0.00572 mol). Crude product was purified via flash column chromatography using 40% ether in hexanes to give sulfonamide **S26** as a white powder (1.22 g, 86.7% yield).

*NMR had poor resolution at room temperature, so NMRs are reported below at 70 °C.

76

¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃, 70 °C) δ 7.54 (m, 3H), 7.37 (t, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 1H), 7.32 (t, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 1H), 7.24 (d, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 2H), 6.99 (d, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 2H), 6.82 (d, *J* = 8.1 Hz, 1H), 6.78 (d, *J* = 6.9 Hz, 2H), 3.76 (s, 3H), 3.75 (br s, 2H), 3.36 (m, 1H), 2.81 (br s, 2H), 2.41 (s, 3H), 2.01 (br s, 2H), 1.83 (m, 2H), 1.69 (m, 1H), 1.36 (m, 5H). ¹³C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl₃, 70 °C) δ 206.6, 158.4, 143.4, 141.9, 136.9, 136.0, 130.3, 129.4, 129.2, 129.1, 128.3, 127.9, 127.8, 114.1, 55.1, 53.6, 49.2, 33.9, 29.0, 25.9, 25.7, 21.2. FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 3032, 2930, 2853, 1691, 1513, 1350, 1248, 1162, 578 HR-MS (ESI-MS) m/z: [M+H]+ Calc'd for C₂₉H₃₄NO₄S 492.2209; Found 492.2229.



cyclohexylidene(2-((N-(4-methoxyphenethyl)-4-

methylphenyl)sulfonamido)phenyl)methyl 4-methylbenzenesulfonate (S27).

Synthesized according to general procedure 5 starting from the corresponding ketone **S26** (0.58 g, 0.0012 mol). Crude product was purified via flash column chromatography using 40% ether in hexanes to give vinyl tosylate **S27** as a white solid (0.43 g, 56% yield).

*NMR had poor resolution at room temperature, so NMRs are reported below at 50 °C.

¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃, 50 °C) δ 7.67 (d, *J* = 7.9 Hz, 2H), 7.57 (d, *J* = 8.2 Hz, 2H), 7.43 (br s, 1H), 7.31 (m, 2H), 7.26 (d, *J* = 6.6 Hz, 2H), 7.09 (d, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 6.96 (br s, 1H), 6.83 (d, *J* = 8.6 Hz, 2H), 6.74 (d, *J* = 8.6 Hz, 2H), 3.76 (s, 3H), 3.59 (ddd, *J* = 13.2, 5.5, 5.5 Hz, 1H), 3.38 (ddd, *J* = 12.2, 5.0, 5.0 Hz, 1H), 2.66 (ddd, *J* = 12.8, 5.4, 5.4 Hz, 1H), 2.44 (m,

2H), 2.43 (s, 3H), 2.31 (s, 3H), 2.29 (m, 1H), 2.12 (m, 1H), 2.03 (m, 1H), 1.67 (m, 2H), 1.54 (m, 4H).

¹³C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl₃, 50 °C) δ 158.1, 144.2, 143.2, 139.2, 136.6, 136.5, 135.5, 134.4, 133.5, 130.5, 129.4, 129.3, 129.2, 129.1, 128.1, 127.9, 127.6, 113.8, 55.1, 53.0, 33.5, 30.4, 28.5, 26.8, 26.6, 26.1, 21.3, 21.2.

FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 3029, 2971, 2928, 2855, 1611, 1597, 1512, 1364, 1175, 1157, 788, 656, 570, 552.

HR-MS (ESI-MS) m/z: [M+Na]+ Calc'd for C₃₆H₃₉NO₆S₂Na 668.2117; Found 668.2093.



(4-bromophenoxy)(tert-butyl)dimethylsilane (S28).

In the DCM (50mL) solution of the 4-bromophenol (9.94 g, 57.8 mmol) and triethylamine (7.26 g, 71.7 mmol) was added the DCM (50mL) solution of *tert*-butyldimethylsilyl chloride (13.0 g, 86.7 mmol). After a day, the reaction was done. It was then diluted and washed with water 2 times until the aqueous phase was strongly acidic. The organic phase was then

washed with sat. NaHCO₃, dried with MgSO₄, filtered, and concentrated in vacuo. The crude product was purified by column chromatography with 2.4% diethyl ether in hexanes as a colorless liquid (15.95g, 96.1% yield).

¹H NMR matches previous report.³⁶

2-(4-((tert-butyldimethylsilyl)oxy)phenyl)ethan-1-ol (S29).

In a 3-neck flask equipped with a condenser was added **S28** (5.40 g, 18.8 mmol) and THF (38 mL). The solution was cooled down to -78° C. n-BuLi (2.06 M in hexanes, 10.0 mL, 20.7 mmol) was added dropwise, and the reaction was left at -78° C for 30 min after the addition. Then ethylene oxide (2.5 M in THF, 15.0 mL, 37.6 mmol) was added dropwise at -78° C. The reaction was warmed to 0°C for 30 min, and then it was heated at 40°C for 30 min, which was followed by reflux for 1 h. After the reaction was complete, the solution was concentrated in vacuo and then diluted with DCM and washed with 1M HCl (40 mL). The aqueous phase was extracted with DCM 2 times. The combined organic phase was washed with sat. NaHCO₃ and brine, dried with MgSO₄, filtered, and concentrated in vacuo. The crude product was purified by column chromatography with 50% hexanes and 50% diethyl ether to give the product **S29** as a pale-yellow oil (1.72 g, 36.2% yield).

¹H NMR matches previous report.³⁶

OTBS

(4-(2-bromoethyl)phenoxy)(tert-butyl)dimethylsilane (S30).

S29 (1.72 g, 6.81 mmol) was dissolved in DCM (17 mL) and the solution was cooled down to 0°C. After 10 min, triphenylphosphine (2.14 g, 8.18 mmol) and *N*-bromosuccinimide (1.46 g, 8.18 mmol) was added into the solution. After 4 hours, the reaction was complete and quenched by sat. NaHCO₃. The solution was extracted with DCM 3 times. The combined organic phase was washed with brine, dried with MgSO₄, filtered, and concentrated in vacuo. The crude product was purified by column chromatography with 2.4% diethyl ether in hexanes to give the product **S30** as a colorless liquid (1.67 g, 77.7% yield).

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.06 (d, *J* = 8.6 Hz, 2H), 6.78 (d, *J* = 8.5 Hz, 2H), 3.52 (t, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 2H), 3.09 (t, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 2H), 0.98 (s, 9H), 0.19 (s, 6H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 153.5, 130.6, 128.6, 119.1, 37.7, 32.3, 24.6, 17.2, -5.5.
FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 2956, 2929, 2857, 1608, 1508, 1471, 1463, 1252, 911, 837, 779.
HR-MS (CI-MS) m/z: [M]+ Calc'd for C₁₄H₂₃OSiBr 314.0701; Found 314.0708.



N-(4-hydroxyphenethyl)-N-(2-isobutyrylphenyl)-4-methylbenzenesulfonamide (S31). Synthesized according to general procedure 3 starting from the corresponding sulfonamide **S6** (1.26 g, 0.00396 mol) and (4-(2-bromoethyl)phenoxy)(tert-butyl)dimethylsilane **S30** (1.49 g, 0.00476 mol). Crude product was purified via flash column chromatography using 25% acetone in hexanes to give sulfonamide **S31** as a white powder (0.63 g, 36% yield). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.59 (dd, *J* = 7.6, 1.8 Hz, 1H), 7.46 (d, *J* = 8.1 Hz, 2H), 7.40 (td, *J* = 7.5, 1.3 Hz, 1H), 7.34 (td, *J* = 7.6, 1.8 Hz, 1H), 7.23 (d, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 6.96 (d, *J* = 8.1Hz, 2H), 6.77 – 6.70 (m, 3H), 3.95 (br, 1H), 3.66 (hepta, *J* = 6.9 Hz, 1H), 3.46 (br, 1H), 2.88 (br, 1H), 2.62 (br, 1H), 2.41 (s, 3H), 1.36 – 1.06 (m, 6H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 207.3, 153.3, 142.8, 140.5, 135.7, 133.7, 129.8, 129.0, 128.8, 128.7, 128.5, 127.2, 127.0, 126.4, 114.4, 52.2, 38.2, 32.8, 20.5, 18.2 (br), 17.6 (br)
FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 3377, 2973, 2931, 2871, 1690, 1614, 1595, 1516, 1444, 1347, 1214, 1159, 1090, 981, 815, 657, 577.

HR-MS (ESI-MS) m/z: [M+Na]+ Calc'd for C₂₅H₂₇NO₄SNa 460.1535; Found 460.1558.



N-(4-((tert-butyldimethylsilyl)oxy)phenethyl)-N-(2-isobutyrylphenyl)-4-

methylbenzenesulfonamide (S32).

S31 (0.51 g, 1.2 mmol) and triethylamine (0.16 mL, 1.2 mmol) were added in DCM (6 mL). *Tert*-butyldimethylsilyl chloride (0.18 g, 1.2 mmol) was also dissolved in DCM (6 mL) and the solution was added into the first solution slowly. Reaction was monitored by TLC and additional *tert*-butyldimethylsilyl chloride (0.09 g, 0.6 mmol) and triethylamine (0.08 mL, 0.6 mmol) were added each time until **S31** was completely consumed. The reaction was then diluted with DCM, washed with 1M HCl, saturated NaHCO₃ solution, and brine in order. The organic phase was dried with MgSO₄, filtered, and concentrated in vacuo. Crude product was purified via column chromatography using 20% diethyl ether in hexanes to give sulfonamide **S32** as a yellow oil (0.53 g, 82% yield).

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.59 (dd, J = 7.6, 1.8 Hz, 1H), 7.46 (m, 2H), 7.39 (td, J = 7.5, 1.3 Hz, 1H), 7.33 (td, J = 7.6, 1.8 Hz, 1H), 7.23 (d, J = 8.4 Hz, 2H), 6.94 (d, J = 8.6 Hz, 2H), 6.75 (dd, J = 7.9, 1.3 Hz, 1H), 6.71 (d, J = 8.6 Hz, 2H), 3.99 (br, 1H), 3.67 (hepta, J = 6.9 Hz, 1H), 3.48 (br, 1H), 2.88 (br, 1H), 2.62 (br, 1H), 2.41 (s, 3H), 1.33 – 1.09 (m, 6H), 0.96 (s, 9H), 0.17 (s, 6H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 207.1, 153.3, 142.7, 140.5, 135.7, 133.8, 129.8, 129.6, 128.7, 128.6, 128.4, 127.2, 127.0, 126.4, 119.1, 52.1, 38.2, 32.9, 24.7, 20.5, 17.2, -5.5.
FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 2957, 2929, 2858, 1694, 1596, 1510, 1471, 1350, 1260, 1163, 914.
HR-MS (ESI-MS) m/z: [M+Na]+ Calc'd for C₃₁H₄₁NO4SSiNa 574.2423; Found 574.2432.



1-(2-((N-(4-((tert-butyldimethylsilyl)oxy)phenethyl)-4-

methylphenyl)sulfonamido)phenyl)-2-methylprop-1-en-1-yl 4-methylbenzenesulfonate (833).

Synthesized according to general procedure 6 starting from the corresponding ketone **S32** (0.43 g, 0.00078 mol). Crude product was purified via flash column chromatography using 14% acetone in hexanes to give vinyl tosylate **S33** as a white solid (0.49 g, 89% yield).

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.62 (s, 2H), 7.55 (d, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 7.47 (s, 1H), 7.39 – 7.29 (m, 2H), 7.27 (s, 2H), 7.08 (d, *J* = 8.1 Hz, 2H), 6.91 (s, 1H), 6.78 – 6.73 (m, 2H), 6.69 – 6.65 (m, 2H), 3.56 (br s, 1H), 3.34 (td, *J* = 12.9, 4.8 Hz, 1H), 2.62 (td, *J* = 12.8, 5.4 Hz, 1H), 2.45–2.33 (m, 1H), 2.42 (s, 3H), 2.31 (s, 3H), 1.81 (s, 3H), 1.64 (s, 3H), 0.97 (s, 9H), 0.17 (d, *J* = 0.7 Hz, 6H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 153.0, 143.5, 142.4, 138.0, 136.9, 135.2, 133.1, 132.8, 130.1, 129.2, 128.5, 128.43. 128.40, 127.2, 127.0, 118.8, 52.2, 32.6, 24.7, 20.53, 20.52 19.4, 17.7, 17.2, -5.4.

FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 2955, 2927, 2856, 1598, 1509, 1353, 1258, 1189, 1177, 1159, 1083, 912, 804, 573.

HR-MS (ESI-MS) m/z: [M+Na]+ Calc'd for C₃₈H₄₇NO₆S₂SiNa 728.2512; Found 728.2511.

Br 1-bromo-4-(2-bromoethyl)benzene (S34)

2-(4-bromophenyl)ethan-1-ol (2.01 g, 10.0 mmol) in DCM (25 mL) was cooled down to 0 °C. Triphenylphosphine (3.15 g, 12.0 mmol) and *N*-bromosuccinimide (2.14 g, 12.0 mmol) was then added into the solution and it was stirred overnight to room temperature. The reaction was quenched by saturated sodium bicarbonate solution. It was then separated, and the aqueous phase was extracted with DCM three times. The combined organic phase was dried with magnesium sulfate and concentrated to give the crude product. The crude product was purified via flash chromatography to give the product **S34** as a cloudy oil (2.45 g, 92.8% yield).

¹H NMR data matches previous report.³⁷



N-(4-bromophenethyl)-N-(2-(cyclopentanecarbonyl)phenyl)-4-

methylbenzenesulfonamide (S35).

Synthesized according to general procedure 3 starting from 2.91 mmol of the corresponding sulfonamide **S7** (1.00 g, 0.00291 mol) and 1-bromo-4-(2-bromoethyl)benzene **S34** (1.52 g, 0.00582 mol). Crude product was purified via flash column chromatography using 40% ether in hexanes to give sulfonamide **S35** as a white powder (1.06g, 69% yield).

*NMR had poor resolution at room temperature, so NMRs are reported below at 70 °C.

¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃, 70 °C) δ 7.59 (d, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 1H), 7.51 (d, *J* = 8.4 Hz, 2H), 7.38 (t, *J* = 7.5 Hz, 1H), 7.35 (d, *J* = 6.4 Hz, 2H), 7.33 (t, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 1H), 7.23 (d, *J* = 7.9 Hz, 2H), 6.96 (d, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 2H), 6.84 (d, *J* = 7.9 Hz, 1H), 3.77 (br s, 2H), 3.63 (quint, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 1H), 2.86 (br s, 2H), 2.42 (s, 3H), 1.93 (br s, 4H), 1.76 (m, 2H), 1.62 (m, 2H). ¹³C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl₃, 70 °C) δ 206.2, 143.3, 142.3, 137.4, 136.7, 136.1, 131.4, 130.4, 130.2, 129.2, 129.0, 128.7, 127.9, 127.8, 120.2, 53.1, 50.3, 34.3, 30.3, 26.1, 21.2. FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 3064, 3028, 2952, 2867, 1690, 1595, 1488, 1440, 1348, 1159, 572. HR-MS (EI-MS) m/z: [M+Na]+ Calc'd for C₂₇H₂₈BrNO₃SNa 548.0871; Found 548.0877.



(2-((N-(4-bromophenethyl)-4-

methylphenyl)sulfonamido)phenyl)(cyclopentylidene)methyl 4-

methylbenzenesulfonate (S36).

Synthesized according to general procedure 5 starting from the corresponding ketone **S35** (0.92 g, 0.00175 mol). Crude product was purified via flash column chromatography using 40% ether in hexanes to give vinyl tosylate **S36** as a white solid (0.72 g, 61% yield).

*NMR had poor resolution at room temperature, so NMRs are reported below at 70 °C.

¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃, 70 °C) δ 7.63 (m, 4H), 7.48 (d, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 1H), 7.31 (m, 4H), 7.26 (d, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 7.13 (d, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 2H), 6.94 (d, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 1H), 6.83 (d, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 2H), 3.54 (m, 2H), 2.63 (m, 3H), 2.43 (s, 3H), 2.35 (s, 3H), 2.26 (m, 3H), 1.65 (br s, 4H). ¹³C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl₃, 70 °C) δ 144.3, 143.3, 141.9, 138.5, 137.6, 136.6, 135.2, 133.2, 131.3, 130.3, 130.2, 130.1, 129.3, 129.2, 129.1, 129.0, 128.0, 128.0, 127.9, 120.0, 52.7, 33.9, 30.8, 30.1, 26.2, 25.8, 21.2, 21.2.

FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 3070, 3032, 2957, 2869, 1597, 1488, 1352, 1189, 1176, 1160, 806, 788, 659, 572, 553.

HR-MS (EI-MS) m/z: [M+Na]+ Calc'd for C₃₄H₃₄BrNO₅S₂Na 702.0959; Found 702.0975.



N-(2-(cyclohexanecarbonyl)phenyl)-4-methyl-N-(2-(thiophen-2-

yl)ethyl)benzenesulfonamide (S37).

Synthesized according to general procedure 3 starting from the corresponding sulfonamide **S5** (1.50 g, 0.00420 mol) and 2-(2-iodoethyl)thiophene (1.50 g, 0.00630 mol). Crude product was purified *via* flash column chromatography using 15% ether in hexanes to give sulfonamide **S37** as a white solid (0.80 g, 40% yield).

¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.59 (dd, J = 7.7, 1.7 Hz, 1H), 7.48 (d, J = 8.3 Hz, 2H), 7.39 (td, J = 7.5, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.34 (td, J = 7.7, 1.7 Hz, 1H), 7.24 (d, J = 8.3 Hz, 2H), 7.10 (dd, J = 5.1, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 6.88 (dd, J = 5.1, 3.4 Hz, 1H), 6.76 – 6.73 (m, 2H), 4.04 (br s, 1H), 3.60 (br s, 1H), 3.35 (tt, J = 11.4, 3.4 Hz 1H), 3.25 (br s, 1H), 3.00 (br s, 1H), 2.41 (s, 3H), 2.10 (br s, 1H), 1.92 (br s, 1H), 1.87 – 1.77 (m, 2H), 1.69 (d, J = 12.5 Hz, 1H), 1.63 – 1.53 (m, 1H), 1.41 – 1.18 (m, 4H).

¹³C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 206.8, 143.7, 141.4, 140.0, 136.5, 134.6, 130.8, 129.4, 129.3, 128.2, 127.8, 127.7, 126.8, 125.2, 123.7, 53.1, 49.0, 28.8, 25.8, 21.4.

FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 3068, 2929, 1854, 1690, 1596, 1444, 1350, 1162, 1092, 907, 728. HR-MS (ESI-MS) m/z: [M+Na]+ Calc'd for C₂₆H₂₉NO₃S₂Na 490.1487; Found 490.1496.



cyclohexylidene(2-((4-methyl-N-(2-(thiophen-2-

yl)ethyl)phenyl)sulfonamido)phenyl)methyl 4-methylbenzenesulfonate (S38).

Synthesized according to general procedure 3 starting from the corresponding ketone **S37** (0.55 g, 0.0012 mol). Crude product was purified *via* flash column chromatography using 30% diethyl ether in hexanes to give vinyl tosylate **S38** as a yellow solid (0.49 g, 67% yield). ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃, 55 °C) δ 7.67 (d, *J* = 7.9 Hz, 2H), 7.56 (d, *J* = 8.4 Hz, 2H), 7.55 (br s, 1H), 7.44 – 7.26 (m, 5H), 7.15 – 7.04 (m, 2H), 6.93 (br s, 1H), 6.87 – 6.85 (m, 1H), 6.60 (s, 1H), 3.65 (ddd, *J* = 13.7, 12.0, 5.3 Hz, 1H), 3.46 (ddd, *J* = 13.8, 12.0, 5.0 Hz, 1H), 2.95 (ddd, *J* = 14.5, 12.2, 5.3 Hz, 1H), 2.75 (ddd, *J* = 14.5, 11.9, 4.9 Hz, 1H), 2.51 – 2.40 (m, 1H), 2.43 (s, 3H), 2.32 – 2.25 (m, 1H), 2.31 (s, 3H), 2.20 – 2.00 (m, 2H), 1.80 – 1.66 (m, 2H), 1.66 – 1.50 (m, 4H).

¹³C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl₃, 55 °C) δ 144.4, 143.6, 140.8, 139.3, 136.8, 136.5, 135.6, 134.5, 133.7, 129.5, 129.4, 129.2, 128.3, 128.0, 127.9, 126.8, 125.0, 123.5, 52.9, 30.6, 28.7, 27.0, 26.8, 26.3, 21.5.

FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 2930, 2925, 2856, 1492, 1356, 1175, 1093, 802, 573.

HR-MS (ESI-MS) m/z: [M+NH₄]+ Calc'd for C₃₃H₃₉N₂O₅S₃ 639.2021; Found 639.2044.



1-(2-amino-4,5,6,7-tetrahydrobenzo[b]thiophen-3-yl)-2-methylpropan-1-one (S39).

Cyclohexanone (1.25 g, 12.7 mmol, 1.0 equiv) was added to a 100 mL schlenk followed by α -cyano isopropyl ketone (1.70 g, 15.3 mmol, 1.2 equiv) and this was dissolved in ethanol (20 mL). To this solution was added S₈ (3.92 g, 15.3 mmol, 1.2 equiv) and piperidine (1.30 g, 15.3 mmol, 1.2 equiv). The reaction vessel was sealed and heated to 65 °C in the silicone oil bath for 48 hours. Upon completion, the reaction was cooled to r.t. and poured onto ice. After the ice melted, the resultant suspension was filtered and washed with water followed by pentane. The light yellow solid (2.54 g, ca. 89%) was dried under vacuum and carried forward to the next step without further purification.



N-(3-isobutyryl-4,5,6,7-tetrahydrobenzo[b]thiophen-2-yl)-4-

methylbenzenesulfonamide (S40).

Synthesized from the crude material **S39** (2.54 g, ca. 11.3 mmol) from the previous step according to a slightly modified general procedure 2 using 26 equiv of DCM (18 mL) instead of 13 equiv. The crude product was purified by flash column chromatography using 30% ether/hexanes to give roughly a 7:1 mixture of desired sulfonamide **S40** to ditosylated

sulfonamide (2.80 g, ca. 60% yield desired). This was carried forward without additional purification. Representative ¹H NMR shifts of desired product shown below.

¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 11.60 (s, 1H), 7.75 (d, J = 8.3 Hz, 2H), 7.24 (d, J = 8.3 Hz, 2H), 3.12 (sept, J = 6.7 Hz, 1H), 2.74 – 2.59 (m, 4H), 2.38 (s, 3H), 1.82 – 1.72 (m, 4H), 0.99 (d, J = 6.7 Hz, 6H).



N-(3-isobutyryl-4,5,6,7-tetrahydrobenzo[b]thiophen-2-yl)-4-methyl-N-

phenethylbenzenesulfonamide (S41).

Synthesized according to general procedure 3 starting from the corresponding sulfonamide **S40** (2.80 g, 0.00742 mol) (7:1 mixture) and (2-iodoethyl)benzene (2.57 g, 0.0111 mol). Crude product was purified *via* flash column chromatography using 20% ether in hexanes and then recrystallization from boiling DCM/hexanes (1:1) to give sulfonamide **S41** as yellow crystalline solid (1.35 g, 38% yield).

*NMR had poor resolution at room temperature, so NMRs are reported below at 70 °C.

¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃, 70 °C) δ 7.55 (d, *J* = 8.3 Hz, 2H), 7.30 – 7.21 (m, 5H), 7.20 – 7.15 (d, *J* = 8.3 Hz, 2H), 4.15 – 3.21 (br s, 2H), 3.55 (quint, *J* = 6.9 Hz, 1H), 2.92 (t, *J* = 8.5 Hz, 2H), 2.71 – 2.51 (br s, 2H), 2.64 (t, *J* = 6.1 Hz, 2H), 2.42 (s, 3H), 1.94 – 1.68 (m, 4H), 1.13 (s, 6H).

¹³C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl₃, 70 °C) δ 204.4, 144.3, 140.0, 137.9, 137.5, 134.4 (d, *J* = 2.9 Hz), 133.1, 129.5, 128.7, 128.6, 128.4, 126.7, 54.6, 39.4, 34.9, 25.2, 25.1, 22.9, 22.4, 21.6.
FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 3206, 3029, 2931, 2868, 1685, 1597, 1560, 1454, 1356, 1167, 1091, 1059, 662, 575.

HR-MS (ESI-MS) m/z: [M+Na]+ Calc'd for C₂₇H₃₁NO₃S₂Na 504.1643; Found 504.1660.



2-methyl-1-(2-((4-methyl-N-phenethylphenyl)sulfonamido)-4,5,6,7-

tetrahydrobenzo[b]thiophen-3-yl)prop-1-en-1-yl 4-methylbenzenesulfonate (S42).

Synthesized according to a slightly modified general procedure 5 starting from the corresponding ketone **S41** (1.35 g, 0.00280 mol). Followed procedure with exception that 10 mL of PhMe was used for ketone solution and 14 mL DCM used for tosic anhydride due to poor solubility of ketone. Crude product was purified *via* flash column chromatography using 20% diethyl ether in hexanes to give vinyl tosylate **S42** as a white solid (0.39 g, 22% yield). ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃, 70 °C) δ 7.69 (d, *J* = 7.9 Hz, 2H), 7.63 (d, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 7.26 – 7.19 (m, 7.7 Hz, 4H), 7.17 (app q, *J* = 7.0 Hz, 1H), 7.12 (d, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 7.00 (d, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 2H), 3.65 (td, *J* = 12.8, 12.4, 5.4 Hz, 1H), 3.50 (td, *J* = 12.7, 5.0 Hz, 1H), 2.86 (dd, *J* = 16.4, 5.5 Hz, 1H), 2.80 – 2.61 (m, 4H), 2.45 – 2.35 (m, 1H), 2.41 (s, 3H), 2.33 (s, 3H), 1.98 – 1.81 (m, 4H), 1.79 (s, 3H), 1.61 (s, 3H).

¹³C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl₃, 70 °C) δ 144.3, 143.5, 138.6, 136.8, 136.7, 135.2, 134.7, 134.6, 133.1, 131.1, 129.5, 129.5, 129.4, 128.7, 128.4, 128.3, 127.8, 127.4, 126.3, 54.2, 34.8, 25.4, 25.0, 23.5, 22.8, 21.4, 21.3, 20.0, 18.5.

FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 3199, 3063, 3028, 2932, 2858, 1598, 1453, 1351, 1176, 1162, 1092, 1059, 813, 661, 580, 547.

HR-MS (ESI-MS) m/z: [M+Na]+ Calc'd for C₃₄H₃₇NO₅S₃Na 658.1732; Found 658.1712.





2-methyl-1-(2-(3-phenoxyprop-1-yn-1-yl)phenyl)propan-1-one (S43).

Copper iodide (6.43 mg, 0.034 mmol, 0.01 equiv) and Pd(PPh₃)₄ (39.0 mg, 0.034 mmol, 0.01 equiv) were added to a Schlenk flask and vacuum/backfilled three times. This was dissolved in DMF (12 mL) and added diisopropylamine (1.02 g, 10.1 mmol, 3 equiv) aryl triflate **S17** (1.00 g, 3.38 mmol, 1.0 equiv) and (prop-2-yn-1-yloxy)benzene (1.34 g, 10.1 mmol, 3.0 equiv). The resulting solution was heated to 80 °C in the silicone oil bath for 16 hours. The reaction was cooled to r.t and diluted with 30 mL of H₂O. This was then extracted with diethyl ether (3 x 40 mL). The combined organics were washed with 1M aqueous HCl (50 mL), water (50 mL), and brine (50 mL). Afterwards, the organic layer was dried over MgSO₄, filtered, and concentrated to give crude alkyne. This was purified by silica flash column chromatography using 3% ether in hexanes to give desired product **S43** as an orange oil (540 mg, 58% yield).

¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.53 – 7.46 (m, 2H), 7.42 – 7.35 (m, 2H), 7.34 – 7.30 (m, 2H), 7.01 (ddd, J = 9.1, 7.0, 0.9 Hz, 3H), 4.94 (s, 2H), 3.53 (sept, J = 6.9 Hz, 1H), 1.09 (d, J = 6.9, 6H).

¹³C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 208.0, 157.6, 141.9, 133.8, 130.3, 129.5, 128.6, 127.7, 121.5, 119.9, 114.9, 88.7, 85.4, 56.4, 38.9, 18.4.

FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 3063, 2971, 2932, 2871, 1691, 1598, 1589, 1494, 1211, 1033, 752, 590.

HR-MS (CI-MS) m/z: [M]+ Calc'd for C₁₉H₁₈O₂ 278.1307; Found 278.1307.


2-methyl-1-(2-(3-phenoxypropyl)phenyl)propan-1-one (S44).

To a 25 mL roundbottom flask was added 10% Pd/C (70.4 mg, 0.066 mmol, 0.034 equiv) and suspended in 8 mL of ethanol. To this was added alkyne **S43** (0.540 g, 1.94 mmol, 1.0 equiv) and the reaction was sparged with hydrogen gas for 10 minutes. After the sparging, a new hydrogen balloon was attached and reaction stirred for 18 hours. At this point, the reaction was filtered through celite and concentrated. The crude material was purified by a short silica plug with 5% ether in hexanes to give pure ketone **S44** as a light yellow oil (0.230 g, 1.94 mmol, 42% yield).

¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.53 (dd, J = 7.7, 1.3 Hz, 1H), 7.38 (td, J = 7.5, 1.3 Hz, 1H), 7.33 – 7.19 (m, 4H), 6.94 (td, J = 7.3, 1.1 Hz, 1H), 6.91 (d, J = 8.8 Hz, 2H), 4.00 (t, J = 6.2 Hz, 2H), 3.36 (sept, J = 6.9 Hz, 1H), 2.96 – 2.79 (m, 2H), 2.26 – 1.97 (m, 2H), 1.18 (d, J = 6.9 Hz, 6H).

¹³C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 209.3, 158.9, 141.1, 138.6, 130.9, 130.7, 129.4, 127.6, 125.8, 120.5, 114.5, 67.0, 38.9, 31.3, 30.2, 18.7.

FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 3067, 2930, 2869, 1686, 1599, 1497, 1469, 1243, 1037, 976, 751, 591.

HR-MS (CI-MS) m/z: [M+H]+ Calc'd for C₁₉H₂₃O₂ 283.1698; Found 283.1700.

.OPh

2-methyl-1-(2-(3-phenoxypropyl)phenyl)prop-1-en-1-yl 4-methylbenzenesulfonate (845).

Synthesized according to general procedure 5 starting from the corresponding ketone **S44** (0.23 g, 0.00082 mol). Crude product was purified *via* flash column chromatography using 30% ether in hexanes to give vinyl tosylate **S45** as a white solid (90 mg, 25% yield).

¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.36 (d, J = 8.4 Hz, 2H), 7.31 – 7.24 (m, 1H), 7.26 – 7.25 (m, 1H), 7.23 – 7.19 (m, 1H), 7.16 (td, J = 7.5, 1.6 Hz, 1H), 7.09 (td, J = 7.5, 1.4 Hz, 1H), 7.01 (t, J = 8.0 Hz, 3H), 6.93 (t, J = 7.4 Hz, 1H), 6.84 (d, J = 7.7 Hz, 2H), 3.87 – 3.79 (m, 2H), 2.77 – 2.65 (m, 1H), 2.51 – 2.40 (m, 1H), 2.31 (s, 3H), 1.91 (s, 3H), 1.90 – 1.83 (m, 2H), 1.55 (s, 3H).

¹³C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 158.9, 143.9, 141.1, 140.7, 134.5, 132.7, 132.3, 129.4,
129.1, 128.9, 128.8, 127.5, 127.2, 125.4, 120.5, 114.4, 66.8, 29.7, 29.1, 21.5, 19.8, 18.3.
FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 3065, 2923, 2870, 1600, 1497, 1367, 1245, 1177, 1080, 1037, 990.
HR-MS (ESI-MS) m/z: [M+Na]+ Calc'd for C₂₆H₂₈O₄SNa 459.1606; Found 459.1619.



1-(4-methoxy-2-((4-methyl-N-phenethylphenyl)sulfonamido)phenyl)-2-methylprop-1en-1-yl 4-methylbenzenesulfonate (S46).

Synthesized according to general procedure 5 starting from the cooresponding ketone N-(2isobutyryl-5-methoxyphenyl)-4-methyl-N-phenethylbenzenesulfonamide (0.548 g, 0.00158 mol). Crude product was purified *via* flash column chromatography using 1:1 hexanes:diethyl ether to give vinyl tosylate **S46** as a yellow solid (0.31 g, 32% yield).

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.58 (d, *J* = 7.9 Hz, 2H), 7.51 (d, *J* = 8.2 Hz, 2H), 7.31 (br s, 1H), 7.21–7.18 (m, 2H), 7.17 – 7.07 (m, 3H), 7.03 (d, *J* = 8.1 Hz, 2H), 6.86 (d, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 2H,), 6.85 – 6.77 (m, 1H), 6.39 (br s, 1H), 3.66 (s, 3H), 3.53 (ddd, *J* = 12.2, 12.2, 6.0 Hz,

1H), 3.29 (ddd, *J* = 13.6, 12.2, 4.9 Hz, 1H), 2.66 (ddd, *J* = 12.6, 12.6, 5.3 Hz, 1H), 2.50 – 2.38 (m, 1H), 2.35 (s, 3H), 2.24 (s, 3H), 1.71 (s, 3H), 1.56 (s, 3H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 159.0, 143.5, 142.5, 139.1, 137.5, 136.8, 135.12 133.4, 133.2, 128.4, 128.4, 127.7, 127.3, 127.2, 126.9, 125.3, 114.0, 112.2, 54.4, 52.1, 33.5, 20.5, 20.5, 19.5, 17.7.

FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 3028, 2924, 1686, 1603, 1569, 1496, 1456, 1352, 1305, 1291, 1189, 1176, 1162, 1093, 1034, 985, 948, 830, 814, 786, 756, 695, 658, 567.

HR-MS (ESI-MS) m/z: [M+Na]⁺ Calc'd for C₃₃H₃₅NO₆S₂Na 628.1804; Found 628.1814.





1-allyl-4-methoxybenzene (5.00 g, 33.7 mmol) was dissolved in DCM (68 mL) and the solution was cooled down to 0 °C. m-chloroperoxybenzoic acid (9.98 g, 40.5 mmol, 70%) was added portion wise over 10 min. The reaction was stirred under room temperature overnight. It was then quenched with saturated NaHSO₃ solution. After the separation, the organic phase was washed with saturated NaHCO₃ solution and brine. It was then dried with MgSO₄, filtered, and concentrated in vacuo to get the product as an orange liquid **S47** (4.42

g, 79.8% yield). The product **S47** was used in the next step without further purification. Spectral data match those reported in the literature.³⁸

1-(3-methoxyphenyl)-3-(4-methoxyphenyl)propan-2-ol (S48).

In a flamed-dried 3-neck flask was added magnesium (0.51 g, 21.1 mmol) and THF (22 mL). A small amount of iodine was added to assist the initiation of Grignard reagent formation. 1bromo-3-methoxybenzene (3.78 g, 20.2 mmol) was added into the reaction slowly to keep a gentle reflux of the reaction. Upon completion of the addition, the reaction was left stirred for 1 hour. Then copper iodide (0.38 g, 2.02 mmol) was added into the reaction and it was cooled down to 0 °C. **S47** (2.21 g, 13.5 mmol) in THF (22 mL) was added slowly into the reaction, and it was then warmed up to room temperature overnight. The reaction was quenched with saturated NH₄Cl solution at 0 °C and then diluted with diethyl ether. After the separation, the aqueous phase was extracted with diethyl ether two more times. The combined organic phase was washed with brine, dried with MgSO₄, filtered, and concentrated in vacuo to give the crude product. The crude product was purified *via* flash column chromatography using 1:1 diethyl ether and hexanes to give the product **S48** as a yellowish oil (2.64 g, 72% yield).

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.25 – 7.20 (m, 1H), 7.15 (d, *J* = 8.7 Hz, 2H), 6.86 (d, *J* = 8.6 Hz, 2H), 6.84 – 6.80 (m, 1H), 6.80 – 6.76 (m, 2H), 4.02 (tt, *J* = 8.1, 4.7 Hz, 1H), 3.80 (s, 3H), 3.80 (s, 3H), 2.82 (ddd, *J* = 12.7, 7.8, 4.6 Hz, 2H), 2.71 (ddd, *J* = 13.6, 8.1, 5.0 Hz, 2H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 160.1, 158.6, 140.4, 130.70, 130.67, 129.9, 122.1, 115.4, 114.3, 112.2, 73.9, 55.6, 55.5, 43.7, 42.8. FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 3436, 2995, 2936, 2835, 1610, 1583, 1511, 1488, 1245, 1035, 806, 781, 696.

HR-MS (FD-MS) m/z: [M]+ Calc'd for C₁₇H₂₀O₃ 272.1412; Found 272.1410.



1-(2-bromo-3-(4-methoxyphenyl)propyl)-3-methoxybenzene (S49).

In a flask was added **S48** (1.32 g, 4.85 mmol), DCM (15 mL) and carbon tetrabromide (2.41 g, 7.27 mmol). The solution was cooled down to 0 °C. Triphenylphosphine (1.27 g, 4.85 mmol) was dissolved in DCM (10 mL) in another flask and slowly added to the reaction. The reaction was warmed up to room temperature overnight. It was then quenched with DCM and water. After the separation, the aqueous phase was extracted with DCM two more times. The combined organic phase was washed with brine, dried with MgSO₄, filtered, and concentrated in vacuo to give the crude product. The crude product was purified *via* flash column chromatography using 2% diethyl ether in hexanes to give the product **S49** as a colorless liquid (0.56 g, 34% yield).

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.23 (t, *J* = 8.1 Hz, 1H), 7.12 (d, *J* = 8.2 Hz, 2H), 6.85 (d, *J* = 8.7 Hz, 2H), 6.82 – 6.77 (m, 2H), 6.76 – 6.74 (m, 1H), 4.33 (tt, *J* = 8.1, 5.8 Hz, 1H), 3.80 (s, 3H), 3.80 (s, 3H), 3.22 – 3.04 (m, 4H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 159.9, 158.8, 140.4, 130.8, 130.6, 129.8, 121.9, 115.4, 114.2, 112.3, 57.8, 55.6, 55.5, 45.2, 44.4.

FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 2989, 2870, 1393, 1143.

HR-MS (FD-MS) m/z: [M]+ Calc'd for C₁₇H₁₉O₂Br 334.0568; Found 334.0563.



1-(2-mercaptophenyl)-2-methylpropan-1-one (S50).

In a flamed dried 3-neck flask was added 2-mercaptobenzoic acid (2.00 g, 13.0 mmol) and THF (26 mL). Lithium hydride (0.31 g, 39 mmol) was added slowly, and the reaction was refluxed for 45 min. Then the solution was cooled down to 0 °C. Isopropyllithium (0.7 M in pentane, 18.5 mL, 13.0 mmol) was added slowly to the solution. After 12 hours, the reaction was quenched with saturated NH₄Cl solution. The solution was then acidified with 3 M HCl until the aqueous phase did not crash out solid anymore. It was then diluted with water and diethyl ether. After the separation, the aqueous phase was extracted with diethyl ether two more times. The combined organic phase was washed with brine, dried with MgSO₄, filtered, and concentrated in vacuo to give the crude product. The crude product was purified via flash column chromatography using 12.5% diethyl ether in hexanes to give the product **S50** as a yellow liquid (1.73 g, 74% yield).

¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.78 (d, J = 7.9 Hz, 1H), 7.32 – 7.09 (m, 3H), 4.17 (s, 1H), 3.47 (hept, J = 6.8 Hz, 1H), 1.16 (d, J = 6.9 Hz, 6H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 205.4, 137.3, 132.7, 132.0, 131.9, 130.3, 124.7, 36.3, 19.1.
FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 2971, 2931, 2871, 2537, 1665, 1587, 1558, 1468, 1220, 1083, 988, 739.

HR-MS (FD-MS) m/z: [M]+ Calc'd for C₁₀H₁₂OS 180.0609; Found 180.0603.



1-(2-((1-(3-methoxyphenyl)-3-(4-methoxyphenyl)propan-2-yl)thio)phenyl)-2methylpropan-1-one (S51).

In a flamed Schlenk flask was charged with NaH (89 mg, 2.2 mmol, 60% dispersion in mineral oil) and THF (11 mL). The reaction was cooled down to 0 degree and **S50** (0.40 g, 2.2 mmol) was added dropwise. The reaction was then warmed to room temperature and left for 15 minutes. After, **S49** (1.1 g, 3.3 mmol) was added and the reaction was refluxed at 66 °C in the silicone oil bath overnight. After the reaction was complete, the reaction was diluted with diethyl ether and water. After the separation of the two phases, the aqueous phase was extracted with diethyl ether two more times. The combined organic phase was washed with 1M NaOH, saturated NH₄Cl, and brine. It was then dried with MgSO₄, filtered, and concentrated in vacuo. The crude product was purified by column chromatography to get the product **S51** as a pale-yellow oil (0.57 g, 59% yield).

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.30 (td, J = 7.6, 1.4 Hz, 2H), 7.24 (td, J = 7.6, 1.6 Hz, 1H), 7.15 (td, J = 7.4, 1.3 Hz, 1H), 7.11 (t, J = 7.9 Hz, 1H), 6.99 (d, J = 8.5 Hz, 2H), 6.73 (d, J = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 6.66 (dd, J = 7.9, 2.1 Hz, 2H), 6.60 (t, J = 2.0 Hz, 1H), 3.71 (s, 6H), 3.49 (pent, J = 7.0 Hz, 1H), 3.21 (hept, J = 6.8 Hz, 1H), 2.79 – 2.63 (m, 4H), 1.04 (d, J = 6.9 Hz, 6H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 209.1, 159.6, 158.2, 142.6, 140.7, 134.5, 132.0, 131.0, 130.24, 130.21, 129.3, 127.9, 126.2, 121.6, 115.0, 113.7, 111.7, 55.3, 55.2, 52.1, 40.6, 39.7, 39.6, 18.45, 18.43.

FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 2962, 2929, 1691, 1611, 1602, 1584, 1512, 1465, 1438, 1261, 1248, 1037, 978.

HR-MS (ESI-MS) m/z: [M+Na]+ Calc'd for C₂₇H₃₀O₃SNa 457.1813; Found 457.1820.



1-(2-((1-(3-methoxyphenyl)-3-(4-methoxyphenyl)propan-2-yl)thio)phenyl)-2-

methylprop-1-en-1-yl 4-methylbenzenesulfonate (128).

Synthesized according to a slightly modified general procedure 5 starting from the corresponding ketone **S51** (0.56 g, 0.0013 mol). Crude product was purified *via* flash column chromatography using 33% diethyl ether in hexanes to give vinyl tosylate **128** as a yellowish oil (0.42 g, 54% yield).

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.37 (dd, J = 8.4, 2.8 Hz, 2H), 7.25 – 7.09 (m, 3H), 7.07 (d, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 7.01 (dd, J = 8.5, 1.9 Hz, 2H), 6.91 (dd, J = 8.3, 3.5 Hz, 2H), 6.83 – 6.75 (m, 2H), 6.75 – 6.70 (m, 1H), 6.68 (d, J = 7.6 Hz, 1H), 6.64 (s, 1H), 3.79 (m, 3H), 3.77 (m, 3H), 3.44 (tt, J = 7.4, 3.7 Hz, 1H), 2.80 – 2.51 (m, 4H), 2.20 (m, 3H), 1.93 (m, 3H), 1.57 (s, 3H). (Some singlet peaks split likely due to the existence of rotamers.)

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 158.5, 157.1, 142.8, 140.0, 139.7, 138.8, 136.1, 133.3, 131.8, 130.3, 130.0, 129.2, 128.9, 128.2, 127.9, 127.0, 126.6, 124.4, 120.6, 114.1, 112.6, 110.4,

54.2, 54.1, 50.1, 39.5, 38.6, 20.4, 18.9, 17.5. (Some peaks split likely due to the existence of rotamers.)

FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 2915, 1600, 1584, 1512, 1463, 1455, 1436, 1364, 1248, 1189, 1176, 1085, 1036, 990, 823, 809, 793, 740.

HR-MS (ESI-MS) m/z: [M+NH₄]+ Calc'd for C₃₄H₄₀NO₅S₂ 606.2348; Found 606.2336.



2-benzyloxirane (S52).

Allylbenzene (5.00 g, 42.3 mmol) was dissolved in DCM (84 mL) and the solution was cooled down to 0 °C. m-chloroperoxybenzoic acid (12.5 g, 50.8 mmol, 70%) was added portion wise over 10 min. The reaction was stirred under room temperature overnight. It was then quenched with saturated NaHSO₃ solution. After the separation, the organic phase was washed with saturated NaHCO₃ solution and brine. It was then dried with MgSO₄, filtered, and concentrated in vacuo to get the product as a pale yellow liquid **S52** (3.05 g, 53.7% yield). The product **S52** was used in the next step without further purification. Spectral data match those reported in the literature.³⁸

U он D₅ 1-phenyl-3-(phenyl-*d*₅)propan-2-ol (S53).

In a flamed-dried 3-neck flask was added magnesium (0.87 g, 35.7 mmol) and THF (36 mL). A small amount of iodine was added to assist the initiation of Grignard reagent formation. 1bromobenzene-2,3,4,5,6-d₅ (5.52 g, 34.1 mmol) was added into the reaction slowly to keep a gentle reflux of the reaction. Upon completion of the addition, the reaction was left stirred for 1 hour. Then copper iodide (0.65 g, 3.4 mmol) was added into the reaction and it was cooled down to 0 °C. **S52** (3.05 g, 22.7 mmol) in THF (36 mL) was added slowly into the reaction, and it was then warmed up to room temperature overnight. The reaction was quenched with saturated NH₄Cl solution at 0 °C and then diluted with diethyl ether. After the separation, the aqueous phase was extracted with diethyl ether two more times. The combined organic phase was washed with brine, dried with MgSO₄, filtered, and concentrated in vacuo to give the crude product. The crude product was purified *via* flash column chromatography using 33% diethyl ether in hexanes to give the product **S53** as a colorless liquid (4.37 g, 88.5% yield).

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.36 – 7.28 (m, 2H), 7.25–7.21 (ddd, *J* = 7.0, 3.4, 1.6 Hz, 3H), 4.08 (tt, *J* = 8.2, 4.7 Hz, 1H), 2.88 (ddd, *J* = 13.7, 4.8, 1.1 Hz, 2H), 2.77 (ddd, *J* = 13.7, 8.2, 0.8 Hz, 2H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 138.5, 138.3, 129.4, 129.0 (t, *J* = 24 Hz), 128.6, 128.1 (t, *J* = 24 Hz), 126.5, 126.0 (t, *J* = 24 Hz), 73.6, 43.4, 43.3.

FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 3407, 3027, 2916, 2273, 1600, 1569, 1496, 1454, 1384, 1355, 1189, 1176, 1068, 1030, 988, 821, 747, 699, 545.

HR-MS (FD-MS) m/z: [M]+ Calc'd for C₁₅H₁₁OD₅ 217.1515; Found 217.1523.

1-(2-bromo-3-phenylpropyl)benzene-2,3,4,5,6-*d*₅ (854).

In a flask was added **S53** (3.36 g, 15.5 mmol), DCM (20 mL) and carbon tetrabromide (7.69 g, 23.2 mmol). The solution was cooled down to 0 °C. Triphenylphosphine (6.08 g, 23.2 mmol) was dissolved in DCM (13 mL) in another flask and slowly added to the reaction. The reaction was warmed up to room temperature overnight. It was then quenched with DCM and water. After the separation, the aqueous phase was extracted with DCM two more times. The combined organic phase was washed with brine, dried with MgSO₄, filtered, and concentrated in vacuo to give the crude product. The crude product was purified *via* flash column chromatography using 2% diethyl ether in hexanes to give the product **S54** as a colorless liquid (3.00 g, 63.0% yield, 91% purity).

*The product had 9% of alkene side product from elimination, but was used directly in the next synthetic step.

¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.36 – 7.16 (m, 5H), 4.37 (tt, *J* = 8.2, 5.7 Hz, 1H), 3.22 (ddd, *J* = 14.3, 5.8, 1.3 Hz, 2H), 3.14 (ddd, *J* = 14.3, 8.2, 1.8 Hz, 2H).





In a flamed Schlenk flask was charged with NaH (0.27 g, 6.7 mmol, 60% dispersion in mineral oil) and THF (22 mL). **S50** (0.80 g, 4.4 mmol) was added dropwise. The reaction was stirred for 15 minutes under room temperature. After, **S54** (1.9 g, 6.7 mmol) was added

and the reaction was refluxed at 66 °C in the silicone oil bath overnight. After the reaction was complete, the reaction was diluted with diethyl ether and water. After the separation of the two phases, the aqueous phase was extracted with diethyl ether two more times. The combined organic phase was washed with 1M NaOH, saturated NH₄Cl and brine. It was then dried with MgSO₄, filtered, and concentrated in vacuo. The crude product was purified by column chromatography to get the product **S55** as a pale yellow oil (0.75 g, 45% yield).

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.39–7.35 (m, 2H), 7.31 (t, J = 7.6 Hz, 1H), 7.29–7.27 (m, 1H), 7.25 – 7.16 (m, 3H), 7.14 (d, J = 6.9 Hz, 2H), 3.60 (penta, J = 7.0 Hz, 1H), 3.27 (hepta, J = 6.9 Hz, 1H), 2.90 – 2.76 (m, 4H), 1.10 (d, J = 6.9 Hz, 6H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 208.0, 141.6, 138.0, 137.8, 133.3, 131.0, 129.2, 128.2, 127.3, 126.9, 125.4, 125.2, 50.9, 39.6, 39.5, 38.6, 17.4.

FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 2967, 2925, 2850, 2273, 1692, 1585, 1496, 1454, 1435, 1382, 1342, 1261, 1215, 1077, 1029, 977, 747, 700, 544.

HR-MS (FD-MS) m/z: [M]+ Calc'd for C₂₅H₂₁OSD₅ 379.2018; Found 379.2011.



2-methyl-1-(2-((1-phenyl-3-(phenyl-d5)propan-2-yl)thio)phenyl)prop-1-en-1-yl-4-

methylbenzenesulfonate (131).

Synthesized according to a slightly modified general procedure 5 starting from the corresponding ketone **S55** (0.76 g, 0.0020 mol). Crude product was purified *via* flash column

chromatography using 33% diethyl ether in hexanes to give vinyl tosylate **131** as a yellowish oil (0.50 g, 47% yield).

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.30 (d, *J* = 8.8 Hz, 2H), 7.23–7.20 (m, 1H), 7.19 – 6.95 (m, 9H), 6.82 (d, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 3.42 (p, *J* = 7.0 Hz, 1H), 2.77 – 2.49 (m, 4H), 2.12 (s, 3H), 1.86 (s, 3H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 142.8, 138.7, 138.3, 138.0, 136.1, 134.0, 133.3, 131.8, 128.9, 128.2, 128.1, 127.93, 127.91, 127.3, 127.2, 127.0, 126.6, 125.4, 125.3, 124.4, 49.9, (39.47, 39.42, 39.37, 39.32), 20.4, 18.9, 17.5. (The secondary alkyl carbon split to 4 peaks likely due to the existence of rotamers.)

FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 2920, 2853, 2362, 2273, 1634, 1598, 1496, 1454, 1436, 1364, 1189, 1176, 1085, 1069, 990, 821, 807, 792, 740, 701, 669, 590, 561, 546.

HR-MS (FD-MS) m/z: [M]+ Calc'd for C₃₂H₂₇O₃S₂D₅ 533.2107; Found 533.2099.

2.7.3 Friedel-Crafts reactions



General Procedure 6: In the glovebox, lithium tetrakis(pentafluorophenyl)borate (0.1 equiv), lithium hydride (5.0 equiv), and vinyl tosylate (1.0 equiv) were dissolved into 1,2-dichlorobenzene (618 equiv) to generate a 0.0143 M solution for the vinyl tosylate. The reaction was heated under 140 °C overnight. The reaction solution was directly purified *via* flash column chromatography using hexanes and then ethyl acetate to get rid of 1,2-dichlorobenzene. Then the crude product was purified *via* flash column chromatography again to get the pure product.



8-chloro-12-cyclohexylidene-5-tosyl-5,6,7,12-tetrahydrodibenzo[*b,e*]azocine (103).

Synthesized according to general procedure 6 starting from the corresponding vinyl tosylate **101** (0.150 g, 0.000231 mol). Crude product was purified via flash column chromatography using 10% ethyl ether in hexanes to give the product **103** as a white powder (0.080 g, 73% yield).

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.85 (d, J = 7.8 Hz, 2H), 7.36 (d, J = 7.9 Hz, 2H), 7.25 (m, 2H), 7.18 (m, 1H), 7.08 (m, 3H), 6.90 (d, J = 8.0 Hz, 1H), 4.31 (dd, J = 15.3, 6.9 Hz, 1H), 3.56 (dd, J = 14.9, 6.9 Hz, 1H), 3.36 (dd, J = 15.1, 9.4 Hz, 1H), 2.80 (dd, J = 15.3, 9.4 Hz, 1H), 2.46 (s, 3H), 2.21 (m, 2H), 2.06 (m, 2H), 1.87 (m, 1H), 1.57 (m, 5H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 146.1, 145.4, 143.2, 140.5, 139.4, 139.2, 136.7, 133.9, 130.1, 130.0, 129.8, 128.7, 128.1, 127.8, 127.7, 127.6, 127.4, 127.3, 50.3, 33.7, 31.8, 31.5, 28.1,



FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 3062, 2925, 2852, 1560, 1482, 1446, 1349, 1158, 1092, 569. HR-MS (ESI-MS) m/z: [M+Na]+ Calc'd for C₂₈H₂₈ClNO₂SNa 500.1427; Found 500.1436.



12-(propan-2-ylidene)-5-tosyl-5,6,7,12-tetrahydrodibenzo[*b*,*e*]azocine (106).

Synthesized according to general procedure 6 at 140 °C for 36 hours starting from the corresponding vinyl tosylate **S16** (28.6 mg, 0.0500 mmol). Crude product was purified *via*

flash column chromatography using a gradient of 1-15% diethyl ether in hexanes to give arene **106** as white solid (11.3 mg, 56% yield).

Performing the reaction with **S16** (572 mg, 1.00 mmol) in a Schlenk heating at 140 °C in the silicone oil bath outside the glovebox gave the product **106** as a white solid (265 mg, 66% yield).

*NMR had poor resolution at room temperature, so NMR spectra are reported below at 75 °C.

¹H NMR (500 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆, 75 °C) δ 7.70 (d, J = 7.8 Hz, 2H), 7.38 (d, J = 7.9 Hz, 2H), 7.30 – 7.16 (m, 2H), 7.15 – 7.00 (m, 6H), 3.60 (br s, 2H), 2.97 (br s, 2H), 2.39 (s, 3H), 1.68 (s, 3H), 1.56 (s, 3H).

¹³C NMR (126 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆, 75 °C) δ 143.7, 143.5, 139.7, 138.9, 138.7, 134.5, 131.6, 130.5, 130.3, 128.9, 128.4, 127.8, 127.7, 127.3, 127.2, 51.5 (br s), 37.5 (br s), 21.9, 21.4, 21.1.

FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 3065, 2955, 2923, 2854, 1738, 1599, 1484, 1447, 1348, 1325, 1159, 1092, 1020, 813, 717, 568, 549.

HR-MS (CI-MS) m/z: [M]+ Calc'd for C₂₅H₂₅NO₂S 403.1606; Found 403.1620.



13-(propan-2-ylidene)-5-tosyl-6,7,8,13-tetrahydro-5H-dibenzo[b,e]azonine (107).

Synthesized according to general procedure 6 at 140 °C for 36 hours starting from the corresponding vinyl tosylate **S11** (29.5 mg, 0.0500 mmol). Crude product was purified *via* flash column chromatography using a gradient of 1-15% diethyl ether in hexanes to give the product **107** as white solid (17.1 mg, 82% yield).

¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.80 – 7.72 (m, 2H), 7.40 (d, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 1H), 7.34 (d, *J*= 8.1 Hz, 2H), 7.28 (t, *J* = 7.5 Hz, 1H), 7.17 (d, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 1H), 7.15 – 6.96 (m, 4H), 6.72 (d, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 1H), 3.64 – 3.43 (m, 2H), 2.71 – 2.48 (m, 2H), 2.46 (s, 3H), 1.79 (s, 3H), 1.60 (s, 3H), 1.57 – 1.47 (m, 2H).

¹³C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 158.0, 142.4, 139.6, 137.5, 132.8, 131.7, 131.0, 129.1, 128.8, 127.9, 126.8, 125.9, 123.9, 122.3, 73.7, 31.6, 29.6, 21.4, 21.1.

FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 3062, 2973, 2920, 2859, 1597, 1483, 1445, 1350, 1161, 1083, 814, 754, 697.

HR-MS (CI-MS) m/z: [M+H]+ Calc'd for C₂₆H₂₈NO₂S 418.1841; Found 418.1840.



12-(propan-2-ylidene)-7,12-dihydro-6H-dibenzo[b,e]thiocine (109).

Synthesized according to general procedure 6 starting from the corresponding vinyl tosylate **S14** (21.9 mg, 0.0500 mmol). Crude product was purified via flash column chromatography using 5% ethyl ether in hexanes to give the product **109** as an oil (6.1 mg, 46% yield). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.35 (d, *J* = 7.5 Hz, 1H), 7.23 (d, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 1H), 7.17 (t, *J*

= 7.5 Hz, 2H), 7.12 (t, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 1H), 7.10 – 7.03 (m, 3H), 3.50 – 3.25 (m, 2H), 3.09 –

2.85 (m, 2H), 1.71 (s, 3H), 1.61 (s, 3H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 140.1, 136.1, 136.0, 132.0, 131.8, 130.9, 130.2, 129.7, 127.1, 127.0, 126.9, 126.8, 37.8, 33.1, 21.6, 21.1.

FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 2917, 2850, 1664, 1484, 1463, 1444, 1260, 1018, 798, 749.

HR-MS (FD-MS) m/z: [2M]+ Calc'd for C₃₆H₃₆S₂ 532.2258; Found 532.2257.



12-(propan-2-ylidene)-5,6,7,12-tetrahydrodibenzo[a,d][8]annulene (110).

Synthesized according to general procedure 6 starting from the corresponding vinyl tosylate **S20** (105 mg, 0.250 mmol). Crude product was purified via flash column chromatography using 5% ethyl ether in hexanes to give the product **110** as a white powder (50 mg, 81% yield).

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.20 – 7.01 (m, 8H), 2.87 (app d, *J* = 55.2 Hz, 4H), 2.26 (br s, 1H), 1.65 (s, 6H), 1.55 – 1.39 (m, 1H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 144.3, 140.7, 136.9, 129.7, 128.8, 127.9, 126.5, 126.4, 37.9 (br), 29.1 (br), 20.7.

FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 3058, 3012, 2978, 2922, 2847, 1483, 1444, 1371, 1062, 1041, 769, 747.

HR-MS (CI-MS) m/z: [M]+ Calc'd for C₁₉H₂₀ 248.1565; Found 248.1562.



13-(propan-2-ylidene)-6,7,8,13-tetrahydrodibenzo[b,e]oxonine (111).

Synthesized according to general procedure 6 at 140 °C for 48 hours starting from the corresponding vinyl tosylate **S45** (21.8 mg, 0.0500 mmol). Crude product was purified *via* flash column chromatography using a gradient of 0-4% diethyl ether in hexanes to give the product **111** as colorless oil (8.6 mg, 65% yield).

¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.32 (d, J = 5.7 Hz, 1H), 7.20 – 7.05 (m, 5H), 6.98 (dd, J = 14.7, 7.6 Hz, 2H), 4.05 – 3.98 (m, 1H), 3.45 – 3.31 (m, 2H), 2.66 (d, J = 12.9 Hz, 1H), 2.14 (tt, J = 9.8, 4.1 Hz, 1H), 1.73 (s, 3H), 1.72 – 1.65 (m, 1H), 1.60 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 157.9, 142.3, 139.6, 137.5, 132.7, 131.7, 131.0, 129.1, 128.8, 127.9, 126.7, 125.9, 123.9, 122.3, 73.6, 31.6, 29.5, 21.4, 21.0.

FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 3062, 3017, 2923, 2857, 1598, 1570, 1483, 1445, 1380, 1238, 1061, 754, 741, 630.

HR-MS (CI-MS) m/z: [M]+ Calc'd for C₁₉H₂₀O 264.1514; Found 264.1512.



12-cyclohexylidene-N,N-dimethyl-5-tosyl-5,6,7,12-tetrahydrodibenzo[*b,e*]azocin-10amine (112).

Synthesized according to general procedure 6 starting from the corresponding vinyl tosylate **S24** (32.9 mg, 0.0500 mmol). Crude product was purified via flash column chromatography using 10% ethyl ether in hexanes to give the product **112** as a white powder (0.015 g, 62% yield).

*NMR had poor resolution at room temperature, so NMRs are reported below at 75 °C in DMSO- d_6 .

¹H NMR (500 MHz, DMSO- d_6 , 75 °C) δ 7.75 (d, J = 7.8 Hz, 2H), 7.43 (d, J = 7.8 Hz, 2H), 7.33 (d, J = 7.6 Hz, 1H), 7.24 (t, J = 7.6 Hz, 1H), 7.13 (t, J = 7.9 Hz, 1H), 6.95 (d, J = 8.0 Hz, 1H), 6.88 (dd, J = 8.3, 2.5 Hz, 1H), 6.56 – 6.35 (m, 2H), 4.19 – 4.09 (m, 1H), 3.20 (d, J= 12.0 Hz, 1H), 2.83 (d, J = 2.7 Hz, 7H), 2.74 – 2.64 (m, 1H), 2.42 (d, J = 2.8 Hz, 3H), 2.18 – 1.92 (m, 4H), 1.59 – 1.45 (m, 6H). ¹³C NMR (126 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆, 75 °C) δ 149.2, 142.7, 139.0, 138.3, 137.5, 131.13, 130.1, 129.5, 129.4, 127.5, 126.7, 125.9, 112.2, 110.5, 51.5 (br), 36.0 (br), 30.9, 30.5, 27.2, 26.8, 25.7, 20.5.

FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 2922, 2850, 1604, 1505, 1483, 1445, 1341, 1156, 1091, 869, 716, 651, 569, 548.

HR-MS (ESI-MS) m/z: [M+H]+ Calc'd for C₃₀H₃₅N₂O₂S 487.2419; Found 487.2413.



12-cyclohexylidene-10-methoxy-5-tosyl-5,6,7,12-tetrahydrodibenzo[*b,e*]azocine (113). Synthesized according to general procedure 6 starting from the corresponding vinyl tosylate S27 (32.3 mg, 0.0500 mmol). Crude product was purified via flash column chromatography using 10% ethyl ether in hexanes to give the product 113 as a white powder (0.018 g, 76% yield).

*NMR had poor resolution at room temperature, so NMRs are reported below at 75 °C in DMSO- d_6 .

¹H NMR (500 MHz, DMSO- d_6 , 75 °C) δ 7.73 (d, J = 7.6 Hz, 2H), 7.41 (d, J = 7.8 Hz, 2H), 7.32 (d, J = 7.6 Hz, 1H), 7.23 (dd, J = 7.5, 7.5 Hz, 1H), 7.12 (ddd, J = 7.6, 7.6, 1.6 Hz, 1H), 6.98 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 6.93 (d, J = 8.0 Hz, 1H), 6.68 (s, 1H), 6.65 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 4.41 (br s, 1H), 3.68 (s, 3H), 3.21 (br s, 1H), 2.75 (br s, 1H), 2.48 (m, 1H), 2.41 (s, 3H), 2.16-2.02 (m, 2H), 2.02-1.90 (m, 2H), 1.74 (br s, 1H), 1.58-1.44 (m, 5H).

¹³C NMR (126 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆, 75°C) δ 158.6, 143.6, 139.9, 139.0, 138.9, 131.4, 131.2, 131.1, 130.4, 130.2, 128.4, 127.8, 127.6, 114.8, 112.3, 55.6, 52.0, 36.9, 31.7, 31.3, 27.9, 27.6, 26.5, 21.4.

FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 2922, 2851, 1602, 1572, 1484, 1446, 1343, 1157, 1093, 1039, 874, 813, 737, 717, 651, 569, 549.

HR-MS (ESI-MS) m/z: [M+Na]+ Calc'd for C₂₉H₃₁NO₃SNa 496.1922; Found 496.1930.



10-((tert-butyldimethylsilyl)oxy)-12-(propan-2-ylidene)-5-tosyl-5,6,7,12-

tetrahydrodibenzo[b,e]azocine (114).

Synthesized according to general procedure 6 starting from the corresponding vinyl tosylate **S33** (35.3 mg, 0.0500 mmol). Crude product was purified via flash column chromatography using 10% ethyl ether in hexanes to give the product **114** as a white powder (0.021 g, 79% yield).

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.83 (br s, 2H), 7.39 – 7.17 (m, 4H), 7.09 (t, J = 7.5 Hz, 1H), 6.99 – 6.81 (m, 2H), 6.64 – 6.48 (m, 2H), 4.21 (br s, 1H), 3.33 (br s, 1H), 2.83 (br s, 1H), 2.68 (br s, 1H), 2.44 (s, 3H), 1.77 (s, 3H), 1.65 (s, 3H), 0.96 (s, 9H), 0.16 (s, 6H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 154.7, 143.5, 139.9, 139.2, 134.0, 132.8, 132.1, 131.2, 130.4, 130.0, 129.0, 128.0, 127.7, 125.9, 120.8, 118.4, 52.4, 38.1, 26.1, 22.1, 21.9, 21.3, 18.6, –4.1. FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 2955, 2928, 2856, 1600, 1489, 1347, 1258, 1159, 1093, 877. HR-MS (ESI-MS) m/z: [M+NH₄]+ Calc'd for C₃₁H₄₃N₂O₃SSi 551.2764; Found 551.2759.



10-bromo-12-cyclopentylidene-5-tosyl-5,6,7,12-tetrahydrodibenzo[b,e]azocine (116).

Synthesized according to general procedure 6 starting from the corresponding vinyl tosylate **S36** (34.0 mg, 0.0500 mmol). Crude product was purified via flash column chromatography using 10% ethyl ether in hexanes to give the product **116** as a white powder (0.020 g, 79% yield).

*NMR had poor resolution at room temperature, so NMRs are reported below at 75 °C in DMSO- d_6 .

¹H NMR (500 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆, 75 °C) δ 7.73 – 7.59 (m, 2H), 7.38 (dd, *J* = 7.6, 1.7 Hz, 3H), 7.33 (s, 1H), 7.28 (dd, *J* = 8.1, 2.2 Hz, 1H), 7.25 (t, *J* = 7.5 Hz, 1H), 7.15 (td, *J* = 7.7, 1.6 Hz, 1H), 7.06 (d, *J* = 8.1 Hz, 2H), 3.82 (br s, 2H), 2.99 (br s, 2H), 2.39 (s, 3H), 2.23 (br s, 2H), 2.00 (br s, 2H), 1.64 (app s, 4H). **CH₂ next to nitrogen is very broad and hard to see/integrate.

¹³C NMR (126 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆, 75 °C) δ 142.9, 138.9, 132.1, 130.5, 129.68, 129.4, 129.2, 128.9, 127.2, 126.8, 119.3, 50.5 (br), 35.9 (br), 30.8, 30.6, 29.6, 25.6, 25.5, 20.6.

FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 2952, 2924, 2857, 1454, 1347, 1158, 1091, 1077, 717, 568.

HR-MS (ESI-MS) m/z: $[M+Na]^+$ Calc'd for C₂₇H₂₆BrNO₂SNa 530.0765; Found 530.0781.



3-methoxy-12-(propan-2-ylidene)-5-tosyl-5,6,7,12-tetrahydrodibenzo[*b,e*]**azocine (117)** Synthesized according to general procedure 6 at 140 °C for 24 hours starting from the corresponding vinyl tosylate **S46** (30.3 mg, 0.0500 mmol). Crude product was purified *via* flash column chromatography using 3:1 hexanes:diethyl ether to give the product **117** as white solid (0.017 g, 78% yield).

¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.85 (br s, 2H), 7.35 (br s, 2H), 7.21–6.92 (m, 5H), 6.79 (br s, 1H), 6.44 (br s, 1H), 4.27 (br s, 1H), 3.64 (s, 3H), 3.46 (br s, 1H), 2.89–2.69 (m, 2H), 2.50–2.22 (m, 3H), 1.80 (s, 3H), 1.62 (s, 3H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 157.4, 142.2, 131.9, 129.5, 128.6, 127.7, 126.7, 126.6, 126.0, 125.6, 113.4, 112.3, 54.2, 50.7, 37.7, 20.7, 20.5, 20.0.

FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 2989, 2870, 1605, 1495, 1443, 1381, 1347, 1287, 1157, 1143, 1091, 813, 688, 584.

HR-MS (ESI-MS) m/z: [M]⁺ Calc'd for C₂₆H₂₇NO₃SNa 456.1609; Found 456.1596.



11-cyclohexylidene-6-tosyl-4,5,6,11-tetrahydrobenzo[b]thieno[3,2-e]azocine (119).

Synthesized according to general procedure 6 at 140 °C for 20 hours starting from the corresponding vinyl tosylate **S38** (31.1 mg, 0.0500 mmol). Crude product was purified *via* flash column chromatography using a gradient of 0-30% diethyl ether in hexanes to give the product **119** as white solid (16.5 mg, 73% yield).

¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.79 (d, J = 8.3 Hz, 2H), 7.34 (d, J = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 7.26 – 7.20 (m, 2H), 7.14 – 7.04 (m, 1H), 6.92 (d, J = 5.1 Hz, 1H), 6.88 – 6.82 (m, 1H), 6.77 (d, J = 5.1 Hz, 1H), 4.15 (ddd, J = 14.5, 5.5, 2.1 Hz, 1H), 3.48 (ddd, J = 15.8, 10.5, 2.1 Hz, 1H), 2.98 (dd, J = 14.4, 10.3 Hz, 1H), 2.81 (dd, J = 15.7, 5.3 Hz, 1H), 2.46 (s, 3H), 2.27 – 2.14 (m, 3H), 2.12 (dd, J = 8.4, 4.4 Hz, 1H), 1.87 – 1.79 (m, 1H), 1.73 – 1.65 (m, 1H), 1.63 – 1.48 (m, 4H).

¹³C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 145.9, 143.2, 142.0, 141.0, 139.3, 138.4, 135.0, 130.3, 130.2, 129.6, 128.6, 128.1, 127.6, 127.4, 125.5, 120.8, 51.4, 32.0, 31.6, 31.1, 28.4, 27.9, 26.6, 21.5.

FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 3062, 2921, 2851, 1598, 1483, 1343, 1157, 1094, 864, 737, 726, 661.

HR-MS (ESI-MS) m/z: [M+H]+ Calc'd for C₂₆H₂₈NO₂S₂ 450.1561; Found 450.1562.



13-(propan-2-ylidene)-7-tosyl-5,6,7,9,10,11,12,13-

octahydrobenzo[*e*]benzo[4,5]thieno[2,3-*b*]azocine (120).

Synthesized according to general procedure 6 at 120 °C for 20 hours starting from the corresponding vinyl tosylate **S42** (31.8 mg, 0.0500 mmol). Crude product was purified *via* flash column chromatography using a gradient of 1-20% diethyl ether in hexanes to give the product **120** as white solid (19.6 mg, 85% yield).

¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.84 (d, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 2H), 7.32 (d, *J* = 7.9 Hz, 2H), 7.21 – 7.04 (m, 4H), 4.26 (dd, *J* = 15.1, 7.1 Hz, 1H), 3.41 (dd, *J* = 15.0, 9.7 Hz, 1H), 3.00 – 2.71 (m, 2H), 2.71 – 2.47 (m, 4H), 2.44 (s, 3H), 1.86 – 1.79 (m, 2H), 1.75 (s, 3H), 1.75 – 1.67 (m, 2H), 1.60 (s, 3H).

¹³C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 143.6, 143.4, 143.1, 139.1, 137.8, 134.8, 133.7, 132.9, 132.7, 130.4, 129.6, 128.9, 128.39, 127.6, 126.8, 126.7, 51.7, 38.9, 25.1, 25.0, 23.3, 22.7, 21.6, 21.3, 21.0.

FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 3059, 2986, 2929, 2857, 2843, 1484, 1441, 1341, 1159, 1091, 731, 659, 545.

HR-MS (ESI-MS) m/z: [M+Na]+ Calc'd for C₂₇H₂₉NO₂S₂Na 486.1537; Found 486.1538.

2.7.4 Mechanism studies

2.7.4.1 8-membered ring formation vs 7-membered ring formation





9-methoxy-6-(4-methoxybenzyl)-12-(propan-2-ylidene)-7,12-dihydro-6H-

dibenzo[*b*,*e*]thiocine (129)

In the glovebox, lithium tetrakis(pentafluorophenyl)borate (3.4 mg, 0.0050 mmol, 0.1 equiv), lithium hydride (2.0 mg, 0.25 mmol, 5.0 equiv), and vinyl tosylate **128** (29.4 mg, 0.0500 mmol, 1.0 equiv) were dissolved into 1,2-dichlorobenzene (2.5 mL) to generate a 0.02 M solution for the vinyl tosylate. The reaction was heated under 140 °C overnight. The reaction solution was directly purified *via* flash column chromatography using hexanes and then ethyl acetate to get rid of 1,2-dichlorobenzene. Then the crude product was purified *via* preparative TLC to get the product. The yield was determined by NMR with nitromethane as the internal standard from the crude reaction.

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.24 – 7.13 (m, 2H), 7.09 – 7.01 (m, 3H), 6.99 – 6.89 (m, 1H), 6.83 (d, J = 8.4 Hz, 2H), 6.78 – 6.58 (m, 2H), 6.56 – 6.37 (m, 1H), 4.05–3.90 (m, 1H), 3.79 (s, 3H), 3.76 – 3.66 (m, 3H), 3.36 – 3.17 (m, 1H), 2.91 – 2.64 (m, 3H), 1.70 (br, 3H), 1.60 – 1.56 (m, 3H).

IR (Neat film NaCl): 2907, 2851, 2834, 1603, 1583, 1511, 1496, 1463, 1440, 1245, 1177, 1155, 1114, 1035, 807, 752.

HR-MS (FD-MS) m/z: $[M]^+$ Calc'd for C₂₇H₂₈O₂S 416.1810; Found 416.1804.

* ¹³C NMR was complicated due to the existence of rotamers.

Despite the reaction forming 129/130 is complicated with multiple products, LC-MS shows the isolated 129 is the major Friedel-Crafts product (MW = 417) based on the UV (second row, Figure 2.1) and EIC chromatogram (third row, Figure 2.1).

Figure 2.1 The LC-MS trace of the reaction forming **129**. (first row: TIC chromatogram; second row: UV (254 nm) chromatogram; third row: EIC (MW = 417) chromatogram; method: 75%:25% water:ACN (0.01 min) to 26%:74% water:ACN (9.80 min) to 100% ACN (9.81 min))



The ¹H NMR of **129** is also complicated (Figure 2.2). A zoom-in into the aromatic region of the ¹H NMR shows there are two characteristic doublets each with 2 protons (one is overlapped with one other proton signal) which is corresponding to a *para*-substituted aromatic ring (Figure 2.3). This pattern is only seen if **129** is formed, instead of **130** which has no *para*-substituted aromatic rings.



Figure 2.2 ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) of compound 129.



117



2.7.4.2 Friedel-Crafts reactions vs C-H insertions



solution for the vinyl tosylate. The reaction was heated under 140 °C overnight. The reaction solution was directly purified *via* flash column chromatography using hexanes and then ethyl acetate to get rid of 1,2-dichlorobenzene. Then the crude product was purified *via* preparative TLC to get the product.

¹H NMR shows the product is the desired 8-membered ring product from the Friedel-Crafts reaction (Figure 2.4).

Figure 2.4 ¹*H* NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) of the mixture product $132-d_5$ and $132-d_4$.



The HR-MS of this 132-d₅ and 132-d₄ mixture showed their ratio is around 1:1 (Figure 2.5).

Figure 2.5 HR-MS report of products 132.



2.7.5 Computational studies

2.7.5.1 Computational methods

120

Density functional theory (DFT) computations were performed with Gaussian 16.³⁹ The *w*B97X-D functional was used to optimize molecular geometries.⁴⁰ Geometry optimizations were completed with the def2-SVP basis set⁴¹ and the SMD solvation model accounting for the effect of *o*-dichlorobenzene.⁴² Frequency calculations were conducted at the same level of theory used for the geometry optimizations in order to obtain thermal Gibbs free energies and characterize the stationary points on the potential energy surface. Single point energies were obtained using the def2-TZVPP basis set.⁴¹ Intrinsic reaction coordinate (IRC) calculations were performed to verify that a transition state (TS) connects the reactant and the product on the potential energy surface.

Conformation searches were executed by Grimme's Conformer-Rotamer Ensemble Sampling Tool (CREST) to find the lowest energy conformers.⁴³ CYLview was employed to visualize molecular structures.⁴⁴

2.7.5.2 Energies and Cartesian coordinates of calculated structures

Table 2.2 Energies of the optimized structures (*wB97X-D/def2-SVP/SMD=o*dichlorobenzene).

Structure	Е	ZPE	Н	T.S	G(T)
INT1	-1684.511784	0.488122	-1683.967990	0.159247	-1684.127237
INT2-m	-1684.517623	0.488675	-1683.974546	0.154411	-1684.128957
INT2-p	-1684.540119	0.491438	-1683.994980	0.151622	-1684.146602
TS-R	-1684.510634	0.489840	-1683.967969	0.148111	-1684.116080
TS-m	-1684.487656	0.487587	-1683.945750	0.154876	-1684.100626
TS-p	-1684.487267	0.487612	-1683.945149	0.155956	-1684.101105
INT1'	-1684.514887	0.488449	-1683.971117	0.157303	-1684.128420
INT2-p'	-1684.543812	0.491621	-1683.998548	0.151343	-1684.149891

TS-p' -1684.493320 0.488175 -1683.950954 0.15397 -1684.104924

Table 2.3 Single point energies (*ω*B97X-D/def2-TZVPP/SMD=o-dichlorobenzene)

Structure	Е
INT1	-1686.093476
INT2-m	-1686.094830
INT2-p	-1686.117135
TS-R	-1686.088536
TS-m	-1686.069921
TS-p	-1686.070019
INT1'	-1686.094658
INT2-p'	-1686.122058
TS-p'	-1686.076146

2.7.5.3 Cartesian coordinates for structures of Table 2.2 and Table 2.3.

INT1

Charge: 1

- C 1.010925 2.218217 -1.610785
- C 0.888011 3.600868 -1.684825
- C 0.210187 4.350815 -0.706262
- C -0.374103 3.697303 0.351702
- C -0.316478 2.271450 0.429751
- C 0.444571 1.523471 -0.537879
- N 0.574344 0.151369 -0.403093
- S 1.240534 -0.519113 1.029589

1.194203 0.518883 0 2.049986 0.585558 -1.794229 1.246058 0 2.929708 -0.785623 С 0.579620 С 3.371549 -2.078045 0.312049 С 4.701369 -2.267857 -0.057593 5.584951 -1.187605 -0.163886 С 5.105490 0.103562 0.114899 С С 3.786097 0.315549 0.489808 Η 3.430847 1.322746 0.716836 5.784797 Η 0.956458 0.043497 7.021660 -1.390179 -0.553025 С Η 7.223482 -2.434283 -0.827385 7.687923 -1.119712 0.281271 Η Н 7.291539 -0.746886 -1.404319 Η 5.057500 -3.279536 -0.265035 2.688551 -2.924943 Η 0.395747 С 0.712378 -0.702418 -1.594856 Η 0.790888 -1.735254 -1.232421 -0.477762 -0.578117 -2.540632 С C -1.098495 1.623801 1.343579 C -1.973173 1.084349 2.132742 C -3.414738 1.027430 1.680255 C -1.629881 0.505254 3.478936

- Н -0.583323 0.672749 3.751446
- Н -1.824503 -0.577544 3.443986
- H -4.016044 1.643889 2.365127
- Н -3.552030 1.384320 0.652382
- Н -0.462577 0.401803 -3.040463
- Н -0.312790 -1.321454 -3.338441
- Н 1.652051 -0.484128 -2.127471
- Н -0.917341 4.238263 1.128153
- Н 0.152969 5.436495 -0.790447
- Н 1.361960 4.121703 -2.519950
- H 1.580810 1.686461 -2.372265
- C -1.834140 -0.787041 -1.905689
- C -2.066767 -1.776631 -0.947512
- C -2.922183 0.008100 -2.293961
- C -3.332292 -1.981330 -0.394548
- Н -1.246763 -2.406969 -0.596763
- C -4.189605 -0.182453 -1.757917
- Н -2.772852 0.796478 -3.037410
- C -4.406662 -1.179930 -0.797314
- Н -3.461738 -2.762167 0.355452
- Н -5.030543 0.443607 -2.063332
- Н -2.294354 0.948427 4.235009
- Н -3.764044 -0.012269 1.751470

- O -5.656905 -1.278375 -0.304044
- C -5.934805 -2.265893 0.658738
- Н -5.336706 -2.126185 1.575709
- Н -6.997576 -2.166593 0.912768
- Н -5.756794 -3.281764 0.266712

There are no imaginary frequencies

INT2-m

Charge: 1

C 1.321834 2.259574 -1.336273 0.919234 3.493721 -1.840293 С C -0.383603 3.942277 -1.622329 C -1.280294 3.157272 -0.899534 C -0.882914 1.927444 -0.365420 0.431861 1.482840 -0.592325 С 0.807780 0.204790 -0.085104 Ν 1.832928 0.088172 1.220559 S 2.066516 1.442537 1.698495 0 1.293378 -0.926627 0 2.118241 3.361183 -0.547587 С 0.569836
- C 4.306478 0.345254 0.061170
- C 5.490189 -0.153149 -0.469991
- C 5.749505 -1.532447 -0.499073
- C 4.786237 -2.403191 0.024924
- C 3.595103 -1.920984 0.563489
- Н 2.857753 -2.606563 0.984278
- Н 4.972415 -3.479923 0.018009
- C 7.046987 -2.051496 -1.052754
- Н 7.319974 -1.530139 -1.982038
- Н 6.996131 -3.129771 -1.257334
- Н 7.864903 -1.884023 -0.333277
- Н 6.234095 0.542863 -0.865829
- H 4.119562 1.420377 0.091749
- C 0.461962 -1.046179 -0.765712
- Н 0.258235 -1.812196 -0.003403
- C -0.721099 -0.961125 -1.735958
- C -1.830311 1.042812 0.375746
- C -1.842634 0.938545 1.718293
- C -2.649723 -0.076187 2.479912
- C -1.016081 1.837009 2.592490
- Н -1.660407 2.284902 3.366766
- Н -0.515464 2.640218 2.039340
- Н -2.028512 -0.496153 3.285925

- Н -3.523601 0.391197 2.962269
- Н -0.620805 -0.067107 -2.370902
- Н -0.618921 -1.824746 -2.405347
- Н 1.323971 -1.391586 -1.362799
- Н -2.302953 3.505553 -0.733977
- Н -0.704492 4.907628 -2.019762
- Н 1.622093 4.102388 -2.413040
- Н 2.332351 1.889121 -1.517057
- C -2.112916 -0.999418 -1.170088
- C -2.913650 -2.102460 -1.391330
- C -2.721524 0.173879 -0.507001
- C -4.256432 -2.138932 -0.995420
- Н -2.503070 -2.974017 -1.904754
- C -4.113275 0.055796 -0.075242
- Н -2.915441 0.786787 -1.440008
- C -4.887211 -1.051922 -0.356033
- Н -4.823826 -3.045681 -1.214977
- Н -4.561144 0.907250 0.441873
- Н -0.245481 1.249584 3.113838
- Н -2.997748 -0.917891 1.865022
- O -6.165977 -1.031629 0.024720
- C -6.985995 -2.159648 -0.220877
- Н -7.977400 -1.908388 0.172891

Н -6.608341 -3.053719 0.301288

Н -7.070168 -2.367452 -1.299929

There are no imaginary frequencies

INT2-p

С	1.740215	2.398813	-0.817479	
С	1.593455	3.784488	-0.865930	
С	0.378507	4.365953	-0.503788	
С	-0.685113	3.569459	-0.079027	
С	-0.546053	2.180434	0.001746	
С	0.677889	1.610361	-0.381259	
N	0.753531	0.188630	-0.385799	
S	1.433502	-0.621936	0.890869	
0	1.468681	0.302999	2.012076	
0	0.735735	-1.901098	1.006589	
С	3.104931	-0.969233	0.403403	
С	3.384893	-2.126565	-0.322042	
С	4.689759	-2.356906	-0.748160	
С	5.719354	-1.451584	-0.456651	

- C 5.407118 -0.299892 0.280229
- C 4.108813 -0.051901 0.714306
- Н 3.875767 0.842935 1.293905
- Н 6.197442 0.415094 0.522067
- C 7.132451 -1.723699 -0.891432
- Н 7.663793 -0.791986 -1.133023
- Н 7.163564 -2.384512 -1.769085
- Н 7.692144 -2.220259 -0.081856
- Н 4.914382 -3.262922 -1.316423
- Н 2.593815 -2.844668 -0.545002
- C 0.084916 -0.509261 -1.475693
- Н 0.014097 -1.571624 -1.211463
- C -1.297917 0.074414 -1.765617
- C -1.637562 1.296460 0.503406
- C -2.080542 1.405312 1.774162
- C -3.235943 0.621862 2.338892
- C -1.416779 2.300540 2.785746
- Н -0.438003 2.673189 2.464629
- Н -1.278981 1.738794 3.723645
- Н -4.017446 0.397899 1.602782
- Н -2.888091 -0.326268 2.781781
- Н -1.204684 1.052630 -2.256887
- Н -1.809549 -0.591931 -2.475189

- $H \quad 0.680574 \quad \text{-}0.436284 \quad \text{-}2.400872$
- Н -1.633376 4.029406 0.208412
- Н 0.256122 5.450195 -0.552600
- Н 2.424969 4.409126 -1.198974
- Н 2.675512 1.920050 -1.115198
- C -2.233637 0.271849 -0.501148
- C -2.370673 -1.094165 0.071677
- C -3.505870 0.791349 -1.075730
- C -3.461960 -1.877319 -0.108491
- Н -1.503390 -1.492271 0.607945
- C -4.615706 0.033352 -1.219405
- Н -3.496216 1.822576 -1.438801
- C -4.601709 -1.330210 -0.776110
- Н -3.482680 -2.894660 0.279577
- Н -5.529355 0.416239 -1.675409
- Н -2.063233 3.161076 3.025829
- Н -3.709372 1.193410 3.151022
- O -5.680055 -2.001275 -1.007329
- C -5.815838 -3.378799 -0.625683
- Н -5.744299 -3.476844 0.465711
- Н -6.811983 -3.678933 -0.964784
- Н -5.049550 -3.987394 -1.124410

There are no imaginary frequencies

TS-R

С	1.507565	2.369705	-0.722466
С	1.198449	3.692647	-1.028379
С	-0.126734	4.125529	-0.990087
С	-1.138759	3.235715	-0.637921
С	-0.839778	1.914270	-0.291680
С	0.498517	1.484863	-0.340837
N	0.763106	0.111704	-0.073120
S	1.708963	-0.359213	1.215005
0	1.827685	0.795488	2.091786
0	1.148583	-1.609977	1.707728
С	3.314130	-0.722075	0.543230
С	3.565241	-1.981026	-0.000195
С	4.812952	-2.238935	-0.563152
С	5.816355	-1.261980	-0.581046
С	5.539653	-0.009518	-0.011797
С	4.298843	0.267605	0.550338
Н	4.096575	1.240789	1.001089

- 6.314336 0.761462 -0.004783 Η С 7.170002 -1.547003 -1.169002 7.168743 -2.477669 -1.752745 Η Η 7.922488 -1.649200 -0.370530 7.499394 -0.724729 -1.821549 Η 5.012093 -3.223855 Η -0.992348 2.798626 -2.757557 Η 0.024630 0.498969 -0.867920 -1.125653 С Η 0.385620 -1.854877 -0.655473 C -0.755530 -0.524582 -1.923746 C -1.939316 0.998874 0.150476 C -2.125759 0.736781 1.479759 C -3.173098 -0.151384 2.056446 C -1.267374 1.400463 2.513933 Н -0.541847 2.116320 2.118050 Н -0.717780 0.623719 3.069268 Н -3.139214 -0.124211 3.152408 Н -4.178918 0.157068 1.730701 Н -0.645307 0.438533 -2.437350 Н -0.849586 -1.285128 -2.715382 1.346146 -0.919194 -1.831726 Η Н -2.178095 3.572658 -0.611256
- $H \quad -0.374267 \quad 5.159738 \quad -1.237842$

Η	1.994892	4.383055	-1.313416
Η	2.537896	2.015621	-0.783890
С	-2.049635	-0.570949	-1.164012
С	-2.552210	-1.832626	-0.751164
С	-2.927117	0.587043	-1.045857
С	-3.889182	-2.006270	-0.511871
Η	-1.883990	-2.695844	-0.741924
С	-4.345698	0.349699	-0.772401
Η	-2.775762	1.363623	-1.805335
С	-4.821835	-0.908587	-0.550259
Η	-4.248424	-3.013243	-0.294170
Η	-5.030421	1.199261	-0.773826
Η	-1.921553	1.907089	3.241578
Η	-3.041428	-1.198778	1.739346
0	-6.133683	-1.067342	-0.340050
С	-6.676337	-2.360667	-0.151888
Η	-6.280080	-2.840618	0.757507
Η	-7.757788	-2.222889	-0.035791
Η	-6.492064	-3.009032	-1.023823

1 imaginary frequency: -140.91 cm⁻¹

TS-m

С	1.659123	2.141509	-0.929783
С	1.492579	3.515355	-1.118783
С	0.274249	4.136655	-0.834452
С	-0.789750	3.387624	-0.348538
С	-0.622506	2.010765	-0.116431
С	0.607649	1.383636	-0.429280
N	0.672182	-0.030959	-0.328444
S	1.427139	-0.745150	0.973115
0	1.316441	0.204485	2.070364
0	0.872842	-2.084971	1.083774
С	3.140799	-0.887355	0.534458
С	4.030514	0.113010	0.922302
С	5.362779	0.023056	0.526399
С	5.818130	-1.050994	-0.248925
С	4.900139	-2.047088	-0.616535
С	3.567136	-1.976537	-0.228669
Η	2.866465	-2.765639	-0.507387
Η	5.239516	-2.897643	-1.213092
С	7.259173	-1.157000	-0.663275
Η	7.809437	-0.229646	-0.453367

- Н 7.346213 -1.379646 -1.737335
- Н 7.756488 -1.976946 -0.120805
- H 6.063991 0.803666 0.831028
- Н 3.685471 0.950362 1.531098
- C 0.426572 -0.798207 -1.548687
- Н 0.300490 -1.850637 -1.261705
- C -0.819894 -0.296388 -2.276190
- C -1.630891 1.246456 0.538851
- C -2.037764 0.835670 1.716367
- C -3.043306 -0.204859 2.091750
- C -1.365796 1.551216 2.878337
- Н -2.158806 1.975975 3.513074
- Н -0.679272 2.346821 2.569758
- Н -2.931361 -0.450106 3.155370
- Н -4.065252 0.169694 1.934330
- Н -0.685108 0.749396 -2.588288
- Н -0.901659 -0.876838 -3.208604
- Н 1.291282 -0.728880 -2.231564
- Н -1.749140 3.856515 -0.122222
- Н 0.155883 5.209092 -0.998095
- Н 2.322721 4.106135 -1.511555
- H 2.602151 1.654566 -1.185183
- C -2.114563 -0.446282 -1.520394

- C -2.609605 -1.723512 -1.213762
- C -2.957723 0.663060 -1.252688
- C -3.903320 -1.908333 -0.752258
- Н -1.984479 -2.600278 -1.398507
- C -4.272120 0.477047 -0.785060
- Н -2.694346 1.643975 -1.651176
- C -4.752829 -0.801160 -0.531645
- Н -4.253918 -2.922783 -0.559331
- Н -4.925845 1.335295 -0.621523
- Н -0.804876 0.803959 3.456987
- Н -2.906330 -1.118242 1.502651
- O -6.004689 -0.899974 -0.064022
- C -6.548566 -2.174208 0.209694
- Н -7.569201 -2.003181 0.572537
- Н -5.975693 -2.700547 0.990940
- Н -6.592316 -2.800454 -0.696515

1 imaginary frequency: -297.45 cm⁻¹

TS-p

- C 1.678658 2.167778 -0.878696
- C 1.460934 3.535673 -1.061209
- C 0.212652 4.107971 -0.801815
- C -0.830398 3.317741 -0.337453
- C -0.611780 1.946318 -0.107902
- C 0.645416 1.368167 -0.408245
- N 0.745471 -0.041377 -0.317029
- S 1.520341 -0.756225 0.969275
- O 1.419449 0.187070 2.072924
- O 0.976448 -2.100556 1.079509
- C 3.228201 -0.886726 0.503705
- C 3.643360 -1.960507 -0.286954
- C 4.969359 -2.020590 -0.699420
- C 5.891781 -1.029409 -0.329318
- C 5.448231 0.027988 0.474976
- C 4.122656 0.107420 0.895547
- Н 3.786338 0.932439 1.525714
- H 6.153184 0.804166 0.782298
- C 7.324920 -1.123438 -0.773017
- Н 7.391738 -1.324599 -1.852759
- Н 7.834453 -1.952632 -0.256565
- Н 7.876988 -0.198933 -0.555403
- Н 5.299718 -2.858545 -1.318482

- Н 2.939616 -2.745729 -0.568944
- C 0.383245 -0.810078 -1.506172
- Н 0.250590 -1.856335 -1.201834
- C -0.888631 -0.268527 -2.153872
- C -1.578337 1.150325 0.559731
- C -2.062531 0.834814 1.736809
- C -3.144488 -0.117499 2.135096
- C -1.376840 1.564767 2.884272
- Н -0.596843 2.262241 2.561736
- Н -0.924960 0.807052 3.540867
- Н -4.113491 0.191047 1.720204
- Н -2.921174 -1.130962 1.778625
- Н -0.738911 0.769685 -2.484866
- Н -1.045964 -0.845666 -3.079306
- Н 1.198295 -0.772663 -2.249389
- Н -1.809769 3.748392 -0.121447
- Н 0.057096 5.175854 -0.963992
- Н 2.275302 4.161449 -1.432389
- Н 2.644759 1.720123 -1.118262
- C -2.161503 -0.367896 -1.344747
- C -2.595990 -1.635724 -0.890011
- C -3.122003 0.675427 -1.361258
- C -3.911093 -1.871945 -0.545850

- Н -1.890667 -2.469212 -0.867780
- C -4.446986 0.452757 -0.990773
- Н -2.845305 1.648222 -1.773601
- C -4.858378 -0.822418 -0.599472
- Н -4.206883 -2.872270 -0.229468
- Н -5.179313 1.260917 -1.019815
- H -2.148948 2.108316 3.450173
- Н -3.228315 -0.140695 3.228219
- O -6.143702 -0.965998 -0.271783
- C -6.632534 -2.231315 0.129344
- Н -6.132213 -2.584942 1.045078
- Н -7.700800 -2.096695 0.336187
- Н -6.513348 -2.981363 -0.668965

1 imaginary frequency: -232.18 cm⁻¹

INT1'

Charge: 1

- C 0.873986 2.381439 -1.254939
- C 0.757846 3.761624 -1.120733
- C 0.044298 4.355027 -0.065401

139

C -0.578524 3.549501 0.859243 -0.526130 2.128935 0.719890 С 0.260601 С 1.536289 -0.328918 Ν 0.371573 0.153860 -0.411073 1.077271 -0.712051 0.886440 S 0.934737 0.110607 0 2.078963 0.519903 -2.052248 0.843173 0 С 2.787384 -0.769319 0.446111 С 3.572353 0.368579 0.646703 4.908586 С 0.331638 0.268380 5.471401 -0.821162 -0.301821 С С 4.657093 -1.947429 -0.479426 С 3.314692 -1.931997 -0.111875 Η 2.688568 -2.815396 -0.247060 Η 5.081518 -2.857688 -0.909200 6.910646 -0.836368 С -0.731865 Η 7.529618 -0.202188 -0.081625 Η 7.004459 -0.445722 -1.758491 7.320447 Η -1.855855 -0.727081 5.532906 Η 1.213922 0.427821 3.150472 1.266129 1.103230 Η С 0.494985 -0.501060 -1.726299 0.517523 -1.581446 -1.535058 Η

- C -0.658929 -0.167138 -2.663097
- C -1.332124 1.359686 1.513899
- C -2.234481 0.770473 2.232913
- C -3.670646 0.807738 1.758341
- C -1.933058 0.062866 3.527022
- H -2.466323 0.579498 4.339182
- Н -0.860680 0.033628 3.744517
- Н -4.044473 -0.224083 1.694316
- H -4.265609 1.347959 2.510116
- Н -0.590936 0.880844 -2.991217
- Н -0.493505 -0.768342 -3.572587
- Н 1.453018 -0.242832 -2.206586
- Н -1.146382 3.970348 1.690404
- Н -0.009390 5.440946 0.017845
- Н 1.264154 4.401325 -1.847225
- Н 1.472604 1.965139 -2.064654
- C -2.058179 -0.425454 -2.145747
- C -2.303874 -1.300683 -1.079467
- C -3.136656 0.208834 -2.769646
- C -3.612332 -1.534503 -0.643015
- Н -1.472865 -1.785391 -0.569574
- C -4.442793 -0.045078 -2.345215
- Н -2.954932 0.900597 -3.596174

- C -4.689281 -0.911822 -1.287977
- Н -5.281248 0.447815 -2.843265
- Н -2.324948 -0.963000 3.463531
- Н -3.783176 1.296823 0.783091
- Н -5.703359 -1.108679 -0.934688
- O -3.916587 -2.320602 0.411373
- C -2.869123 -2.948140 1.115194
- Н -3.331506 -3.478344 1.957095
- Н -2.335369 -3.678106 0.483531
- Н -2.138826 -2.219041 1.502671

There are no imaginary frequencies

INT2-p'

- C 1.494789 2.042645 -1.376370 C 1.318957 3.290026 -1.970197
- C 0.100729 3.956456 -1.837627
- C -0.939426 3.373928 -1.115433
- C -0.771418 2.132158 -0.494081
- C 0.463535 1.471708 -0.628093

N	0.603000	0.183063	-0.028017
S	1.610140	-0.020008	1.284452
0	1.868246	1.303543	1.830318
0	1.019284	-1.062140	2.113244
С	3.141514	-0.657429	0.641142
С	4.169829	0.231383	0.323940
С	5.352844	-0.265566	-0.212292
С	5.528852	-1.639380	-0.434977
С	4.482990	-2.508817	-0.098344
С	3.292856	-2.029446	0.442973
Η	2.492204	-2.718442	0.717449
Η	4.603704	-3.583269	-0.257040
С	6.824602	-2.164067	-0.987612
Η	7.241474	-1.483000	-1.743607
Η	6.697276	-3.157218	-1.440395
Η	7.572937	-2.257453	-0.183597
Η	6.161088	0.427582	-0.458652
Η	4.045715	1.300534	0.504636
С	0.218884	-1.025106	-0.757630
Η	0.031867	-1.819095	-0.021629
С	-1.006386	-0.866756	-1.660970
С	-1.879876	1.452351	0.241985
С	-1.963366	1.453216	1.585964

0.606506 C -2.929443 2.373305 C -1.070909 2.310956 2.436484 Н -1.690329 2.888010 3.143220 Н -0.452403 3.006170 1.856917 Н -2.498458 0.384531 3.360634 Н -3.881114 1.133029 2.553000 Н -0.845825 -0.030394 -2.357802 Н -1.039746 -1.781581 -2.268336 Η 1.045714 -1.356865 -1.411409 Н -1.896913 3.892113 -1.021154 Н -0.042439 4.933685 -2.303995 Η 2.132252 3.738507 -2.544569 2.437782 1.504270 -1.489888 Η C -2.355673 -0.701595 -1.013508 С -3.165934 -1.788862 -0.855848 -2.846193 0.666005 -0.665089 С C -4.520730 -1.630318 -0.443553 Н -2.793254 -2.780539 -1.112593 -4.267224 С 0.742812 -0.251854 Н -2.834550 1.212291 -1.634172 C -5.076477 -0.334803 -0.190064 Н -4.654812 1.735960 -0.012479 Н -0.397493 1.679688 3.035387

- Н -3.146996 -0.353837 1.888421
- Н -6.127921 -0.265832 0.090552
- O -5.337935 -2.622994 -0.303816
- C -4.929175 -3.983059 -0.504773
- Н -5.815047 -4.588929 -0.290798
- Н -4.614021 -4.134916 -1.546293
- Н -4.119596 -4.243264 0.190227

There are no imaginary frequencies

TS-p'

- C 1.564688 2.053575 -1.241333
- C 1.494838 3.405227 -1.591358
- C 0.376917 4.177533 -1.266903
- C -0.686977 3.603318 -0.584291
- C -0.613430 2.252583 -0.193428
- C 0.518274 1.470157 -0.540796
- N 0.477171 0.079918 -0.252231
- S 1.255552 -0.496894 1.107824
- O 1.269861 0.607392 2.055794

- O 0.618666 -1.761007 1.440474
- C 2.926042 -0.827497 0.611062
- C 3.892873 0.165167 0.763143
- C 5.189514 -0.081172 0.318310
- C 5.532962 -1.303236 -0.273875
- C 4.539901 -2.286569 -0.403716
- C 3.240750 -2.060385 0.035468
- Н 2.480093 -2.837671 -0.057148
- Н 4.792992 -3.250584 -0.852138
- C 6.930376 -1.571099 -0.758453
- Н 7.597650 -0.721787 -0.558669
- Н 6.935840 -1.766438 -1.842229
- Н 7.349515 -2.462748 -0.267192
- Н 5.952077 0.691832 0.440041
- Н 3.635663 1.116795 1.231211
- C 0.192596 -0.835397 -1.358696
- Н 0.009166 -1.827564 -0.924947
- C -1.021287 -0.382002 -2.167848
- C -1.609482 1.662829 0.617660
- C -2.019148 1.306231 1.804839
- C -3.035049 0.286743 2.207822
- C -1.330220 2.059779 2.933383
- Н -2.114438 2.516767 3.556202

- Н -0.640930 2.837724 2.586518
- Н -2.834496 -0.026839 3.240497
- Н -4.046060 0.717458 2.170839
- Н -0.830506 0.607273 -2.608825
- Н -1.115229 -1.079235 -3.014412
- Н 1.062843 -0.911593 -2.034256
- Н -1.572653 4.186988 -0.327473
- Н 0.336072 5.228933 -1.555744
- H 2.323112 3.858283 -2.140101
- Н 2.429734 1.450556 -1.523257
- C -2.333152 -0.363926 -1.420822
- C -2.918793 -1.570351 -1.024345
- C -3.029941 0.845445 -1.205440
- C -4.222190 -1.588817 -0.512760
- Н -2.369042 -2.500043 -1.175403
- C -4.353268 0.810846 -0.705189
- Н -2.671801 1.762183 -1.671990
- C -4.948445 -0.383431 -0.374195
- Н -4.907511 1.745397 -0.595873
- Н -0.770366 1.328697 3.533053
- Н -2.995340 -0.590625 1.554334
- Н -5.967390 -0.430116 0.013383
- O -4.860361 -2.695837 -0.135437

C -4.206094 -3.946445 -0.221148 H -4.913008 -4.691265 0.162802 H -3.951024 -4.196544 -1.263633

Н -3.292853 -3.963990 0.395636

1 imaginary frequency: -281.76 cm⁻¹

2.8 REFERENCES

[1] Brown, D. G.; Wobst, H. J. A decade of FDA-approved drugs (2010–2019): trends and future directions. *J. Med. Chem.* 2021, *64*, 2312-2338.

[2] Nicolaou, K. C.; Edmonds, D. J.; Bulger, P. G. Cascade reactions in total synthesis. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2006, 45, 7134-7186.

[3] Casadei, M. A.; Galli, C.; Mandolini, L. Ring-closure reactions. 22. Kinetics of cyclization of diethyl (ω-bromoalkyl) malonates in the range of 4-to 21-membered rings.
 Role of ring strain. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 106, 1051-1056.

[4] Galli, C.; Illuminati, G.; Mandolini, L.; Tamborra, P. Ring-closure reactions. 7. Kinetics and activation parameters of lactone formation in the range of 3-to 23-membered rings. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1977**, *99*, 2591-2597.

[5] Gol'dfarb, Y. I.; Belen'kii, L. I. Strain and reactivity in monocyclic systems. *Russ. Chem. Rev.* **1960**, *29*, 214.

[6] Wiberg, K. B. The concept of strain in organic chemistry. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.*1986, 25, 312-322.

[7] Grossel, M. *Alicyclic Chemistry*, (Eds.:Davies, S. G.), Oxford University Press, New York, **2006**, pp. 20-22 and pp. 43-50.

[8] Shiina, I. Total synthesis of natural 8-and 9-membered lactones: recent advancements in medium-sized ring formation. *Chem. Rev.* **2007**, *107*, 239-273.

[9] Hussain, A.; Yousuf, S. K.; Mukherjee, D. Importance and synthesis of benzannulated medium-sized and macrocyclic rings (BMRs). *RSC Adv.* **2014**, *4*, 43241-43257.

[10] Romines, K. R.; Watenpaugh, K. D.; Tomich, P. K.; Howe, W. J.; Morris, J. K.; Lovasz, K. D.; Mulichak, A. M.; Finzel, B. C.; Lynn, J. C. Use of medium-sized cycloalkyl rings to enhance secondary binding: Discovery of a new class of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) protease inhibitors. *J. Med. Chem.* **1995**, *38*, 1884-1891.

[11] Clarke, A. K.; Unsworth, W. P. A happy medium: The synthesis of medicinally important medium-sized rings via ring expansion. *Chem. Sci.* **2020**, *11*, 2876–2881.

[12] Majumdar, K. C. Regioselective formation of medium-ring heterocycles of biological relevance by intramolecular cyclization. *RSC Adv.* **2011**, *1*, 1152-1170.

[13] Yet, L. Metal-mediated synthesis of medium-sized rings. *Chem. Rev.* 2000, 100, 2963-3008.

[14] Capasso, C.; Supuran, C. T. Sulfa and trimethoprim-like drugs–antimetabolites acting as carbonic anhydrase, dihydropteroate synthase and dihydrofolate reductase inhibitors. *J. Enzym. Inhib. Med. Chem.* **2014**, *29*, 379-387.

[15] Puccetti, L.; Fasolis, G.; Vullo, D.; Chohan, Z. H.; Scozzafava, A.; Supuran, C. T. Carbonic anhydrase inhibitors. Inhibition of cytosolic/tumor-associated carbonic

anhydrase isozymes I, II, IX, and XII with Schiff's bases incorporating chromone and aromatic sulfonamide moieties, and their zinc complexes. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **2005**, *15*, 3096-3101.

[16] Standal, J. E. Pizotifen as an antidepressant. *Acta Psychiatr. Scand.* 1977, 56, 276-279.

[17] Couch, J. R.; Hassanein, R. S. Amitriptyline in migraine prophylaxis. *Arch. Neurol.***1979**, *36*, 695-699.

[18] De Bruyne, P.; Christiaens, T.; Boussery, K.; Mehuys, E.; Van Winckel, M. Are antihistamines effective in children? A review of the evidence. *Arch. Dis. Child.* **2017**, *102*, 56-60.

[19] Metternich, J. B.; Artiukhin, D. G.; Holland, M. C.; von Bremen-Kühne, M.; Neugebauer, J.; Gilmour, R. Photocatalytic $E \rightarrow Z$ isomerization of polarized alkenes inspired by the visual cycle: mechanistic dichotomy and origin of selectivity. *J. Org. Chem.* **2017**, *82*, 9955-9977.

[20] Schubert, W. M.; Sweeney, W. A.; Latourette, H. K. Spectroscopic and Other Properties of Large Ring Mono-and Dimeric Benzocyclanones Prepared by a Highdilution Friedel-Crafts Reaction 1. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1954**, *76*, 5462-5466.

[21] Jones, C. G.; Martynowycz, M. W.; Hattne, J.; Fulton, T. J.; Stoltz, B. M.; Rodriguez,

J. A.; Nelson, H. M.; Gonen, T. The CryoEM method MicroED as a powerful tool for small molecule structure determination. *ACS Cent. Sci.* **2018**, *4*, 1587-1592.

[22] Wigman, B.; Popov, S.; Bagdasarian, A. L.; Shao, B.; Benton, T. R.; Williams, C. G.; Fisher, S. P.; Lavallo, V.; Houk, K. N.; Nelson, H. M. Vinyl carbocations generated under basic conditions and their intramolecular C-H insertion reactions. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2019**, 141, 9140-9144.

[23] Bagdasarian, A. L.; Popov, S.; Wigman, B.; Wei, W.; Lee, W.; Nelson, H. M. Urea-Catalyzed Vinyl Carbocation Formation Enables Mild Functionalization of Unactivated C–H Bonds. *Org. Lett.* 2020, *22*, 7775-7779.

[24] Popov, S.; Shao, B.; Bagdasarian, A. L.; Benton, T. R.; Zou, L.; Yang, Z.; Houk, K. N.; Nelson, H. M. Teaching an old carbocation new tricks: Intermolecular C–H insertion reactions of vinyl cations. *Science* **2018**, *361*, 381-387.

[25] Colas, K.; Dos Santos A.; Mendoza, A. i-Pr₂NMgCl·LiCl Enables the Synthesis of Ketones by Direct Addition of Grignard Reagents to Carboxylate Anions. *Org. Lett.* **2019**, *21*, 7908–7913.

[26] Bruneau-Voisine, A.; Pallova, L.; Bastin, S.; César, V.; Sortais, J. Manganese catalyzed α-methylation of ketones with methanol as a C1 source. *Chem. Commun.* 2019, *55*, 314–317.
[27] Kruegel, A. C. U. S. Patent Application 17/510, 108.

[28] Zheng, Q.; Liang, Y.; Qin, C.; Jiao, N. Ru(II)-catalyzed intermolecular C–H amidation of weakly coordinating ketones. *Chem. Commun.* **2013**, *49*, 5654–5656.

[29] Yang, F.; Ding, D.; Wang, C. Nickel-Catalyzed Directed Cross-Electrophile Coupling of Phenolic Esters with Alkyl Bromides. *Org. Lett.* **2020**, *22*, 9203–9209.

[30] Mihai, M. T.; Williams, B. D.; Phipps, R. J. Para-Selective C–H Borylation of Common Arene Building Blocks Enabled by Ion-Pairing with a Bulky Countercation. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2019**, *141*, 15477–15482.

[31] Zhang, B.; Wang, H.; Kang, Y.; Zhang, P.; Xu, H.; Lu, Y.; Sun, W. Rhodium-Catalyzed Direct Ortho C–H Arylation Using Ketone as Directing Group with Boron Reagent. *Org. Lett.* **2017**, *19*, 5940–5943.

[32] Zhang, B.; Wang, H.; Kang, Y.; Zhang, P.; Xu, H.; Lu, Y.; Sun, W. Rhodium-Catalyzed Direct Ortho C–H Arylation Using Ketone as Directing Group with Boron Reagent. *Org. Lett.* 2017, *19*, 5940–5943.

[33] Li, Z.; Gupta, M. K.; Snowden, T. S. One-Carbon Homologation of Primary Alcohols and the Reductive Homologation of Aldehydes Involving a Jocic-Type Reaction. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* **2015**, *32*, 7009–7019.

[34] Avery, M. A.; Muraleedharan, K. M.; Desai, P. V.; Bandyopadhyaya, A. K.; Furtado,
M. M.; Tekwani, B. L. Structure–Activity Relationships of the Antimalarial Agent
Artemisinin. 8. Design, Synthesis, and CoMFA Studies toward the Development of
Artemisinin-Based Drugs against Leishmaniasis and Malaria. *J. Med. Chem.* 2003, 46, 4244–4258.

[35] Liu, Q.; Hong, J.; Sun, B.; Bai, G.; Li, F.; Liu, G.; Yang, Y.; Mo, F. Transition-Metal-Free Borylation of Alkyl Iodides via a Radical Mechanism. *Org. Lett.* 2019, *21*, 6597–6602.
[36] Shrestha, T. B.; Troyer, D. L.; Bossmann, S. H. Strategies for Large-Scale Synthesis of Coelenterazine for in Vivo Applications. *Synthesis*, 2014, *46*, 646–652.

[37] Moriya, T.; Yoneda, S.; Kawana, K.; Ikeda, R.; Konakahara, T.; Sakai, N. Indium-Catalyzed Reductive Bromination of Carboxylic Acids Leading to Alkyl Bromides. *Org. Lett.* **2012**, *14*, 4842–4845. [39] Frisch, M. J.; Trucks, G. W.; Schlegel, H. B.; Scuseria, G. E.; Robb, M. A.; Cheeseman,

J. R.; Scalmani, G.; Barone, V.; Petersson, G. A.; Nakatsuji, H.; Li, X.; Caricato, M.; Marenich, A. V.; Bloino, J.; Janesko, B. G.; Gomperts, R.; Mennucci, B.; Hratchian, H. P.;

Ortiz, J. V.; Izmaylov, A. F.; Sonnenberg, J. L.; Williams-Young, D.; Ding, F.;Lipparini, F.;

Egidi, F.; Goings, J.; Peng, B.; Petrone, A.; Henderson, T.; Ranasinghe, D.; Zakrzewski, V.

G.; Gao, J.; Rega, N.; Zheng, G.; Liang, W.; Hada, M.; Ehara, M.; Toyota, K.; Fukuda, R.;

Hasegawa, J.; Ishida, M.; Nakajima, T.; Honda, Y.; Kitao, O.; Nakai, H.; Vreven, T.;

Throssell, K.; Montgomery Jr., J. A.; Peralta, J. E.; Ogliaro, F.; Bearpark, M. J.; Heyd, J. J.;

Brothers, E. N.; Kudin, K. N.; Staroverov, V. N.; Keith, T. A.; Kobfayashi, R.; Normand, J.;

Raghavachari, K.; Rendell, A. P.; Burant, J. C.; Iyengar, S. S.; Tomasi, J.; Cossi, M.; Millam,

J. M.; Klene, M.; Adamo, C.; Cammi, R.; Ochterski, J. W.; Martin, R. L.; Morokuma, K.; Farkas, O.; Foresman, J. B.; Fox, D. J. *Gaussian 16*; Gaussian, Inc.: Wallingford, CT, 2016.
[40] Chai, J.-D.; Head-Gordon, M. Long-range corrected hybrid density functionals with damped atom–atom dispersion corrections. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* 2008, *10*, 6615–6620.
[41] Weigend, F.; Ahlrichs, R. Balanced basis sets of split valence, triple zeta valence and quadruple zeta valence quality for H to Rn: Design and assessment of accuracy. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* 2005, *7*, 3297–3305.

[42] Marenich, A. V.; Cramer, C. J.; Truhlar, D. G. Universal Solvation Model Based on Solute Electron Density and on a Continuum Model of the Solvent Defined by the Bulk Dielectric Constant and Atomic Surface Tensions. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2009**, *113*, 6378–6396.

[43] (a) Grimme, S.; Bannwarth, C.; Shushkov, P. A Robust and Accurate Tight-Binding Quantum Chemical Method for Structures, Vibrational Frequencies, and Noncovalent Interactions of Large Molecular Systems Parametrized for All spd-Block Elements (Z = 1-86). J. Chem. Theory Comput. 2017, 13, 1989–2009. (b) Bannwarth, C.; Ehlert, S.; Grimme, S. GFN2-xTB—An Accurate and Broadly Parametrized Self-Consistent Tight-Binding Quantum Chemical Method with Multipole Electrostatics and Density-Dependent Dispersion Contributions. J. Chem. Theory Comput. 2019, 15, 1652-1671. (c) Pracht, P.; Caldeweyher, E.; Ehlert, S.; Grimme, S. A Robust Non-Self-Consistent Tight-Binding Quantum Chemistry Method for large Molecules. ChemRxiv 2019, https://doi.org/10.26434/chemrxiv.8326202.v1

[44] Legault, C. Y. *CYLview*, 1.0b; Universite' de Sherbrooke, **2009**; <u>http://www.cylview.org</u>.

[45] Kuprat, M.; Lehmann, M.; Shulz, A.; Villinger, A. Synthesis of Pentafluorophenyl Silver by Means of Lewis Acid Catalysis: Structure of Silver Solvent Complexes. *Organometallics*, **2010**, *29*, 1421–1427.

APPENDIX 2

Spectra Relevant to Chapter 2: Accessing Medium-sized

Rings via Vinyl Carbocation Intermediates


































-34.7992 -34.7992

-53.3216

143.5552 143.55552 141.6055 130.5746 130.5746 122.3381 122.4523 122.5523 122.5523 122.5523 122.5523 122.5523 122.5523 122.5	





























33.
Ś
of compound
$\widehat{\Box}$
0°09
CDCl ₃ ,
MHz, (
0
50
NMR (
H















\sim
τ ή
•1
5
5
=
2
õ
<u>р</u>
Ę
0
0
e
T
\circ
\frown
()
\sim
Š
\mathcal{L}
Ś
•
ŝ
5
\cup
\frown
()
-
⊾î
<u> </u>
\pm
>
_
\circ
\leq
ĭ
31
\sim
\sim
>
\mathbf{Z}
T
<u> </u>















187















б

10

¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃, 70°C) of compound **S35**.



-6.9503 -6.9503 -7.3395 -7.5395 -7. 22552 225552 225552 225552 225552 225552 225552 225555 225555 225555

1.5985 1.6078 1.6078 1.6078 1.6078

-2.4162

9198.2-

3.6010 3.6490 3.6489 3.6489 3.6489 3.6489 3.6489 3.6010

0









1.2260 1.2318 12.2260		{	-	0	
-1.2468 -1.2523 -1.2523 -1.25468 -1.2733 -1.2748			-70.4	1	
2089.1 2089.1 2089.1 2089.1 8770.1 8770.1 2005.1			3.28 0.99 1.00 1.27 1.13	- N	
2267.1- 8007.1- 8707.1			- 90.1 - 20.1 - 20.1	- M	nd S37 .
-3.3482 -3.3482 -3.34653 -3.34653 -1.8451] -96.0	4	compon
68783 6.7567 6.7567 6.7554 7.5554 6.7554 7.5556 7.55567 7.55567 7.55567 7.55567 7.55567 7.55567 7.55567 7.55567 7.55567 7.55567 7.555677 7.5556777 7.55567777777777				5 ppm	Hz, CDCl3) of
1188'91 5160'21 7560'21			-	9	R (500 M
23553 22263 22240 22400 22400 22400 22400 22400 22400 22400 22400 22400 22400 22400 22400 22400 22400 2000 200000000			2.10 1.07 1.07 1.06 1.01 1.01 1.01 1.01		IWN H _I
0198:27 1876:27 1886:77 1886:77	s		- ۲.00.۲	~ ∞	
73027 7.4052 7.4032 7.4032			-	- б	
7262.7 8262.7 1082.7 1082.7 1082.7 1082.7	∠ZĔ		-	10	




of compound S38.
55°C)
CDCl ₃ ,
126 MHz,
¹³ C NMR (

























29.7395 29.0839 21.4976 21.4976 29.0839 29.7395 29.7395 29.7395 20.7495 20.759

8448.99-

114:430 150:5181 152:365 152:365 152:365 152:368 155:368 15
9997.461
7071.141
158.8914























5
Y)
compound
) of
Cla
CD
MHz,
(40(
Ą
\leq
Z
H^{1}

•





292.1 202.2 202.2 202.2 202.2 202.2 202.2 202.2 2 202.2 2 202.2 2 2 2		- - - -
		- - - 1 -
	5.95 2.95 2.95 2.95	- N
277 £1 £92/£1 592/£1 692/£1 122/£1 122/£1 062/£1	∲90.⊅	- - - - M
	0.97-∃ 2.95 3.13-≇ 3.13	- - - 4
692/9- 128/9- 988/9- 989- 918/9- 669/9-		bbm - 2
800.7 v 202.2 v 202.3 v 202.5	86.0	- - - - -
210'2'	1.923 1.233 1.233	- N - N
961 2 - 971	46.1	- - - 00 -
Oge 171,75 171		- - - -
886.7 762.7 762.7 762.7 762.7 886.7 88		10





¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) of compound **128**.





compound S53.
ofc
CDC13)
MHz,
(101)
¹³ C NMR

	20
43.4072 حمع 43.3029	
S409.ET—	80
- 152.7673 - 126.0106 - 126.2470	100
-126,53045 -128,5545 -128,5642 -128,5045 -128,5045 -128,525 -128,555 -128,5	120
1824.861 1692.861 8964.921 7652.621	140
	160
<u>–</u> ғ	180
	200







•
3
_
p
ц
Ξ.
ō
ō.
F
Ц
Ö
ō
<i>.</i>
Ť
\circ
<u> </u>
5
$\mathbf{\nabla}$
\Box
5
\cup
•
N
H
\geq
0
õ
4
ت
- 4
\simeq
Y
\geq
7
\sim
H
цц,
1





		compound too.
¢	Ċ	5
	400 MH2	









	•
D	
	2
5	5
4	
Ē	Ś
g)
- 5	2
- 5	3
- 2	5
Ē	5
4	4
Ċ)
\sim	_
<u>`</u> ~	2
7	5
\geq	(
C)
	•
_ N	
I	
-	ł
~	÷.
\subset	5
ē	5
v	5
)	-
\sim	1
\leq	
2	ł
7	
-	1
H	
_	1






















		- O
4200.82 57.65.72 27.52.72 27.32.43		20
6098.18 7997.18 7998.98		40
-52.3638	Average (1) And (1) Average (1	09
	and the distance of the distan	80
	Ar waiting for the second s	m 100
2028,111 2282.731 2282.721 2282.721 2720.721		120 pp
2128.381 2326.061		140
8800.021 8078.951 8078.951	Disk hunstyle market og by starter.	160
VMe ₂	na kristaj je je na kristaj je je na kristaj je je na kristaj je je na kristaj je na kristaj je na kristaj je n	180
	nd Direction of the second	200
	in university of the second	220

















ound 119.
of comp
CDCl ₃)
500 MHz,
NMR (5

 H^{1}





120.
compound
of
CDCl ₃)
00 MHz,
AR (5
NN H





\searrow)=(_ _{rst}
$\left(\right)$	∽ v

CHAPTER 3

Lithium-mediated Selective [2+2] Cycloadditions via Vinyl Carbocations

3.1 INTRODUCTION

Cyclobutene motifs with strained 4-membered carbocycles¹ are versatile blocks in organic synthesis and are critical structures in various natural products.^{2,3} The [2+2] cycloaddition reaction offers a straightforward and efficient method for synthesizing these strained structures, allowing the formation of two bonds in a single step.⁴ Alkenes and alkynes are the most common precursors for [2+2] cycloadditions. However, due to orbital symmetry restrictions described by the Woodward-Hoffmann rules,⁵ most [2+2] cycloadditions require photochemical conditions.⁶

Transition metals such as gold⁷, palladium⁸, and cobalt⁹ can activate alkyne species and facilitate [2+2] cycloadditions with alkene partners under thermal conditions (Scheme 3.1A). Lewis acids can also promote some thermal [2+2] cycloadditions, although polarized alkynes, such as ynones^{10,11} and terminal alkynes¹², are often required for these reactions (Scheme 3.1B). A concerted thermal [2+2] cycloaddition can also be achieved when ketenes react with other ketenes or alkenes (Scheme 3.1C).¹³

Scheme 3.1 Thermal [2+2] cycloadditions with alkenes and alkynes. Me, methyl; ^tBu, tert-butyl.



As highly electron-deficient species, vinyl carbocations are also reactive towards alkenes, potentially yielding [2+2] cycloaddition products. This type of reactivity was previously reported by Griesbaum¹⁴, Olah¹⁵, and Hanack¹⁶. However, these reactions typically require strong Brønsted acids, such as hydrogen chloride and fluorosulfuric acid, or stoichiometric noble metal Lewis acids and often present selectivity issues. For example, in the presence of silver tetrafluoroborate (AgBF₄), a vinyl carbocation generated from the readily ionizable vinyl bromide **133**, which reacted with cyclohexene to yield the cyclobutene product **134**. However, side products such as vinyl fluoride **135** and ring-opening product **136**, induced by the nucleophilic trapping of fluorides, were also observed (Scheme 3.2A).^{16a} Developing a system with better selectivity towards [2+2] cycloaddition products following vinyl cation generation is thus of great interest.

Scheme 3.2 [2+2] cycloadditions via vinyl carbocations. (A) Silver-initiated [2+2] cycloaddition of the vinyl bromide and cyclohexene (B) Lithium-initiated C–H insertions of vinyl carbocations (C) This work: Lithium-initiated [2+2] cycloaddition of vinylogous triflates. An, para-anisyl.

A. Hanack: silver-initiated [2+2] cycloaddition of the vinyl bromide and cyclohexene





C. This work: lithium-initiated [2+2] cycloaddition of vinylogous triflates



Our laboratory has developed a Lewis acid-weakly coordinating anion (WCA) approach to induce challenging ionizations from vinyl sulfonates to access vinyl carbocation intermediates.^{17–21} When the precatalyst trityl tetrakis(pentafluorophenyl)borate $([Ph_3C]^+[B(C_6F_5)_4]^-)$ and lithium additive lithium bis(trimethylsilyl)amide (LiHMDS) are added together, a metathesis reaction is proposed to occur, forming the lithium-WCA pair $([Li]^+[B(C_6F_5)_4]^-)$. The lithium in this highly Lewis acidic pair abstracts the trifluoromethanesulfonate (triflate) group from the vinyl triflate precursor **137** (Scheme

3.2B).¹⁸ In this catalytic system, the nucleophilicities of both the WCA species $[B(C_6F_5)_4]^$ and the sterically hindered LiHMDS are weak. Therefore, the high-energy vinyl cation intermediate **138** is not prone to nucleophilic quenching, and the C–H functionalization product **139** is furnished.

3.2 MODEL SUBSTRATE STUDY

Utilizing the Li-WCA system, we extended this system to vinyl cation [2+2] cycloadditions (Scheme 3.2C). After initial experiments, we identified that vinyl triflate **140** could undergo cycloaddition to yield [4.2.0] bicycle **141**. Therefore, we used vinyl triflate **140** as a model substrate to optimize the reaction conditions (Table 3.1).

Inspired by the previously reported lithium-WCA catalytic conditions from our laboratory¹⁸, we found that using 10 mol% [Li]⁺[B(C₆F₅)₄]⁻ and 1.2 equivalents of LiHMDS in cyclohexane (CyH) produced compound **141** in 40% yield (entry 1) after 30 minutes at 30 °C. Increasing the equivalents of LiHMDS to 2.2 improved the yield to 54% (entry 2). The [Li]⁺[B(C₆F₅)₄]⁻ catalyst was necessary to initiate the reaction, as no reaction occurred with only LiHMDS in CyH (entry 3). The reaction yield was further enhanced to 72% when using the aromatic, electron-deficient trifluorotoluene (PhCF₃) solvent (entry 4). Surprisingly, in the absence of the expensive [Li]⁺[B(C₆F₅)₄]⁻ catalyst, LiHMDS initiated the reaction in PhCF₃ with an 84% yield (entry 5). Other common lithium bases, such as lithium *tert*-butoxide (LiO'Bu) (entry 6), lithium diisopropylamide (LDA) (entry 7), and lithium hydride (LiH) (see experimental section) were evaluated, but they either failed to induce the ionization of the vinyl triflate precursor or resulted in complex mixtures. Subsequently, trimethylsilylamide bases were evaluated. Sodium bis(trimethylsilylamide (NaHMDS)

dropped the yield to 47% (entry 8), while no reaction was observed with potassium (KHMDS) (entry 9) or protic bis(trimethylsilyl)amide (H-HMDS) (see experimental section). Lastly, a solvent screen was undertaken. Most halogenated solvents, including dichloromethane and 1,2-dichloroethane, or nucleophilic solvents, such as tetrahydrofuran (THF) (entry 10), acetonitrile and diethyl ether, resulted in low or no yield of product **141** (see experimental section). In the end, we decided to use entry 5 as the optimized conditions for further studies.

	OTF O OEt Lewis acid additive		
	Me solvent (0.02 M) 30 °C 30 min Me	OOEt	
entry	140 Lewis acid additive	solvent	yield (%)
1	[Li] ⁺ [B(C ₆ F ₅) ₄] ⁻ (10 mol%) + LiHMDS (1.2 equiv)	СуН	40
2	[Li] ⁺ [B(C ₆ F ₅) ₄] ⁻ (10 mol%) + LiHMDS (2.2 equiv)	СуН	54
3	LiHMDS (2.2 equiv)	СуН	no reaction
4	[Li] ⁺ [B(C ₆ F ₅) ₄] ⁻ (10 mol%) + LiHMDS (2.2 equiv)	PhCF ₃	72
5	LiHMDS (2.2 equiv)	PhCF ₃	84
6	LiO ^t Bu (2.2 equiv)	PhCF ₃	no reaction
7	LDA (2.2 equiv)	PhCF ₃	n.d.
8	NaHMDS (2.2 equiv)	PhCF ₃	47
9	KHMDS (2.2 equiv)	PhCF ₃	n.d.
10	LiHMDS (2.2 equiv)	THF	n.d.

 Table 3.1 Optimization of the [2+2] cycloaddition reaction.

* Yield determined by ¹H NMR using nitromethane as an internal standard. TfO, trifluoromethanesulfonate; Et, ethyl; Cy, cyclohexyl; Ph, phenyl; LiHMDS, lithium bis(trimethylsilyl)amide; LDA, lithium diisopropylamide; NaHMDS, sodium

bis(trimethylsilyl)amide; KHMDS, potassium bis(trimethylsilyl)amide; THF, tetrahydrofuran.

3.3 SUBSTRATE STUDY

With the optimized conditions (entry 5, Table 3.1), we set out to explore the substrate scope (Scheme 3.3). Starting from model substrate **140**, we achieved an isolated yield of 81% for product **141**. We also examined the influence of different ester substitutions on the reaction, obtaining methyl ester **143** and isopropyl ester **144** in 70% and 56% yield, respectively. Additionally, we studied the steric effect of the vicinal aryl group on the vinyl triflate. Vinyl triflate precursors with *meta-* and *ortho-*methylated aryl groups generated their corresponding products **145** and **146** in 67% and 59% yield, respectively. Regarding the electronic effects of the aryl group, besides moderately electron-rich tolyl groups, an electron-neutral phenyl group, and a moderately electron-poor *para-*fluorophenyl group were well tolerated, forming products **147** and **148** in 74% and 61% yield, respectively. Product **149**, containing a [3.2.0] bicycle, was generated with a slightly decreased yield of 55%. Unfortunately, attempts to synthesize the more strained [2.2.0] or [5.2.0] derivatives **151** and **152** were unsuccessful.

Moreover, substrates with different carbonyl-based functional groups other than an ester could also undergo this type of [2+2] cycloaddition reaction. Product **150**, bearing a ketone, was furnished in 35% yield. Vinyl triflate derivatives with amide or nitrile groups were evaluated, but products **153** and **154** were not observed.

In closing, the high selectivity of this [2+2] cycloaddition was limited to terminal alkenes. When the influence of alkene substitution on reactivity was studied with a vinyl triflate with 1,2-disubstituted alkene, a complex mixture was formed and compound **155** was not observed.

Scheme 3.3 Scope of the [2+2] cycloaddition reaction from vinylogous triflate precursors under LiHMDS. The reaction was performed on 0.05 mmol scale unless otherwise specified. All yield were isolated yield unless specified. All structures were characterized by NMR. ⁱPr, isopropyl; Bu, n-butyl.



3.4 MECHANISTIC STUDY

Following the substrate scope studies, additional experiments were conducted to gain a deeper understanding of the reaction mechanism. To probe the intermediacy of the vinyl carbocation, *tert*-butyl substituted vinyl triflate **156** was subjected to the standard reaction conditions (Scheme 3.4A). At 30 °C, no reactivity was observed and the vinyl triflate was recovered. The stability of the vinyl triflate could be attributed to the higher energy of the hypothetical vinyl carbocation intermediate **158**, which lacks π -stabilization from vicinal aryl groups compared to the vinyl triflates utilized in this reaction. Consequently, the activation energy required for the abstraction of triflate to generate the vinyl carbocation was very high, and precursor **156** remained stable and did not undergo ionization.

Further evidence of the cationic intermediate was obtained when vinyl triflate **159** was subjected to LiHMDS in benzene solvent (Scheme 3.4B). Product **160** was observed in 32% yield along with a mixture of side products. Gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS) analysis identified these minor products as the Friedel-Crafts adducts of benzene onto the vinyl carbocation intermediate. This result further supports the intermediacy of the vinyl carbocation in the cycloaddition mechanism.

Scheme 3.4 Scope of the [2+2] cycloaddition from vinylogous triflate precursors under LiHMDS. The reaction was performed on 0.05 mmol scale unless otherwise specified. All yield were isolated yield unless specified. All structures were characterized by NMR.





3.5 CONCLUSION

In conclusion, we have discovered a LiHMDS-mediated selective [2+2] cycloaddition between a vinyl carbocation and a terminal alkene. This method provides

synthetic chemists with mild conditions and quick access to strained cyclobutene-containing [4.2.0] and [3.2.0] bicycles from vinylogous triflate precursors, further demonstrating the versatile application of vinyl carbocations in constructing strained systems.

3.6 CONTRIBUTION AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The substrate study in section 3.3 was completed in collaboration with Nils H. Rendel.

3.7 EXPERIMENTAL SECTION

3.7.1 Materials and methods

Unless otherwise stated, all reactions were performed in a MBraun glovebox under nitrogen atmosphere with ≤ 3.0 ppm O₂ levels. All glassware and stir-bars were dried in a 160 °C oven for at least 12 hours and dried *in vacuo* before use. All liquid substrates were rigorously dried (over CaH₂ or filtered through dry neutral aluminum oxide) before use. Ethyl ether, tetrahydrofuran, dichloromethane, 1,2-dichloroethane, acetonitrile, benzene, and toluene were dried in a JC Meyer solvent system. Trifluorotoluene were distilled over CaH₂ and degassed. [Li]⁺[B(C₆F₅)₄]⁻ salts were synthesized according to literature procedure.²² Thin layer chromatography (TLC) was performed using Millipore silica gel 60 F₂₅₄ precoated plates (0.25 mm) and visualized by UV fluorescence quenching. SiliaFlash P60 silica gel (230-400 mesh) was used for flash chromatography. NMR spectra were recorded on a Varian 500, a Bruker Ascend 400 with Prodigy cryoprobe, or a Varian Oxford 300. Data for ¹H NMR spectra are as follows: chemical shift (ppm), multiplicity, coupling constant (Hz), and integration. Multiplicities are as follows: s = singlet, d = doublet, t = triplet, dt = doublet of triplet, dd = doublet of doublet of doublet of doublet, ddt = doublet of doublet of triplet, td = triplet of doublet, tt = triplet of triplet, tdt = triplet of doublet of triplet, q = quartet, qd = quartet of doublet, qt = quartet of triplet, p = pentet, hept = septet, and m = multiplet. IR Spectra were record on a Thermo Scientific Nicolet iS50 FT-IR and are reported in terms of frequency absorption (cm⁻¹). Unless noted otherwise, silicone oil bath was used as the heating source for the reactions that require heating.

3.7.2 Preparation of vinyl triflate substrates



Representative scheme for vinyl triflate substrates synthesis.

General Procedure 7: A three-neck flask was charged with sodium hydride (4 equiv). THF (to make a 0.33 M solution of ketone **S56**) and dialkyl carbonate (4 equiv) were added into the flask through a syringe. Ketone **S56** (1 equiv) was then added slowly into the reaction solution, and the solution was heated to reflux. After 18 hours, the reaction was cooled down to 0 °C and quenched with conc. hydrochloric acid slowly until pH = 1. The mixture was extracted with diethyl ether 3 times. The combined organic phase was washed with brine, dried with magnesium sulfate, filtered, and then concentrated in vacuo. The crude product was purified via flash column chromatography with hexanes and diethyl ether as eluents to get the pure product **S57**.

General Procedure 8: A 3-neck flask was charged with acetone (to make a 0.33 M solution of ester **S57**), ester **S57** (1 equiv), potassium carbonate (1.5 equiv), and alkyl iodide (2 equiv). The solution was refluxed for 18 hours. Then, acetone was removed in vacuo, and water and diethyl ether were added to dilute the mixture. After the separation, the aqueous phase was extracted with diethyl ether 2 more times. The combined organic phase was washed with brine, dried with magnesium sulfate, filtered, and concentrated in vacuo. The crude product was purified via flash column chromatography with hexanes and diethyl ether as eluents to get the pure product **S58**.

General Procedure 9: In a flame-dried Schlenk flask, sodium hydride (1.8 equiv) was mixed with toluene (9 equiv). β -keto ester S58 was dissolved in toluene (9 equiv) and the solution was added to sodium hydride slurry via syringe. The reaction was heated at 85 °C for 1.5 hours. After it was cooled down to 0 °C, triflic anhydride (1.5 equiv) was added dropwise via syringe. After 1 hour, the reaction was quenched with water and diluted with dichloromethane. After the separation, the aqueous phase was extracted 2 more times with dichloromethane. The combined organic phase was washed with brine, dried with sodium sulfate, decanted, and concentrated in vacuo. The crude product was purified via flash column chromatography with 5% triethylamine in hexanes and diethyl ether as eluents to get the pure product S59.

OTf

ethyl 2-(p-tolyl(((trifluoromethyl)sulfonyl)oxy)methylene)oct-7-enoate (140). Synthesized according to General Procedure 7, 8, and 9.

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CD₂Cl₂) δ 7.29 (d, J = 8.3 Hz, 2H), 7.25 (d, J = 7.9 Hz, 2H), 5.72 (ddt, J = 16.9, 10.2, 6.7 Hz, 1H), 4.97 – 4.86 (m, 2H), 4.30 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 2.38 (s, 3H), 2.33 – 2.22 (m, 2H), 1.98 – 1.90 (m, 2H), 1.48 – 1.38 (m, 2H), 1.37 – 1.26 (m, 5H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CD₂Cl₂) δ 165.5, 147.3, 141.3, 138.5, 129.3, 129.2, 128.6, 128.2, 118.2 (q, J = 322 Hz), 114.4, 61.9, 33.2, 29.8, 28.2, 27.8, 21.3, 13.9. ¹⁹F NMR (282 MHz, CD₂Cl₂) δ -75.00.

FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 2980, 2936, 2864, 1727, 1642, 1611, 1511, 1421, 1368, 1298, 1209, 1140, 1023, 973, 914, 846, 639.

HR-MS (FD-MS) m/z: [M]+ Calc'd for C₁₉H₂₃O₅F₃S 420.1218; Found 420.1223.



methyl 2-(p-tolyl(((trifluoromethyl)sulfonyl)oxy)methylene)oct-7-enoate (S61). Synthesized according to General Procedure 7, 8, and 9.

¹H NMR (500 MHz, CD₂Cl₂) δ 7.28 (d, *J* = 7.9 Hz, 2H), 7.25 (d, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 2H), 5.84 – 5.52 (m, 1H), 4.99 – 4.85 (m, 2H), 3.83 (s, 3H), 2.38 (s, 3H), 2.29 (t, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 2H), 1.95 (q, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 1.43 (p, *J* = 7.7 Hz, 2H), 1.31 (p, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 2H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CD₂Cl₂) δ 165.9, 147.6, 141.3, 138.4, 129.3, 129.1, 128.4, 128.1, 118.1 (*J* = 321.2 Hz), 114.3, 52.2, 33.1, 29.8, 28.2, 27.8, 21.2.

¹⁹F NMR (376 MHz, CD₂Cl₂) δ -75.01.

FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 3077, 2929, 2860, 1730, 1642, 1610, 1510, 1419, 1301, 1208, 1138, 1024, 978, 912, 840, 761, 727, 641, 606.

HR-MS (FD-MS) m/z: [M]+ Calc'd for C₁₈H₂₁O₅F₃S 406.1062; Found 406.1059.



N-methoxy-*N*,4-dimethylbenzamide (S62).

1-Ethyl-3-(3-dimethylaminopropyl)carbodiimidium chloride (EDC, 14.1 g, 73.4 mmol, 2 equiv), 4-dimethylaminopyridine (DMAP, 0.45 g, 3.7 mmol, 0.1 equiv), *O*,*N*-dimethylhydroxylaminium chloride (3.94 g, 40.4 mmol, 1.1 equiv), DCM (74 mL, to make a 0.5 M solution of the carboxylic acid), and 4-methylbenzoic acid (5.00 g, 36.7 mmol, 1 equiv) were added to a flask. Triethylamine (10.2 mL, 2 equiv) was then added slowly. After 18 hours, the reaction was quenched with water. After the separation, the organic phase was washed with 1 M HCl solution 2 times, saturated sodium bicarbonate solution, and brine. It was then dried with magnesium sulfate and concentrated in vacuo. The crude product **S62** was used in the next step without further purification.



isopropyl 3-oxo-3-(p-tolyl)propanoate (S63).

Tetrahydrofuran (THF, 60 mL) and diisopropylamine (2.54 mL, 18.0 mmol, 3 equiv) were added into a Schlenk flask. The solution was cooled down to -78 °C and n-butyllithium solution (2.38 M, 7.82 mL, 18.6 mmol, 3.1 equiv) was added dropwise. After 1 minute, isopropyl acetate (2.1 mL, 18 mmol, 3 equiv) was added into the solution at -78 °C. The solution was stirred under this temperature for another 15 minutes. Then, **S62** (1.08 g, 6.00 mmol, 1 equiv) in THF (12 mL) was added at -78 °C and the solution was stirred for another 15 minutes. Then it was warmed up to 0 °C and stirred for 18 hours

warming up to 25 °C. The reaction was quenched with saturated sodium bicarbonate solution and diluted with diethyl ether and water. After the separation, the aqueous phase was extracted with diethyl ether 2 more times. The combined organic phase was washed with brine, dried with magnesium sulfate, filtered, and concentrated in vacuo. The crude product was purified via flash column chromatography with hexanes:diethyl ether = 5:1 as eluents to get the pure product **S63** (0.77 g, 58% yield).



isopropyl 2-(p-tolyl(((trifluoromethyl)sulfonyl)oxy)methylene)oct-7-enoate (S64).
Synthesized according to General Procedure 8 and 9 from S63.

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CD₂Cl₂) δ 7.28 (d, *J* = 8.3 Hz, 2H), 7.24 (d, *J* = 8.1 Hz, 2H), 5.72 (ddt, *J* = 16.9, 10.2, 6.7 Hz, 1H), 5.15 (p, *J* = 6.3 Hz, 1H), 4.96 – 4.84 (m, 2H), 2.38 (s, 3H), 2.32 – 2.21 (m, 2H), 2.01 – 1.88 (m, 2H), 1.47 – 1.38 (m, 2H), 1.32 (d, *J* = 6.6 Hz, 6H), 1.34 – 1.24 (m, 2H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CD₂Cl₂) δ 165.0, 146.9, 141.2, 138.5, 129.3, 129.2, 128.9, 128.2, 118.2 (q, J = 321 Hz), 114.4, 70.0, 33.2, 29.9, 28.3, 27.7, 21.5, 21.3.

¹⁹F NMR (376 MHz, CD₂Cl₂) δ -74.86.

FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 3078, 2981, 2931, 2862, 1723, 1661, 1642, 1611, 1511, 1453, 1421, 1389, 1375, 1354, 1295, 1276, 1247, 1205, 1182, 1138, 1103, 1024, 970, 844, 606.

HR-MS (FD-MS) m/z: [M]+ Calc'd for C₂₀H₂₅O₅F₃S 434.1375; Found 434.1379.



ethyl 2-(m-tolyl(((trifluoromethyl)sulfonyl)oxy)methylene)oct-7-enoate (S65).

Synthesized according to General Procedure 7, 8, and 9.

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CD₂Cl₂) δ 7.29 – 7.19 (m, 2H), 7.18 – 7.11 (m, 2H), 5.66 (ddt, J = 16.9, 10.2, 6.6 Hz, 1H), 4.90 – 4.80 (m, 2H), 4.24 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 2.30 (d, J = 0.8 Hz, 3H), 2.27 – 2.16 (m, 2H), 1.95 – 1.81 (m, 2H), 1.46 – 1.34 (m, 2H), 1.30 – 1.22 (m, 5H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CD₂Cl₂) δ 165.4, 147.2, 138.6, 138.4, 131.3, 131.0, 129.7, 128.7, 128.4, 126.3, 122.8, 118.1 (q, ¹ $J_{C-F} = 322$ Hz), 114.3, 113.3, 61.8, 53.6, 33.1, 29.7, 28.2, 27.6, 21.0, 13.8.

¹⁹F NMR (282 MHz, CD_2Cl_2) δ -75.02.

FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 2930, 1727, 1421, 1368, 1301, 1243, 1207, 1139, 1017, 981, 913, 852, 823, 761, 710, 606.

HR-MS (FD-MS) m/z: [M]+ Calc'd for C₁₉H₂₃O₅F₃S 420.1218; Found 420.1227.



ethyl 2-(o-tolyl(((trifluoromethyl)sulfonyl)oxy)methylene)oct-7-enoate (S66).

Synthesized according to General Procedure 7, 8, and 9.

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CD₂Cl₂) δ 7.37 (td, J = 7.4, 1.7 Hz, 1H), 7.32 – 7.19 (m, 3H), 5.69 (ddt, J = 17.1, 10.4, 6.7 Hz, 1H), 4.94 – 4.82 (m, 2H), 4.32 (qd, J = 7.1, 1.5 Hz, 2H), 2.31 (s, 3H), 2.28 – 2.22 (m, 1H), 2.03 (dt, J = 13.7, 7.7 Hz, 1H), 1.90 (qt, J = 7.0, 1.4 Hz, 2H), 1.46 – 1.37 (m, 2H), 1.36 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H), 1.30 – 1.23 (m, 2H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CD₂Cl₂) δ 165.4, 147.0, 138.5, 137.9, 130.9, 130.8, 130.6, 130.2, 129.9, 125.8, 118.1 (q, J = 322 Hz), 114.4, 62.0, 33.2, 29.7, 28.3, 27.3, 19.1, 13.9. ¹⁹F NMR (376 MHz, CD₂Cl₂) δ -75.56. FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 3075, 2931, 2860, 1728, 1641, 1602, 1421, 1369, 1300, 1248, 1209, 1180, 1140, 1018, 969, 912, 843, 769, 730, 606.

HR-MS (FD-MS) m/z: [M]+ Calc'd for C₁₉H₂₃O₅F₃S 420.1218; Found 461.1231.



methyl 2-(phenyl(((trifluoromethyl)sulfonyl)oxy)methylene)oct-7-enoate (S67).

Synthesized according to General Procedure 7, 8, and 9.

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CD_2Cl_2) δ 7.53 – 7.33 (m, 5H), 5.71 (ddt, J = 17.0, 10.3, 6.7 Hz, 1H),

4.97 – 4.81 (m, 2H), 3.84 (s, 3H), 2.36 – 2.23 (m, 2H), 1.94 (tdt, *J* = 8.2, 6.7, 1.4 Hz, 2H),

1.48 - 1.37 (m, 2H), 1.34 - 1.25 (m, 2H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CD₂Cl₂) δ 165.9, 147.4, 138.5, 131.1, 130.8, 129.3, 128.7, 128.7,

118.2 (*J* = 321 Hz), 114.5, 52.4, 33.2, 29.8, 28.3, 27.8.

¹⁹F NMR (376 MHz, CD₂Cl₂) δ -75.07.

FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 3076, 2931, 2860, 1732, 1642, 1491, 1421, 1302, 1280, 1249, 1209, 1139, 979, 913, 838, 700, 627, 616.

HR-MS (FD-MS) m/z: [M]+ Calc'd for C₁₇H₁₉O₅F₃S 392.0905; Found 392.0901.



methyl 2-((4-fluorophenyl)(((trifluoromethyl)sulfonyl)oxy)methylene)oct-7-enoate (S68).

Synthesized according to General Procedure 7, 8, and 9.
¹H NMR (500 MHz, CD₂Cl₂) δ 7.47 – 7.38 (m, 2H), 7.22 – 7.12 (m, 2H), 5.72 (ddt, *J* = 16.9, 10.2, 6.6 Hz, 1H), 4.97 – 4.84 (m, 2H), 3.84 (s, 3H), 2.35 – 2.21 (m, 2H), 1.99 – 1.90 (m, 2H), 1.50 – 1.40 (m, 2H), 1.37 – 1.27 (m, 2H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CD₂Cl₂) δ 165.62, 163.85 (*J* = 252.3 Hz), 146.24, 138.34, 131.58 (*J* = 8.9 Hz), 129.14, 127.24 (*J* = 3.6 Hz), 118.0 (*J* = 321.7 Hz), 115.9 (*J* = 22.2 Hz), 114.41, 52.33, 33.09, 29.73, 28.19, 27.63.

¹⁹F NMR (376 MHz, CD₂Cl₂) δ -75.03, -109.16.

FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 3079, 2932, 2861, 1731, 1642, 1604, 1508, 1420, 1290, 1280, 1207, 1159, 1137, 1100, 1017, 979, 964, 912, 849, 829, 814, 762, 734, 605.

HR-MS (FD-MS) m/z: [M]+ Calc'd for C₁₇H₁₈O₅F₄S 410.0811; Found 410.0807.



ethyl 2-(p-tolyl(((trifluoromethyl)sulfonyl)oxy)methylene)hept-6-enoate (S69).

Synthesized according to General Procedure 7, 8, and 9.

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CD₂Cl₂) δ 7.29 (d, *J* = 8.4 Hz, 2H), 7.24 (d, *J* = 8.2 Hz, 2H), 5.68 (ddt, *J* = 16.9, 10.2, 6.6 Hz, 1H), 4.97 – 4.76 (m, 2H), 4.30 (q, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 2.38 (s, 3H), 2.33 – 2.24 (m, 2H), 2.01 – 1.90 (m, 2H), 1.56 – 1.49 (m, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 2H), 1.34 (t, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 3H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CD₂Cl₂) δ 165.5, 147.5, 141.3, 137.8, 129.3, 129.2, 128.4, 128.2, 118.2 (q, J = 322 Hz), 114.9, 61.9, 33.1, 29.5, 27.6, 21.3, 13.9.
¹⁹F NMR (376 MHz, CD₂Cl₂) δ -74.95.

FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 3079, 2980, 2933, 1728, 1661, 1643, 1611, 1511, 1421, 1369, 1300, 1209, 1140, 1023, 973, 840, 609.

HR-MS (FD-MS) m/z: [M]+ Calc'd for C₁₈H₂₁O₅F₃S 406.1062; Found 406.1070.



2-benzoyl-1-phenylocta-1,7-dien-1-yl trifluoromethanesulfonate (S70).

Synthesized according to General Procedure 8 and 9.

¹H NMR (500 MHz, CD₂Cl₂) δ 8.06 – 7.93 (m, 2H), 7.65 (td, *J* = 7.3, 1.5 Hz, 1H), 7.59 – 7.42 (m, 7H), 5.65 (ddt, *J* = 17.1, 10.7, 6.7 Hz, 1H), 4.89 – 4.79 (m, 2H), 2.44 – 2.33 (m, 2H), 1.88 (q, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.39 (tt, *J* = 8.0, 6.2 Hz, 2H), 1.28 (dt, *J* = 15.2, 7.6 Hz, 2H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CD₂Cl₂) δ 194.4, 143.6, 138.4, 135.6, 134.8, 134.4, 130.9, 130.7, 129.6, 129.5, 129.0, 128.9, 118.0 (*J* = 322.2 Hz), 114.5, 33.2, 30.6, 28.4, 27.3.

¹⁹F NMR (376 MHz, CD₂Cl₂) δ -74.92.

FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 3065, 2931, 2859, 1670, 1597, 1449, 1417, 1317, 1274, 1208, 1136, 954, 922, 840, 695, 606.

HR-MS (FD-MS) m/z: [M]+ Calc'd for C₂₂H₂₁O₄F₃S 438.1113; Found 438.1092.

3.7.3 [2+2] cycloaddition



General Procedure 10: In the glovebox, LiHMDS (2.2 equiv) was added in a dram vial. Trifluorotoluene (to make a 0.02 M solution of the vinyl triflate) was then added to dissolve LiHMDS. Finally, the vinyl triflate (1 equiv) was added. The reaction was stirred for 30 minutes in a heating block at 30 °C. It was then brought outside of the glovebox. The reaction solution was directly loaded onto the silica gel to purify the cycloaddition product via flash column chromatography with hexanes and diethyl ether as eluents.



ethyl 8-(p-tolyl)bicyclo[4.2.0]oct-7-ene-1-carboxylate (142).

Prepared from 0.050 mmol vinyl triflate **140** according to General Procedure 10. The crude reaction was purified via flash column chromatography (hexanes:diethyl ether = 10:1) to afford product **142** as a pale yellow oil (11 mg, 81% yield).

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.24 (d, *J* = 7.7 Hz, 2H), 7.11 (d, *J* = 7.7 Hz, 2H), 6.47 (d, *J* = 1.2 Hz, 1H), 4.15 (q, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 3.06 (t, *J* = 4.5 Hz, 1H), 2.33 (s, 3H), 2.30 – 2.17 (m, 1H), 2.07 – 1.93 (m, 2H), 1.90 – 1.75 (m, 1H), 1.69 – 1.58 (m, 3H), 1.50 – 1.48 (m, 1H), 1.19 (t, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 3H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 175.9, 148.3, 138.0, 131.4, 130.9, 129.4, 125.3, 60.8, 52.6,
43.3, 26.6, 24.3, 21.7, 18.0, 17.8, 14.6.

FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 3026, 2935, 2865, 1719, 1508, 1446, 1365, 1269, 1235, 1160, 1110, 1095, 1064, 1050, 807.



methyl 8-(p-tolyl)bicyclo[4.2.0]oct-7-ene-1-carboxylate (143).

Prepared from 0.050 mmol vinyl triflate **S61** according to General Procedure 10. The crude reaction was purified via flash column chromatography (hexanes:diethyl ether = 10:1) to afford product **143** as a pale yellow oil (9 mg, 70% yield).

¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.23 (d, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 7.12 (d, *J* = 7.9 Hz, 2H), 6.49 (d, *J* = 1.3 Hz, 1H), 3.68 (s, 3H), 3.07 (t, *J* = 4.7 Hz, 1H), 2.36 – 2.27 (m, 1H), 2.34 (s, 3H), 2.00 (dt, *J* = 14.1, 5.3 Hz, 1H), 1.84 (ddt, *J* = 15.4, 10.3, 5.2 Hz, 1H), 1.70 – 1.59 (m, 2H), 1.54 – 1.44 (m, 3H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 176.4, 148.2, 138.1, 131.5, 130.8, 129.5, 125.3, 52.5, 52.2, 43.4, 26.5, 24.3, 21.7, 18.0, 17.7.

FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 3025, 2942, 2864, 1723, 1508, 1456, 1433, 1270, 1256, 1239, 1182, 1161, 1065, 1051, 808.

HR-MS (FD-MS) m/z: [M]+ Calc'd for C₁₇H₂₀O₂ 256.1458; Found 256.1465.



isopropyl 8-(p-tolyl)bicyclo[4.2.0]oct-7-ene-1-carboxylate (144).

Prepared from 0.050 mmol vinyl triflate **S64** according to General Procedure 10. The crude reaction was purified via flash column chromatography (hexanes:diethyl ether = 10:1) to afford product **144** as a pale yellow oil (8 mg, 56% yield).

¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.25 (d, J = 7.0 Hz, 2H), 7.11 (d, J = 7.8 Hz, 2H), 6.46 (d, J = 1.2 Hz, 1H), 5.03 (hept, J = 6.3 Hz, 1H), 3.05 (t, J = 4.7 Hz, 1H), 2.33 (s, 3H), 2.27 (ddd, J = 13.8, 8.7, 6.6 Hz, 1H), 1.98 (dt, J = 14.1, 5.5 Hz, 1H), 1.84 (ddd, J = 13.5, 10.1, 5.2 Hz, 1H), 1.67 – 1.59 (m, 2H), 1.55-1.47 (m, 3H), 1.20 (d, J = 6.3 Hz, 3H), 1.15 (d, J = 6.2 Hz, 3H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 175.0, 148.1, 137.5, 131.0, 130.6, 129.0, 125.1, 67.5, 52.5, 42.9, 26.2, 24.0, 21.7, 21.4, 17.8, 17.5.

FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 2979, 2935, 2865, 1716, 1271, 1241, 1108, 809.

HR-MS (FD-MS) m/z: [M]+ Calc'd for C₁₉H₂₄O₂ 284.1771; Found 284.1775.



ethyl 8-(m-tolyl)bicyclo[4.2.0]oct-7-ene-1-carboxylate (145).

Prepared from 0.050 mmol vinyl triflate S65 according to General Procedure 10. The crude reaction was purified via flash column chromatography (hexanes:diethyl ether = 10:1) to afford product 145 as a pale yellow oil (9 mg, 67% yield).

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.22 – 7.12 (m, 3H), 7.05 (d, J = 7.4 Hz, 1H), 6.53 (d, J = 1.3 Hz, 1H), 4.15 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 3.06 (t, J = 4.7 Hz, 1H), 2.38 – 2.25 (m, 4H), 2.00 (dt, J = 14.0, 5.4 Hz, 1H), 1.88 – 1.77 (m, 1H), 1.69 – 1.58 (m, 2H), 1.53 – 1.44 (m, 2H), 1.34 – 1.26 (m, 1H), 1.19 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 175.83, 148.48, 138.24, 133.49, 132.42, 128.93, 128.62, 125.97, 122.54, 60.75, 52.68, 43.39, 26.56, 24.34, 21.79, 18.07, 17.77, 14.57.

FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 2930, 2861, 1719, 1456, 1234, 1158, 1051, 783.

HR-MS (FD-MS) m/z: [M]+ Calc'd for C₁₈H₂₂O₂ 270.1614; Found 270.1620.



ethyl 8-(o-tolyl)bicyclo[4.2.0]oct-7-ene-1-carboxylate (146).

Prepared from 0.050 mmol vinyl triflate **S66** according to General Procedure 10. The crude reaction was purified via flash column chromatography (hexanes:diethyl ether = 10:1) to afford product **146** as a pale yellow oil (8 mg, 59% yield).

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.21 – 7.10 (m, 3H), 7.08 – 7.05 (m, 1H), 6.42 (d, *J* = 1.3 Hz, 1H), 4.16 (qd, *J* = 7.1, 0.8 Hz, 2H), 3.05 (t, *J* = 4.4 Hz, 1H), 2.44 (s, 3H), 2.41 – 2.25 (m, 1H), 2.01 – 1.93 (m, 1H), 1.92 – 1.75 (m, 1H), 1.71 – 1.58 (m, 2H), 1.53 – 1.46 (m, 2H), 1.29 – 1.23 (m, 1H), 1.19 (t, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 3H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 176.1, 148.4, 137.9, 137.4, 132.1, 131.2, 127.6, 126.9, 126.0, 60.8, 53.6, 43.9, 26.4, 24.5, 22.6, 18.2, 17.9, 14.6.

FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 3065, 2935, 2864, 1719, 1489, 1460, 1365, 1250, 1235, 1161, 1116, 1095, 1065, 1049, 760, 722.

HR-MS (FD-MS) m/z: [M]+ Calc'd for C₁₈H₂₂O₂ 270.1614; Found 270.1614.



methyl 8-phenylbicyclo[4.2.0]oct-7-ene-1-carboxylate (147).

Prepared from 0.050 mmol vinyl triflate S67 according to General Procedure 10. The crude reaction was purified via flash column chromatography (hexanes:diethyl ether = 10:1) to afford product 147 as a pale yellow oil (9 mg, 74% yield).

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.29 – 7.22 (m, 4H), 7.18 – 7.14 (m, 1H), 6.49 (d, *J* = 1.3 Hz, 1H), 3.61 (s, 3H), 3.06 – 2.95 (m, 1H), 2.24 (ddd, *J* = 15.4, 8.9, 5.5 Hz, 1H), 1.94 (dt, *J* = 14.1, 5.5 Hz, 1H), 1.86 – 1.72 (m, 1H), 1.64 – 1.51 (m, 2H), 1.44 (ddd, *J* = 8.1, 5.7, 3.7 Hz, 3H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 176.3, 148.3, 133.5, 132.7, 128.8, 128.2, 125.3, 52.6, 52.3, 43.5, 26.6, 24.3, 18.0, 17.7.

FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 2981, 2945, 2865, 1723, 1447, 1433, 1270, 1237, 1162, 1064, 1052, 761, 695.

HR-MS (FD-MS) m/z: [M]+ Calc'd for C₁₆H₁₈O₂ 242.1301; Found 242.1303.



methyl 8-(4-fluorophenyl)bicyclo[4.2.0]oct-7-ene-1-carboxylate (148).

Prepared from 0.050 mmol vinyl triflate **S68** according to General Procedure 10. The crude reaction was purified via flash column chromatography (hexanes:diethyl ether = 10:1) to afford product **148** as a pale yellow oil (8 mg, 61% yield).

¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.35 – 7.29 (m, 2H), 7.04 – 6.96 (m, 2H), 6.48 (d, *J* = 1.2 Hz, 1H), 3.69 (s, 3H), 3.08 (t, *J* = 4.7 Hz, 1H), 2.29 (ddd, *J* = 14.9, 10.2, 5.2 Hz, 1H), 1.98 (dt, *J* = 13.8, 5.1 Hz, 1H), 1.85 (ddt, *J* = 15.7, 10.6, 5.2 Hz, 1H), 1.71 – 1.60 (m, 2H), 1.54 – 1.45 (m, 3H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 176.18, 162.71 (d, ¹*J*_{C-F} = 262.1 Hz), 147.24, 132.08 (d, *J* = 2.6 Hz), 129.83 (d, *J* = 3.4 Hz), 127.17 (d, *J* = 8.1 Hz), 115.80 (d, ²*J*_{C-F} = 21.5 Hz), 52.64, 52.31, 43.43, 26.58, 24.22, 17.96, 17.66.

FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 2944, 2906, 2866, 1723, 1681, 1661, 1506, 1271, 1232, 1158, 831, 818.

HR-MS (FD-MS) m/z: [M]+ Calc'd for C₁₆H₁₇O₂F 260.1207; Found 260.1214.



ethyl 7-(p-tolyl)bicyclo[3.2.0]hept-6-ene-1-carboxylate (149).

Prepared from 0.050 mmol vinyl triflate **S69** according to General Procedure 10. The crude reaction was purified via flash column chromatography (hexanes:diethyl ether = 10:1) to afford product **149** as a pale yellow oil (7 mg, 55% yield).

¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.25 (d, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 7.12 (d, *J* = 7.9 Hz, 2H), 6.25 (d, *J* = 1.0 Hz, 1H), 4.27 – 4.11 (m, 2H), 3.29 (d, *J* = 7.0 Hz, 1H), 2.34 (s, 3H), 1.93 (ddd, *J* = 16.1, 12.4, 6.5 Hz, 2H), 1.81 (dt, *J* = 12.2, 6.2 Hz, 1H), 1.70 (ddt, *J* = 18.0, 12.0, 6.0 Hz, 1H), 1.58 (d, *J* = 6.0 Hz, 1H), 1.52 – 1.38 (m, 1H), 1.21 (t, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 3H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 175.0, 144.3, 137.8, 129.6, 129.1, 127.8, 125.0, 60.5, 60.2, 50.3, 27.8, 26.3, 24.3, 21.4, 14.3.

FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 2935, 2855, 1720, 1508, 1445, 1366, 1300, 1259, 1145, 1083, 1034, 824, 804.

HR-MS (ESI-MS) m/z: [M]+ Calc'd for C₁₇H₂₀O₂ 256.1458; Found 256.1460.



phenyl(8-phenylbicyclo[4.2.0]oct-7-en-1-yl)methanone (150).

Prepared from 0.050 mmol vinyl triflate **S70** according to General Procedure 10. The crude reaction was purified via flash column chromatography (hexanes:diethyl ether = 10:1) to afford product **150** as a pale yellow oil (5 mg, 35% yield).

¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.92 – 7.83 (m, 2H), 7.53 – 7.47 (m, 1H), 7.46 – 7.33 (m, 6H), 7.32 (d, *J* = 1.4 Hz, 1H), 6.64 (d, *J* = 1.2 Hz, 1H), 3.17 (t, *J* = 4.5 Hz, 1H), 2.48 (dt, *J*

= 14.7, 7.5 Hz, 1H), 2.11 (dt, J = 14.4, 5.6 Hz, 1H), 2.01 (ddt, J = 13.9, 10.8, 5.3 Hz, 1H), 1.91 – 1.82 (m, 1H), 1.72 (ddd, J = 17.5, 11.5, 5.6 Hz, 1H), 1.64 (dt, J = 12.0, 6.3 Hz, 3H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 205.0, 150.2, 138.1, 133.8, 132.0, 132.0, 128.9, 128.5, 128.4, 128.3, 125.8, 59.0, 43.8, 26.7, 24.7, 18.3, 18.1.

FTIR (Neat film NaCl): 3057, 2933, 2862, 1667, 1597, 1577, 1507, 1490, 1446, 1423, 1238, 1219, 1028, 758, 695.

HR-MS (FD-MS) m/z: [M]+ Calc'd for C₂₁H₂₀O 288.1509; Found 288.1507.

3.7.4 Reaction optimization



benzene	32 + Friedel-Crafts product
chloroform	n.d.
1,2-dichloroethane	60
tetrahydrofuran	n.d.
acetonitrile	n.d.
diethyl ether	36
dichloromethane	39

3.8 REFERENCES

[1] Wiberg, K. B. The concept of strain in organic chemistry. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.***1986**, *25*, 312–322.

[2] Lee-Ruff, E.; Mladenova, G. Enantiomerically pure cyclobutane derivatives and their use in organic synthesis. *Chem. Rev.* **2003**, *103*, 1449–1484.

[3] Dembitsky, V. M. Bioactive cyclobutane-containing alkaloids. *J. Nat. Med.* 2008, 62, 1–33.

[4] Hou, S. Y.; Yan, B. C.; Sun, H. D.; Puno, P. T. Recent advances in the application of [2+2] cycloaddition in the chemical synthesis of cyclobutane-containing natural products. *Nat. Prod. Bioprospect.* **2024**, *14*, 37.

[5] Woodward, R. B.; Hoffmann, R. The conservation of orbital symmetry. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **1969**, *8*, 781–853. [6] Poplata, S.; Tröster, A.; Zou, Y. Q.; Bach, T. Recent advances in the synthesis of cyclobutanes by olefin [2+2] photocycloaddition reactions. *Chem. Rev.* 2016, *116*, 9748–9815.

[7] Bai, Y. B.; Luo, Z.; Wang, Y.; Gao, J. M.; Zhang, L. Au-catalyzed intermolecular [2+2] cycloadditions between chloroalkynes and unactivated alkenes. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2018**, *140*, 5860–5865.

[8] Li, Y.; Liu, X.; Jiang, H.; Liu, B.; Chen, Z.; Zhou, P. Palladium-Catalyzed Bromoalkynylation of C–C Double Bonds: Ring-Structure-Dependent Synthesis of 7-Alkynyl Norbornanes and Cyclobutenyl Halides. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2011**, *50*, 6341–6345.

[9] Hilt, G.; Paul, A.; Treutwein, J. Cobalt Catalysis at the Crossroads: Cobalt-Catalyzed Alder–Ene Reaction versus [2+2] Cycloaddition. *Org. Lett.* **2010**, *12*, 1536–1539.

[10] Snider, B. B.; Roush, D. M. Aluminum chloride catalyzed reactions of methyl chloropropiolate with unactivated alkenes. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1979**, *101*, 1906–1907.

[11] Koldobskii, A. B.; Solodova, E. V.; Godovikov, I. A.; Kalinin, V. N. Synthesis and unusual [2+2]-cycloaddition reactions of ethyl 4-chloro-2-oxobut-3-ynoate with unactivated alkenes. *Tetrahedron* **2008**, *64*, 9555–9560.

[12] Lukas, J. H.; Baardman, F.; Kouwenhoven, A. P. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 1976, 15, 369– 370.

[13] Brady, W. T.; Roe Jr, R. Halogenated ketenes. XIV. Substituent effects in unsymmetrical alkylhaloketene-cyclopentadiene cycloadditions. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1970**, *92*, 4618–4621.

[14] (a) Griesbaum, K. Cyclobutane Compounds. I. Formation of a Four-Membered Ring during the Electrophilic Addition of Hydrogen Bromide to Allene. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1964**, 86, 2301–2303. (b) Griesbaum, K.; Naegele, W.; Wanless, G. G. Cyclobutane Compounds. III. 1, 2 The Ionic Addition of Hydrogen Chloride, Hydrogen Bromide, and Hydrogen Iodide to Allene and Methylacetylene. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1965, 87, 3151–3158. (c) Griesbaum, K. Acid-Catalyzed Cyclodimerizations via Vinyl Cations as Intermediates. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 1969, 8, 933–936. (d) Griesbaum, K.; El-Abed, M. Elektrophile Cyclodimerisierungen von n-Alkylacetylenen mit Chlorwasserstoff. Chem. Ber. 1973, 106, 2001–2008. (e) Griesbaum, K.; Seiter, W. Cross-cyclizations of alkylacetylenes to cyclobutane compounds via vinyl cations as intermediates. J. Org. Chem. 1976, 41, 937–939. (f) Griesbaum, K.; Seiter, W. Electrophilic Alkylation-Cycloaddition between an Olefinic and an Acetylenic Substrate. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 1976, 15, 55-56. [15] (a) Olah, G. A.; Spear, R. J. Electrophilic reactions at multiple bonds. III. Addition of fluorosulfuric acid to alkynes. Intermediacy of open-chain and hydrogen-bridged vinyl cations. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1975, 97, 1845–1851. (b) Olah, G. A.; Staral, J. S.; Spear, R. J.; Liang, G. Novel aromatic systems. II. Cyclobutenyl cations and the question of their

homoaromaticity. Preparation and study of the homocyclopropenium ion, the simplest homoaromatic system. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1975, 97, 5489–5497.

[16] (a) Hammen, G.; Hanack, M. [2+2]-Cycloaddition of a Vinyl Cation. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* 1979, *18*, 614–615. (b) Hanack, M.; Harder, I.; Bofinger, K. R. [2+2]-Cycloadditionen von vinylkationen. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1981, *22*, 553–556. (c) Bofinger, K.
R.; Hanack, M. Cycloadditionen des 1-(4-Methoxyphenyl)-2-methylvinyl-Kations an Olefine. Stereochemie und Struktur der Reaktionsprodukte. Chem. Ber. 1985, 118, 2993– 3003.

[17] Popov, S.; Shao, B.; Bagdasarian, A. L.; Benton, T. R.; Zou, L.; Yang, Z.; Houk, K. N.; Nelson, H. M. Teaching an old carbocation new tricks: Intermolecular C–H insertion reactions of vinyl cations. *Science* **2018**, *361*, 381–387.

[18] Wigman, B.; Popov, S.; Bagdasarian, A. L.; Shao, B.; Benton, T. R.; Williams, C. G.;
Fisher, S. P.; Lavallo, V.; Houk, K. N.; Nelson, H. M. Vinyl carbocations generated under basic conditions and their intramolecular C–H insertion reactions. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2019**, *141*, 9140–9144.

[19] Williams, C. G.; Nistanaki, S. K.; Wells, C. W.; Nelson, H. M. α-Vinylation of Ester Equivalents via Main Group Catalysis for the Construction of Quaternary Centers. *Org. Lett.* **2023**, *25*, 3591–3595.

[20] Zhao, Z.; Popov, S.; Lee, W.; Burch, J. E.; Delgadillo, D. A.; Kim, L. J.; Shahgholi, M.; Lebrón-Acosta, N.; Houk, K. N.; Nelson, H. M. Accessing Medium-Sized Rings via Vinyl Carbocation Intermediates. *Org. Lett.* **2024**, *26*, 1000–1005.

[21] Williams, C. G.; Nistanaki, S. K.; Dong, K.; Lee, W.; Houk, K. N.; Nelson, H. M. Main Group-Catalyzed Cationic Claisen Rearrangements via Vinyl Carbocations. *Org. Lett.* 2024, 26, 4847–4852.

[22] Kuprat, M.; Lehmann, M.; Shulz, A.; Villinger, A. Synthesis of Pentafluorophenyl Silver by Means of Lewis Acid Catalysis: Structure of Silver Solvent Complexes. *Organometallics*, **2010**, *29*, 1421–1427.

APPENDIX 3

Spectra Relevant to Chapter 3: Lithium-mediated Selective [2+2]

Cycloadditions via Vinyl Carbocations



¹H NMR (400 MHz, CD₂Cl₂) of compound 140.



Appendix 3 – Spectra Relevant to Chapter 3









¹H NMR (500 MHz, CD₂Cl₂) of compound S61.

287



Appendix 3 – Spectra Relevant to Chapter 3





¹H NMR (400 MHz, CD₂Cl₂) of compound S64.



ter 3	ž	292	
	ulun din gan an	-120	
	ngu sha anna anna anna anna anna anna anna	-110	
	in constant which is the constant of the const	-100	
	IN AN AN ANALANA NA ANALANA NA ANA	06-	<u> </u>
	urthomotokkon notek nam	- 80	ound S64
	AND PARAMANANANANANANANANANANANANANANANANANAN	- 20	of comp
	INNUMPRICATION PROVIDED IN THE REAL PROVIDED INTERNAL PROVIDED	-60 ppm	CD ₂ Cl ₂)
	WINDAM WIDAM WINDA	- 20	76 MHz,
	under and for a configuration of the second s	-40	NMR (3
	and december of the second secon	- 30	$^{19}\mathrm{F}$
		-20	
	HIDANA ALI	-10	
	Jan Banny (pp) public	- 0	
		0	

9788.47---



Appendix 3 – Spectra Relevant to Chapter .



¹H NMR (400 MHz, CD₂Cl₂) of compound S65.



¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CD₂Cl₂) of compound **S65**.







¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CD₂Cl₂) of compound S66.



 $^{19}\mathrm{F}$ NMR (376 MHz, CD₂Cl₂) of compound S66.





¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CD₂Cl₂) of compound S67.

Appendix 3 – Spectra Relevant to Chapter 3	301 °°Г '
	-120
	-110
	-100
	06 -
	- 80
7Z90 SZ	- 20
	-60 - ppm
	- 20
	-40
	- 30
A Contraction of the second seco	-20
	-10
	0
	0

 $^{19}\mathrm{F}$ NMR (376 MHz, CD₂Cl₂) of compound S67.



¹H NMR (500 MHz, CD₂Cl₂) of compound S68.



¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CD₂Cl₂) of compound S68.

Appendix 3 – Spectra Relevant to Chapter 3	304
	-200
	-180
	-160
	-140
	-120
9291.901	- 100 Ppm
۲5.0312	- 80
	- 09 -
Diffe and the second se	- 40
	-20
	0
Щ	0

 $^{19}\mathrm{F}$ NMR (376 MHz, CD₂Cl₂) of compound S68.



¹H NMR (400 MHz, CD₂Cl₂) of compound S69.




306



¹⁹F NMR (376 MHz, CD₂Cl₂) of compound S69.



¹H NMR (500 MHz, CD₂Cl₂) of compound S70.

Appendix 3 – Spectra Relevant to Chapter 3







¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) of compound **142**.



¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) of compound 142.



¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) of compound **143**.



¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) of compound 143.



¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) of compound 144.



Appendix 3 – Spectra Relevant to Chapter 3

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) of compound 144.







¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) of compound 145.

318





Appendix 3 – Spectra Relevant to Chapter 3

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) of compound 146.



¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) of compound 147



¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) of compound 147.



¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) of compound **148**.



¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) of compound 148.



¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) of compound 149.





¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) of compound **150**.



¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) of compound **150**.

ABOUT THE AUTHOR

Zhenqi (Steven) Zhao (赵振起) was born on March 24, 1996, in Changchun, Jilin Province, China, to parents Zhongwei Zhao (赵忠伟) and Ying Lu (陆颖). He attended the High School Attached to Jilin University. In his high school years, he participated in the Chemistry Olympiad and won a gold medal in the 2014 Chinese Chemistry Olympiad.

After high school, Steven moved to Beijing to begin his undergraduate studies at Peking University, where he earned a Bachelor of Science in Chemical Biology in 2019. During his time at Peking University, he conducted research in Professor Xing Chen's lab, focusing on unnatural sugar metabolic labeling in plants and the mechanism study of protein cysteine residue artificial *S*-glycosylation with peracetylated sugar probes. These research experiences inspired him to pursue a PhD in organic chemistry.

In 2019, Steven moved to Los Angeles, California, to pursue his PhD at the University of California, Los Angeles (UCLA), where he joined Professor Hosea Nelson's lab. In 2021, Steven transferred to the California Institute of Technology (Caltech) in Pasadena, California, following Professor Nelson's relocation to continue his PhD studies. In the Nelson group, Steven worked on projects involving the development of new synthetic methodologies using vinyl carbocation intermediates and asymmetric catalysis. Steven currently resides in the Hollywood neighborhood of Los Angeles, California. His hobbies include camping, hiking, skiing, running, playing tennis, and enjoying his Nintendo Switch.